




THETHETHE

01

ANNUAL REPORT

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021



02

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021

4

5

11

13

22

27

28

36

49

54

59

126

157

Profile of the Chamber

Membership Structure and Governance

Message from the CEO

Presidential Address

External Relations and Communications

Environmental and Social Affairs

Human Resources and Operations

Analysis, Research and Finance

Legal and Legislative Affairs

Relevant Laws to the Mining Industry

Performance of Ghana’s Mining Industry

Gallery of Members’ Activities

Financial Statement

Membership Register

108



 “Positioning Ghana as a 
mining support services hub”       

03

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021

ACCRA INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE CENTRE 
@ 12:00PM ON .

ADVANCING A LEGACY OF SUSTAINABLE AND RESPONSIBLE MINING 
THROUGH INNOVATION AND PARTNERSHIP

Annual 
General Meeting 94 94 94 ththth

FRIDAY 3RD JUNE 2022

Welcome Address  :  Mr. George Nutor, 
  1st Vice President 

Solidarity Message  :  Partners

President’s Remarks  :  Mr. Eric Asubonteng, 
  Outgoing President 

Change of Baton :           Mr. Eric Asubonteng, 
  Outgoing President / 

  Mr. Joshua Mortoti, 
  Incoming President

Presidential Address  :  Mr. Joshua Mortoti, 
  President

Keynote Address  :  Minister for Lands and 
  Natural Resources

Vote of Thanks  :  Ms. Angela List, 
  2nd Vice President 

Media Interactions  :  Mr. Sulemanu Koney, 
  Chief Executive Officer / 
  Mr. Joshua Mortoti, President
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To represent the mining industry 
in Ghana using the resources and 
capabilities of its members to 
deliver services that address 
members, government and 
community needs to enhance 
sustainable development.

To be a respected, effective, and 
unified voice for the mining 
industry.

Provide leadership for the
solution of national issues related
to mining.



six
and Associate member categories.
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The EC supervises the work of the Chamber’s Secretariat. It meets quarterly to review activities of the 
Secretariat as well as various committees and report to Council. 
The EC is made of the President, the two Vice Presidents, the CEO of the Secretariat, and representatives 
of the following committees:
Ÿ Legal & Legislative Affairs
Ÿ Affiliate Members
Ÿ Contractors
Ÿ Finance and Budget
Ÿ Building Committee

Where the Executive Committee, as composed and one or some of the top three contributor(s) to the 
Chamber’s budget is/are not represented on E.C., the non-E.C. member who makes the most significant 
financial contribution shall be co-opted onto the Executive Committee

The Council is the highest decision-making body of the Chamber. It is made up of all heads of producing 
mining companies; General Managers of producing mining companies; One person each representing the 
Contract Mining Member Companies, Pre-Production Member Companies, Exploration Member 
Companies and Affiliate Member Companies; Chairperson of the Technical Committee and the Finance & 
Budget Committee; Chairperson of the Environment and Social, Human Resource, Legal, Public Relations 
and Security Committees; The Immediate Past President of the Chamber shall be an Ex-officio member 
of Council for a period of two (2) years as well as Honorary Members of the Chamber.



Chief Executive Officer

Director, External Relations and Communications Manager, Research and Analysis
Christopher Opoku Nyarko
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Chair, Security Committee
Capt. J. J. Saltson

Mr. Terence Watungwa

Ms. Angela List Mr. Stephen Asante Yamoah



Mr. Yaw Otchere Ntrama

Membership of Council in 2021
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(Up to July 2021)

(From July 2021)

Mrs. Charlotte Fafa Tay Senyo
Chair, Environment & 
Social Affairs Committee

Jurgen Eijgendaal

Dr. Daniel Owiredu

Member

Mr. Samuel Pobee
Member

Mr. Fred Tenkorang
Member
(From July 2021)

Mr. Ahmed Salim Adam
Member
(Up to June 2021)

Mr. Daniel Egya-Mensah
Member
From April 2021

Mr. Joshua Mortoti
Member
(Upto March 2021)



Membership of Council in 2021
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A MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Sulemanu Koney
Chief Executive Officer

Let me congratulate our new President, Mr. 
Joshua Mortoti on assumption of office as the 
39th President of our Chamber. It is with 
great privilege that myself and members of 
the Secretariat welcome you and look 
forward to working with you in this capacity. 

Corporate performance in 2021 has shown 
that businesses are rebounding from an 
induced pandemic. The prospects for this year 
remain high and it is our expectation that 
businesses would continue on this trajectory 
despite the geopolitical tensions while 
engaging in responsible and sustainable 
mining. I would like to commend the Sector 
Minister for his continuous support for the 
industry through these trying times. We 
commit to continue to build upon this 
relationship in the years ahead. 

As we continue to rebound, it is our resolve to 
advance the legacy of responsible and 
sustainable mining through innovations and 
partnerships. The Chamber would continue to 
play its  advocacy role and intensify 
engagements with policymakers for the good 
of our members, host communities and the 
country at large. 

The Chamber in pursuing a strategic plan 
aimed at positioning Ghana as the mining 
support services hub in West Africa whiles 
striving to work with government to maintain 
Ghana’s position as the number one gold 
producer in Africa. To achieve this, the 
Chamber engaged in several activities and 
advocated for businesses to implement the 
ESG (Environmental, Social and Good 
Governance) framework on their operations. 
Indeed, the Chamber continued to execute its 
mandate in line with the objectives set out in 
its strategic plan.  

Furthermore, the Chamber continued to 
proactively collaborate with government and 
related stakeholders to ensure that member 
companies are abreast and prepared for 

government interventions or policy changes. 
Additionally, the Chamber continued to work 
to help improve the business environment for 
member companies, mitigating the effects of 
the COVID-19 pandemic on the operations of 
member companies, as well as positively 
influencing policies on the mining sector. 

Although our members continue to face huge 
security threats with attacks on employees 
and companies’ assets from youth of some 
host communities, the Chamber has engaged 
with the Ghana Police Service to complement 
the mines’ private security with Police 
personnel.

To ensure that the Chamber and its members 
remain relevant in the media space, the 
Chamber  organ ized  a  workshop  for 
Journalists for Business Advocacy (JBA), a 
media organization, on positioning Ghana as a 
mining support services hub. The objective of 
the workshop was to enhance the knowledge 
of members of JBA on our aspiration of 
positioning Ghana as the hub for mining 
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Honourable Minister of Lands and Natural 
Resources, 

Immediate Past President of the Chamber, 
Mr. Eric Asubonteng

1st and 2nd Vice Presidents

Members of the Chamber 

Captains of industry and associations

Distinguished Invited Guests

Members of the Media

Let me congratulate our new President, Mr. 
Joshua Mortoti on assumption of office as the 
39th President of our Chamber. It is with 
great privilege that myself and members of 
the Secretariat welcome you and look 
forward to working with you in this capacity. 

Performance of businesses in 2021 has 
shown that businesses we are rebounding 
from an induced pandemic, and this is what 
we have always strived for within our 
industry for the greater good of our country 
and investors. The prospects for this year 
remain high and it is our hope that businesses 
would continue in this trajectory despite 
geopolitical tensions in some parts of the 
world while engaging in responsible and 
sustainable mining. I would like to commend 
the sector Minister for his continuous support 
for the industry through these trying times. It 
is my hope that we can continue to build upon 
this relationship in the years ahead. 

As we continue to rebound, it is our resolve to 
advance the legacy of responsible and 
sustainable mining through innovations and 
partnerships. The Chamber would continue 
to play its advocacy role and intensify 
engagements with policymakers for the good 
of our members, host communities and the 
country at large. 

The Chamber has pursued a strategic plan of 

positioning Ghana as the mining services 
support hub in West Africa whiles striving to 
maintain its position as the number gold 
producer in Africa. In ensuring this is 
achieved, the Chamber engaged in several 
activities and advocated for businesses to 
implement the ESG (Environmental, Social 
and Good Governance) framework to the 
latter. Indeed, the Chamber continued to 
execute its mandate in l ine with the 
objectives set out by its member companies.  

Furthermore, the Chamber continued to 
collaborate with government and related 
stakeholders to ensure that member 
companies are fully abreast and prepared for 
any government intervention or policy 
change. Additionally, the Chamber continued 
to work to improve the business environment 
for member companies, mitigating the 
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the 
operations of member companies, as well as 
positively influencing policies on the mining 
sector. 

Although our members continue to face huge 
security threats with attacks on employees 
and companies’ assets from some youth of 
some host communities, the Chamber has 
also engaged with the Ghana Police Service 
to complement the mines’ private security 
with some Police personnel.

To ensure the Chamber and its members 
remains relevant in the media space, the 
Chamber  organ ized  a  workshop  for 
Journalists for Business Advocacy (JBA), a 
media organization, on positioning Ghana as 
the mining support services hub. The 
objective of the workshop was to enhance the 
knowledge of members of JBA on our 
aspiration of positioning Ghana as the hub for 
the mining support services in West Africa. 
Additionally, the engagement discussed the 
role of the media, particularly JBA members, 
in working towards the Chamber’s aspiration 
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support services in West Africa. Additionally, 
the engagement discussed the role of the 
media, particularly JBA members, in working 
towards the Chamber’s aspiration as well as 
strengthening the relationship between the 
Ghana Chamber of Mines and the JBA.

The Chamber continued to engage relevant 
institutions including the Parliament of 
Ghana and some of its committees to 
strengthen the relationship between the two 
parties. Also, the Chamber, led by its 
President, Mr. Eric Asubonteng participated 
in the national consultative dialogue on Small 
Scale Mining, under the auspices of the 
Ministry of Lands and Natural Resources. 
This was undertaken to realize the President 
of the Republic, H.E. Nana Addo Dankwa 
Akufo-Addo's goal of soliciting viewpoints in 
a bid to establ ish acceptable pol icy 
alternatives for the small-scale mining 
subsector.

The Secretariat witnessed with admiration; 
the social investments made by members in 
their host communities. Some of these 
include infrastructure development, 
economic empowerment, capacity building 
and green innovations among others. We urge 
members to continue in this regard and 
strengthen their relationships with their 
respective host communities for accelerated 
socio-economic development. 

As we strive to see improvements in 
producing members’ ESG performance, the 
Chamber is delighted about the resumption of 
the Akoben programme by the Environmental 

Protection Agency in collaboration with the 
Chamber. The results of the year under 
review have been discussed with members 
and it is our hope that producing member 
companies will continue to improve on their 
level of operational and environmental 
compliance for the benefit of all. A full public 
disclosure of the ratings for the coming year 
will be made and we believe that members 
will put in the necessary efforts to meet the 
minimum criteria for good performance and 
also work closely with the EPA to promote 
sustainable and responsible mining.

In 2022 and beyond, the Chamber will 
continue to pursue its goal of positioning 
Ghana as the mining support services hub in 
the West African sub region as well as 
promote sustainable and responsible mining 
in the country.

I would like to commend all stakeholders in 
the industry who have worked tirelessly to 
promote the continuous success of the 
mining industry amidst the nations recovery 
from the effects of the COVID-19 Pandemic.

Without exception, the Chamber’s officials 
have discharged their duties with utmost 
dedication. I would like to personally thank 
member companies for their resilience, 
largely responsible for the continuous 
success of the nation’s mining industry. I also 
commend my team at the Secretariat for 
working tirelessly throughout the year to help 
bring to fruition our goals.

Best wishes!



PRESIDENTIAL ADDRESS
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Honourable Minister for Lands and Natural 
Resources, Hon. Samuel A. Jinapor (MP for 
Damongo)

Past and Present Executives of the Ghana 
Chamber of Mines,

Honourable Members of Parliament,

Your Excellencies, Members of the Diplomatic 
Corps,

Executives and members of the ECOWAS 
Federation of Chambers of Mines,

Captains of Industry,

Chief Executives of private and public institutions

Members of the Media,

Distinguished invited guests, ladies, and 
gentlemen 

It is a great honour and privilege to be elected as 
the 39th President of the Ghana Chamber of Mines 
and to present the Presidential address at this 
94th Annual General Meeting of our Chamber. 
When the time comes to present the Annual 
Presidential Address there are inevitably both 
positive and negative observations that have to be 
made about our industry, which since its inception 
more than 94 years ago has played such a 
catalystic  role in the socio-economic growth and 
development of our dear country.

Hon. Minister, ladies, and gentlemen, please join me to celebrate the Immediate Past President of the 
Chamber, Dr. Eric Asubonteng, for his significant efforts in leading the promotion of our industry and 
working with key stakeholders to improve its fortunes in the past four years. Over the past years, our 
Chamber’s Presidents, and its Chief Executives, with the support of the members of the Executive 
Committee and Council have worked assiduously to sustain our industry despite the prevailing headwinds. 
This has by no means contributed to the success chalked by the Chamber since its birth 94 years ago. 

I would like to extend a special welcome to the Minister for Lands and Natural Resources as well as the 
Chief Executives of state and other related institutions for joining us today. It is my sincere hope that we 
will continue to work together to drive the agenda of responsible and sustainable mining in Ghana that 
provides enduring value to our host communities, government, and our investors. I must say that taking up 
this role in these times of global uncertainty coupled with domestic socioeconomic challenges is quite a 
daunting task, but surmountable with the support of every one of you within the industry. It is therefore an 
honour and pleasure to serve as the President of our beloved Chamber and to lead its engagements and 
advocacy for the next two years. 

Global Issues 
The mining industry is confronted with the impact of the current geopolitical tension in the world on the 
heels of the devastating effects of the global COVID-19 pandemic that we have experienced in the last 

MR. JOSHUA MORTOTI
President of the Ghana Chamber of Mines
(From June 3, 2022)



two years. The ongoing Russian-Ukrainian conflict has affected global supply chains across the world 
especially the production, procurement, shipping, and delivery of mining inputs. Despite being far from the 
conflict in terms of geographical distance, global networks have made it impossible for Ghana’s mining 
industry to be insulated from the impact of the conflict. As governments work to mitigate the impact on 
their economies, corporate organisations, for that matter those of us in the mining industry must also 
adjust to these dynamics and seek alternative arrangements to assure continuing production. 

Hon. Minister, data from World Gold Council (WGC), indicates that global gold production in 2021 rose year 
on year by almost 3% following a rebound from the COVID-19 pandemic induced lows in 2020. The WGC 
further notes that growth is expected to continue in the same direction in 2022 buoyed by current price 
levels. This information indicates that the prospects for the year 2022 are high and it is important for 
industry leaders to leverage the situation and fully recover from the pandemic induced impacts and make 
progress. Despite the ongoing conflict in Ukraine, it is my strong belief that industries, including mining will 
continue to rebound from the COVID-19 induced hardships, to support government’s revenue mobilization 
drive and work in concert with other stakeholders to help develop our host communities.

Africa Mining Sector 
Africa as we all know is blessed with many natural resources and contributes significantly to the global 
extractives industry. The mining and extractive sectors contribute a high share of exports for Africa, hence 
contributing a considerable proportion of the continent’s revenue and foreign currency reserves. However, 
the full potential of Africa’s natural resources remains untapped due to varied issues. Africa’s mining 
industry has continued to demonstrate resilience over the decades despite adverse conditions in the 
global economy. But to ensure consistent growth and development in the sector, Africa must improve on 
transparency and continue to build capacity, manage resources effectively, invest in modern technologies 
and build linkages with other productive sectors. 

Despite perceptions that mining firms do not support host countries and communities, there is undeniable 
evidence that the sector is a significant source of both direct and indirect employment in Africa. 
Additionally, the sector contributes to the socio-economic development of the continent and being among 
the top two, if not the number one tax paying industry on the continent. To deepen its contribution, Africa 
must continue to position itself as the best investment destination to attract the right investors to further 
explore the untapped resources for the greater good of the continent, investors who respect Environment, 
Social and Governance frameworks that convert mineral resources into sustainable benefits. But this can 
only be achieved through political stability, good governance structures, and investment in innovative 
technologies.

Accordingly, African governments and political leaders must take urgent steps to address political 
instabilities in some well-known countries to avoid spillovers and retard the progress made so far. It is our 
hope however that, the continent will enjoy peace and its governments and duty bearers will work towards 
socio-economic development of the people. 

Ghana in Perspective 
Honourable Minister, distinguished guests, ladies and gentlemen, the mining sector is the largest tax 
paying sector in the country with significant contribution to the country’s Gross Domestic Product. It is 
also by a mile the largest contributor to the country’s gross merchandise exports. The mining of other 
minerals beside gold, bauxite, and manganese such as lithium, and iron ore among others, would deepen 
the sector’s contribution to national development. Further, we believe that the sector can contribute much 
more to our country if political actors and industry leaders work together towards a common goal. A goal 
that will make Ghana the leader in mining in Africa and the mining support services hub in West Africa. 
Hosting the Secretariat of the African Continental Free Trade Area (AfCFTA) in Ghana is a great 
opportunity to anchor the attraction of investors into the mining sector as well as its value chain. The 
Chamber is willing and ready to support and collaborate with government to achieve the objectives of 
AfCFTA. 
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The Performance of Ghana’s Mining Industry in 2021
Hon. Minister, Ladies, and gentlemen, in 2021, Ghana recorded a string of steep declines in the outturns of 
production and purchases of its traditional minerals, with manganese and diamond being the outliers. A 
combination of concurrent reductions in the output of both large and small-scale gold producers led to a 
29.92 per cent fall in the production of the country’s dominant mineral, gold. The volume of gold 
attributable to producers in Ghana declined from 4.022 million ounces in 2020 to 2.818 million ounces in 
2021, which is the lowest level of output since 2008. This has led to Ghana dropping from the leading gold 
produce in Africa to the second position..

The large-scale sub-sector’s contribution to national gold production decreased from 2.847 million 
ounces in 2020 to 2.720 million ounces in 2021, representing a downturn of 4.44 per cent. The descent in 
the sub-sector’s output was primarily explained by a broad decline in the output of most mines, with the 
output of Asanko Gold Mines, AngloGold Ashanti’s Obuasi, and Iduapriem Mines, as well as Adamus 
Resources Ltd, contracting by more than 10 per cent relative to their respective production outturns in 
2020. The drop in production, which was moderated by the significant expansion in output from Abosso 
Goldfields Ltd, was mainly due to operation related challenges.

In the same vein, output of small-scale gold producers, which is proxied by exports of Licensed Gold 
Exporting Companies (LGECs), plummeted by 91.66 per cent to 0.098 million ounces in 2021 from 1.175 
million ounces in 2020. The near collapse in the sub-sector’s output was principally a reflection of the 
producers’ response to the imposition of a 3 per cent withholding tax on their output by the government in 
2019. Although anecdotal evidence suggests that the impost did not culminate in the cessation of 
operations, it is believed that it induced the small-scale miners and LGECs to export their output through 
non-official channels. Since the informality of the sub-sector has made it onerous to collate data on actual 
production, exports through the national assayer, Precious Minerals and Marketing Company (PMMC), are 
used as a surrogate for the sub-sector’s contribution to national gold production. 

On account of the dissimilar production outturns, the share of large-scale producers’ share in national 
gold production increased from 70.78 per cent in 2020 to 96.52 per cent in 2021 with the remaining 3.48 
per cent attributable to the small-scale sub-sector. The contribution of the producing member companies 
of the Chamber to the large-scale sub-sector’s gold output was 99.65 per cent. However, member 
companies of the Chamber’s contribution to national output in 2021 was 96.52 per cent. In the previous 
year, Chamber members contributed 99.93 per cent of the large-scale sub-sector’s gold output and 70.73 
per cent of the national gold output.

On the other hand, the output of the sole producer of bauxite, Ghana Bauxite Company, dropped from 1.162 
million tonnes in 2020 to 0.839 million tonnes in 2021. The cutback in production was largely an outcome 
of the uncertainty regarding the renewal of the lease of the operator of that mine, Bosai Minerals Group. 

On the upside, the exports of diamonds recorded growth for the first time since 2014. The quantum of 
diamonds exported through the implementer of the Kimberly Process, PMMC, improved by 114.20 per 
cent. The increase in exports from 25,292 carats in 2020 to 54,174 carats in 2021 was primarily a 
consequence of high recoveries by artisanal winners, who have been the sole producers of that mineral 
since the only large-scale producer (Great Consolidated Diamond Company) was put under “care and 
maintenance”.

Likewise, the attributable production of manganese by Ghana Manganese Company, which is the sole 
producer, expanded from 2.357 million tonnes in 2020 to 3.336 million tonnes in 2021. The 41.52 per cent 
upturn in production was reflective of a full year’s production. In the preceding year, the company’s output 
was adversely impacted by a series of “stop and start” orders by the government. 

Macroeconomic Performance of the Minerals Sector in 2021
Ladies and gentlemen, the total direct domestic fiscal contributions of the producing member companies 
of the Chamber increased from GH¢ 3.973 billion in 2020 to GH¢ 4.611 billion in 2020. The 16.05 per cent 
expansion in fiscal payments was driven primarily by an upturn in all the direct fiscal streams; corporate 
income tax, mineral royalties, and employee income tax.
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On account of growth in payments by Ghana Manganese Company, Newmont’s Ahafo and Akyem mines, 
Golden Star Wassa Ltd, and Gold Fields’ Damang mine, the corporate income tax receipts increased by 
9.15 per cent from GH¢ 2.333 billion in 2020 to GH¢2.547 billion in 2021. The moderating influence on the 
improvement in company profit tax was the decline in payments by Chirano Gold Mines, AngloGold 
Ashanti’s Iduapriem Mine, and the Tarkwa Mine of Gold Fields. In 2021, total corporate income tax 
payments by producing member companies of the Chamber represented 55.25 per cent of aggregate 
fiscal payments of member companies and 19.50 per cent of total corporate income tax receipts mobilized 
by the Ghana Revenue Authority (GRA).

Similarly, the value of mineral royalties attributable to the producing member companies of the Chamber 
rose by 37.57 per cent to GH¢ 1.536 billion in 2021 from GH¢ 1.116 billion in 2020. The upswing in mineral 
royalty, which is an impost on gross mineral revenue, was mainly due to the expansion in mineral revenue 
of most producing member companies, which in turn was a function of the increase in the price of gold and 
output. In effect, mineral royalty payments accounted for 33.31 per cent of gross fiscal payments of the 
producing member companies of the Chamber.     

The residual fiscal stream, personal income tax, or pay-as-you-earn (PAYE), improved by a marginal 0.85 
per cent to GH¢ 0.528 billion in 2021 from GH¢ 0.523 billion in 2020. The subdued growth of PAYE was 
partly a reflection of the ebb and flow of employment in the mining sector.    

Despite the expansion in fiscal payments, the contribution of producing member companies to total direct 
domestic revenue declined from 18.1 per cent in 2020 to 16.48 per cent in 2021 because the growth rate of 
government revenue exceeded that of fiscal payments of member companies. Further, the members’ 
payments represented 6.69 per cent of domestic revenue and 6.58 per cent of aggregate government 
revenue in 2021. The corresponding outturns in 2020 were 7.7 per cent and 7.5 per cent respectively.

Merchandise Exports and Balance of Payments

The proceeds from the export of minerals, which are typically received in US dollars, are crucial to the 
stability of the financial system and livelihoods. According to the Bank of Ghana, gross receipts from the 
export of minerals waned by 25 per cent from US$ 6.998 billion in 2020 to US$ 5.241 billion in 2021. The 
decrease in mineral export receipts was attributable to the concurrent declines in proceeds from the 
offshore sale of gold, manganese, and bauxite, which was partly offset by the increase in revenue from the 
export of diamonds. The revenue realized from the export of gold declined from US$ 6.779 billion in 2020 to 
US$ 5.083 billion in 2021 due to the contraction in gold production, particularly the near collapse in the 
volume of gold exports by the small-scale sector. The central bank’s data suggests that the gold exports 
declined by 26.83 per cent from 3.854 million ounces in 2020 to 2.820 million ounces in 2021. Against this 
backdrop, the share of gold proceeds in mineral export revenue decreased marginally from 97.15 per cent 
in 2020 to 96.98 per cent in 2021.

As well, revenue from the export of manganese and bauxite plummeted by 16 per cent and 42 per cent 
respectively. The contraction in export receipts of manganese from US$ 160.95 million in 2020 to US$ 
134.81 million in 2021 was a consequence of lower export prices, which was moderated by an increase in 
the volume of exports. Conversely, the reduction in gross export receipts of bauxite from US$ 37.72 million 
in 2020 to US$ 22.04 million in 2021 was attributable to a simultaneous decline in export volume and price. 
Notwithstanding the decline in receipts from the export of manganese, its share in total revenue rose from 
2.30 per cent in 2020 to 2.57 per cent in 2021. However, the comparable share for bauxite declined to 0.42 
per cent in 2021 relative to 0.54 per cent in 2020.  

As an outlier, revenue realized from the sale of diamonds increased by 144 per cent, from US$ 0.66 million 
in 2020 to US$ 1.613 million in 2021. The expansion in receipts, which was explained by higher output and 
higher realized price, triggered an increase in diamond’s contribution to total mineral revenue from 0.01 
per cent in 2020 to 0.03 per cent in 2021.

In the light of the fall in mineral revenue, the proportion of aggregate merchandise receipts attributable to 
the minerals sector reduced from 48.36 per cent in 2020 to 35.60 per cent in 2021. Nonetheless, the 
mining sector retained its position as the leading source of export revenue since its share in the trade 

16

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021



account was higher than that of crude oil and cocoa, which are the other main export commodities. The 
export of crude oil and cocoa accounted for 26.81 per cent and 19.28 per cent of total export revenue in 
2021. 

Impact of Mining on the local economy in 2021

Repatriation of Mineral Export Proceeds to Ghana by Producing Member Companies
While the stock of forex is important in bolstering the Balance of Payments (BOP), it is the flow of forex 
that facilitates the functioning of the financial intermediation system. In that regard, the proportion of 
export receipts returned to the country through the commercial banks provides liquidity and stability to 
the forex market.  

In 2021, producing member companies of the Chamber returned US$ 4.075 billion of their realized 
mineral revenue of US$ 4.990 billion to the country, representing 81.7 per cent of their gross mineral 
revenue and indicates an improvement over the outturn of 71 per cent in 2020. It is worthy of note that the 
proportion of mineral export revenue returned exceeds the thresholds stipulated in the disparate 
investment agreements and the Minerals and Mining Act, 2006 (Act 703).

Expenditure of Mineral Revenue of Producing Member Companies 
In 2021, the producing member companies of the Chamber spent US$ 5.897 billion on sourcing a variety of 
physical and intangible inputs, compensation to employees, honouring fiscal obligations, financing debts, 
and capital expenditure as well as corporate social investment projects. The proportion of their total 
expenditure that accrued to in-country entities was 67.56 per cent, which translates into a nominal 
amount of US$ 3.984 billion. The remnant, US$ 1.913 billion (32.44 per cent) was expended on non-
resident beneficiaries.

Regarding the in-country expenditure streams, the producing member companies expended US$ 1.887 
billion on the procurement of non-energy goods and services from local manufacturers and suppliers in 
2021. This translates into 37.78 per cent of their mineral revenue, which was lower than the outturn of 
51.93 per cent recorded in 2020. Further, US$ 286.21 million was spent on electricity and US$ 316.72 
million on diesel in 2021. The expenditure on electricity and diesel translates into 5.73 and 6.34 per cent of 
mineral revenue in 2021 and their analogous outturns in 2020 were 3.5 per cent and 3.9 per cent 
respectively. 

As well, the state received US$ 922.241 million in both direct and indirect taxes, representing 18.47 per 
cent of mineral revenue. In the preceding year, the state’s share of mineral revenue was 16.2 per cent of 
mineral proceeds. Likewise, compensation to employees amounted to 10.93 per cent of mineral revenue, 
which was higher than the outcome of 9.3 per cent recorded in 2020.  The nominal equivalence was US$ 
545.939 million in 2021 and US$ 479.677 million in 2020. To support the accelerated development of their 
host communities, the producing member companies expended US$ 25.740 million on several corporate 
social investment (CSI) projects in 2021, which was lower than US$ 27.839 million spent in 2020. In 
proportionate terms, the allocation to CSI corresponded to 0.52 per cent of mineral revenue, which was 
identical to the outturn in 2020.

Workforce of the Producing Member Companies of the Chamber
At the end of 2021, the total number of persons employed directly by the producing member companies 
stood at 12, 236. This comprised 12,138 local employees and ninety-eight (98) expatriates. The latter 
represents 0.8 per cent of the industry’s direct employees with the remaining 99.2 per cent being 
Ghanaians.

Revenue and Output Performance of the Producing Member Companies in 2021

The gross mineral production revenue of the producing members declined by 2.93 per cent from US$ 5.141 
billion in 2020 to US$ 4.990 billion in 2021 due to the reduction in gold revenue, which was moderated by 
the uplift in proceeds from the production of manganese. In turn, the 3.58 per cent decrease in gold 
revenue, from US$ 4.999 billion in 2020 to US$ 4.820 billion, mirrored the fall in aggregate production. 
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Conversely, the increase in revenue from the production of manganese from US$ 141,801 million in 2020 
to US$ 170,439 million in 2021 was due to the simultaneous growth in realized price and output and was 
equivalent to 20.20 per cent year-on-year growth. 

A string of synchronized declines in the gold output of most member companies culminated in a reduction 
of production from 2.845 million ounces in 2020 to 2.711 million ounces in 2021.  The impact of 4.7 per cent 
recession in output on revenue was palliated by the modest rise in the gold price and expansion in the 
production of Abosso Goldfields Ltd, and FGR Bogoso Prestea Ltd.

The output of the Gold Fields’ Tarkwa Mine waned by 0.87 per cent from 526,256 ounces in 2020 to 
521,688 ounces in 2021. This marginal drop was occasioned by lower tonnes processed. In contrast, the 
Abosso Goldfields recorded a 14.11 per cent expansion in production from 222,953 ounces in 2020 to 
254,409 ounces in 2021 due to the relatively high grade produced from the Damang pit cutback (DPCB). 

In the year under review, the share of Gold Fields Tarkwa Mine in the gross gold output of producing mines 
of the Chamber improved from 18.50 per cent in 2020 to 19.24 per cent in 2021. As well, the Abosso 
Goldfields mine’s contribution to production rose from 7.84 per cent in 2020 to 9.38 per cent in 2021. This 
implies that the Gold Fields accounted for 28.63 per cent of the Chamber’s overall gold output. 

At the Akyem Mine of Newmont, production increased by 2.70 per cent to 381,494 ounces in 2021 from 
371,476 ounces in 2020. The improvement in output was primarily a consequence of milling higher ore 
grade, which was partially offset by lower mill throughput, low recovery, and build-up of in-circuit 
inventory. The outturn of that mine’s output in 2021 represented 14.07 per cent of the gold output of 
member companies of the Chamber, which is a marginal improvement over the outturn of 13.06 per cent in 
2020. With respect to Newmont’s Ahafo mine, production inched up 0.8 per cent from 480,427 ounces in 
2020 to 480,708 ounces in 2021. The contribution of Newmont’s Ahafo Mine to the gross gold output of 
member companies of the Chamber grew from 13.06 per cent in 2020 to 14.07 per cent in 2021. 

Thus, Gold Fields Tarkwa Mine retained its position as the largest mine in the country, followed closely by 
Newmont Ahafo mine. Ayekoo! to Gold Fields Ghana Tarkwa mine and Newmont Ahafo mine.

The AngloGold Ashanti-operated Iduapriem Mine’s output fell from 274,537 ounces in 2020 to 201,669 
ounces in 2021 due to lower grades from the depletion of ore at “Cut one”, delayed waste stripping at “Cut 
2” of the Teberebie pit, and the impact of a drawdown on stockpiles. The 26.54 per cent nosedive in 
production led to a reduction in its share of gold output of member companies of the Chamber, from 9.65 
per cent in 2020 to 7.44 per cent in 2021. In the same vein, a failure of a sill pillar at the Obuasi Mine of 
AngloGold Ashanti Ltd occasioned the voluntary temporary suspension of mining activities in 2021. 
Consequently, the mine’s output plunged by 15.08 per cent to 108,015 ounces in 2021 from 127,195 
ounces in 2020. Unsurprisingly, its share of the gold production in the output of the Chamber’s members 
fell from 4.47 per cent in 2020 to 3.98 per cent in 2021. The combined output of Obuasi and Iduapriem 
mines was 11.42 per cent of the Chamber’s output.

The deferral of the development of secondary stopes due to paste-fill constraints and the slower than 
planned development rates combined to reduce the volume of ore mined from the underground pit of the 
Akyempim Mine of Golden Star Wassa Ltd.  Although the challenge was partly offset by the processing of 
higher volumes of a low-grade stockpile, the mine’s output declined by 8.18 per cent from 167,648 ounces 
in 2020 to 153,941 ounces in 2021. Consequently, the contribution of Golden Star Wassa Mine to the gold 
output attributable to the Chamber declined slightly from 5.89 per cent in 2020 to 5.68 per cent in 2021.

With respect to Asanko Gold Mines, the joint venture mine of Galiano and Gold Fields, production declined 
from 249,904 ounces in 2020 to 210,421 ounces in 2021. The 15.80 per cent downturn in output was due 
to lower than anticipated ore grade. As a result, its share in the total gold output attributable to the 
producing members of the Chamber fell to 7.76 per cent in 2021 from 8.78 per cent in 2020. 

The output of the Kinross-owned mine, Chirano Gold Mines, declined by 7.12 per cent to 154,430 ounces in 
2021 from 166,276 ounces in 2020 primarily due to a 12 per cent decrease in ore grade, which was 
partially counterbalanced by an increase in mill throughput. In turn, the rise in mill throughput was 
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occasioned by an increase in mill availability. Owing to the contraction in its output, the contribution of 
Chirano Gold Mines to total gold production of the Chamber’s members ebbed marginally from 5.84 per 
cent in 2020 to 5.70 per cent in 2021. 

Similarly, the gold output attributable to the Edikan Mine of Perseus Mining Ltd shrank from 158,090 
ounces in 2020 to 150,330 ounces in 2021. The 4.91 per cent fall in production was mainly explained by 
lower head grade of processed ore and a slight reduction in the volume of ore milled. However, the 
improvement in the mine’s recovery rate partly offset the impact of the previously cited constraints. 
Against this backdrop, the mine’s share of aggregate gold output of the producing members of the 
Chamber reduced slightly from 5.56 per cent in 2020 to 5.54 per cent in 2021.

At the FGR Bogoso Prestea Mine, which is owned by Blue International Group, production improved from 
29,833 ounces in 2020 to 32,725 ounces in 2021, representing a growth rate of 9.70 per cent. The upturn in 
production, which translated into an expansion in its share of the Chamber’s gold output from 1.05 per 
cent in 2020 to 1.21 per cent in 2021, was largely a function of an increase in the volume of ore mined and 
milled.  

The gold output of the Nzema Mine of Adamus Resources Limited fell by 13.19 per cent, from 70,701 
ounces in 2020 to 61,372 ounces in 2021 due to a decline in the ore grade and mill recovery rate. The 
moderating influences on the mine’s production outturn were the growth in the quantum of ore mined and 
milled. Owing to the reduction in its output, the contribution of Adamus Resource Ltd to the total gold 
output of the Chamber dropped from 2.48 per cent in 2020 to 2.26 per cent in 2021. 

Finally, the production of manganese rose from 2.358 million tonnes in 2020 to 3.336 million tonnes in 
2021. The 41.52 per cent growth in production was largely due to an expansion in the volume of ore mined, 
which reflected a full year’s output. In 2021, a series of regulatory “stop and start” directives constrained 
the mine from producing in the first quarter.

Outlook of Production in 2022
In 2022, we expect most of the mines to operate at a steady level and thereby address the challenges that 
confronted their operations in 2021. In that regard, we project an increase in gold output of producing 
member companies between 2.9 million ounces and 3 million and a corresponding increase in revenue and 
other benefits to government and other stakeholders. 

Making Ghana a Mining Service Hub
Ladies and gentlemen, it is our collective task to position Ghana as the Mecca of mining in Africa and a 
mining service hub in West Africa, but this requires deep collaboration between government and the 
mining industry coupled with taking a cue from other countries to promote the country as the best 
destination for mining business in Africa. Promoting investment in ancillary services is critical to the 
comprehensive development of the industry. So far, we have seen the establishment of some refineries 
such as the Gold Coast Refinery Limited and Royal Roxy Gold Refinery in the country. Also, other support 
services such as contract drilling and mining, analytical laboratories, production of activated carbon, 
caustic soda, and value addition through the creation of a vibrant jewelry production industry are areas of 
key interest which need to be supported and promoted to grow the industry and its linkages. Ghana is 
blessed with key ingredients such as relative political stability and developing infrastructure to support 
this aspiration; hence it is our expectation that our Sector Ministry and sector agencies will partner with us 
to promote this agenda. 

Government Relations and Communications 
Honourable Minister, we deem it a good fortune and an honor to have you as our sector Minister. Indeed, 
your repeated public pronouncements that underscore your commitment to an enduring partnership with 
the Ghana Chamber of Mines is worth celebrating. You have not just expressed these commitments but in 
several instances, acted in accordance with this desire. We are grateful. 

Whiles we do not wish to arrogate to ourselves the power to interrogate government policy on the mining 
industry, it is our humble opinion that prior engagements would prevent surprises and enable affected 
companies to consider the impact of proposed policies or policy tweaks in their business plans. In a 
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nutshell, we assure you that engaging the mining industry is not only good for business but also reflects 
the harmony we have maintained with government, a major prerequisite for positioning Ghana as the 
beacon of mining in Africa. 

Security 
Adequate security is a critical success factor for mining operations. Security is therefore a major concern 
for all mining companies in the country as they need the serenity to focus on the core job of mining. With 
the growing menace of attacks on mine workers, destruction of properties and assets by youth of some 
host communities, it has become critical that state actors step up their efforts in complementing the 
private security arrangements of mining firms, considering their investments and contribution to national 
development. One of the most recent incidents involved a security guard of a member company who 
suffered gunshot wounds a day after community members and the State security clashed following a 
protest due to the arrest of illegal miners. 

These incidents constantly detract Ghana’s ambition to be the leader of mining business in Africa. In the 
least, such happenings will adversely affect investor plans to acquire assets or even expand their mine 
operations in Ghana. 

Although steps have been taken by my predecessors to address some of these challenges, we continue to 
face threats from some community members and illegal miners. The contribution of the mining industry in 
Ghana as well as our desire to position and promote Ghana as a mining support service hub should not be 
undermined by such incidents. We need to take drastic, deterrent, and urgent steps to stop the issue of 
attacks on member companies and their employees.

Environment and Sustainability 
Ladies and gentlemen, responsible mining and environmental sustainability are at the heart of the ethos of 
our industry. We are therefore, through practical initiatives, keen to protect the environment before, 
during and after mining. We will continue to engage and work with the Environmental Protection Agency 
as well as other partners to promote responsible mining as well as protect our host communities and their 
ecology. 

We continue to learn from each other’s best practices to promote responsible mining.

Financial Statements
According to our immediate past Auditors, Deloitte & Touche, the Chamber kept proper books and our 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Chamber as at 31st December 
2021 and the financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards, (IFRS) and in the manner required by the Companies Act, 
2019 (Act 992).

Conclusion 
Honourable Minister, Members of our cherished Chamber, ladies, and gentlemen, as I bring my address to 
a close, I would like to reiterate that our desire to position Ghana as the mining support services hub in 
West Africa will require a collective effort from industry leaders and policymakers embracing new 
technologies and the opportunities they bring. Artificial Intelligence (AI), automation and big data 
analytics are key elements for mining firms that aspire to be at the leading edge and be competitive 
through improving productivity and working conditions for employees. As part of sustainable and 
responsible mining, renewable energy systems would help reduce environmental impact while big data 
analytics can help improve a firm’s performance with regards to planning, yields and unscheduled 
equipment downtimes etc. I urge us all to continue to collaborate and share ideas on how we can achieve 
these aspirations for our industry and country. 

Ladies and gentlemen, it is my pleasure to congratulate Mr. George Nutor and Ms. Angela List on their 
election as 1st Vice and 2nd Vice Presidents respectively of the Chamber.

I would like to assure our stakeholders, especially the Honourable Minister that we will continue to follow 
in the footsteps of my predecessor and deepen the solid partnerships that exist between our industry and 
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its regulators. 

Additionally, I encourage every one of us here to continually play our respective roles in promoting 
responsible and sustainable mining for the benefit of our people. 

I thank you all for your attention. 

JOSHUA MORTOTI

PRESIDENT



EXTERNAL RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS DIRECTORATE

INTRODUCTION
The External Relations and Communications Unit 
of the Chamber is responsible for planning and 
implement ing  stakeholder  re lat ionsh ip 
management and institutional communication 
programmes developed to successfully engage 
interest groups and individuals who are critical to 
the continued operation of member companies. 
The Directorate is also responsible for ensuring 
environmental and sustainability challenges 
faced by member companies of the Chamber are 
resolved. Specifically, the unit is mandated to 
harmonise the promotion of sustainable mining 
practices in Ghana. The unit's job is to direct the 
Chamber's lobbying and visibility strategy in order 
to enhance industry openness while addressing 
negative impressions and perceptions. The unit 
operates under the guidance of the Public 
Relations Committee, made up of representatives 
of producing member companies and chaired by 
the Chief Executive Officer of the Chamber, as 
well as the Environment and Social Affairs 
Committee. The unit is headed by the Director, 
External Relations and Communications.

For the year 2021, the External Relations and 
Communications Department planned and 
participated in a number of activities aimed at 
improving the mining industry, which would help 
the country's economic recovery from the 
COVID-19 Pandemic. 

Public Relations Committee and Visibility
The Committee met three times in the course of 
the year. All meetings were held virtually and 
hosted by the Secretariat of the Chamber in Accra. 
Key issues addressed in the year under review 
have been presented herewith.

Stakeholder Engagements
The Committee extensively analyzed the need to 
strategically engage key audiences to showcase 
the sustainable practices of member companies 
during the COVID-19 era. The committee pursued 
meaningful engagements with such groups from 
civil society, the media, as well as host 
communities to ensure that all misconceptions 
and misgivings are ironed out to deepen 
collaboration. This involved media discussions on 
selected media platforms across the country.

Image Building and the Changing Face of the 
Chamber

In view of the changing scenes of the mining 
industry and the responsibilities of the Chamber 
as an industry association, it became even more 
critical to shift from merely advocating for change 
to becoming an institution that changes the 
narrative. Pursuant to this, the Chamber 
refocused its attention to sustaining efforts on 
such palpable initiatives that can influence 
change in a broader perspective. The Executive 
Committee and the Council empowered the 
Secretariat to restructure its advocacy approach 
with a new corporate strategy in order to 
transform the Chamber into a more impactful 
entity supporting broad-based development and 
deepening the positive image of the member 
companies.

A new Corporate Strategy is being developed to 
guide the operations of the Chamber for the next 
three years.

Communicating Sustainability amid Covid-19

Member companies supported the ongoing fight to 
eradicate the COVID-19 Pandemic with donations 
towards the procurement of vaccines, providing 
communities with the much-needed information 
on how to avoid the infection and ways to maintain 
their  health.  These included community 
demonstration durbars, radio interviews and the 
use of social media. The messages were tailored 
to suit the specific host communities and their 
cultural settings. The Chamber also produced 
radio jingles and television skits to support public 
education on the infection.

Advocacy and Image Building

National Consultative Dialogue on Small-Scale 
Mining

A National Consultative Dialogue on Small Scale 
Mining was held from the 14th to the 15th of April 
2021 at the Accra International Conference 
Centre, under the auspices of the Ministry of 
Lands and Natural Resources, to fulfill the vision 
of the President of the Republic, H.E. Nana Addo 
Dankwa Akufo-Addo, to organize a discourse to 
solicit divergent opinions in order to develop 
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appropriate policy options for the small-scale 
mining subsector.

The Minister for Lands and Natural Resources, 
Hon. Samuel A. Jinapor (MP), and other relevant 
Ministers of State, as well as duly mandated 
representatives of Ministries, Departments and 
Agencies, Commissions, and Authorities, 
including the Chamber, were present at the 
Dialogue, which was opened by the President of 
the Republic, H.E. Nana Addo Dankwa Akufo-
Addo.

After deliberations on written memoranda, 
proposals and other documents submitted by 
various sources, as well as verbal arguments, the 
Technical Committee was mandated to consider 
written arguments, suggestions, presentations, 
and other submissions in addition to verbal 
a r g u m e n t s ,  r e c o m m e n d a t i o n s ,  a n d 
presentations. headed by Hon. Benito Owusu-Bio, 
Member of Parliament, and a former Deputy 
Minister of the Ministry of Lands and Natural 

Resources, to come up with a comprehensive 
report which reflects the detailed conclusions of 
the Dialogue.  Subsequently, this report will be 
tabled before Cabinet for its examination and 

hopefully, adoption, which will make it a policy of 
the government.

The Dialogue resolved that, similar consultations 
should be held in all mining regions and districts of 
our country.  Further to that, other public relations 
tools should be employed to generate over-
whelming public support for the national policy on 
small scale mining.

Meeting with Minister for Environment 
Science, Technology and Innovation
The Pres ident  of  the Chamber,  Mr  Er ic 
Asubonteng led a team to pay a courtesy call on 
the Minister for Environment Science, Technology 
and Innovation, Hon. (Dr.) Kwaku Afriyie, on 
Tuesday, 15th June 2021.The rationale for the 
meeting was, among others to, congratulate the 
Honourable Minister on his appointment as well 
as to assure him of our support for a successful 
tenure. The meeting was also meant to introduce 
executives of the Chamber to the management of 
the Ministry and to share ideas on how to partner 
with the Ministry to execute initiatives that will be 
mutually beneficial to the country and mining 
industry.

The CEO set the tone for the deliberations on 
specific issues on the industry. He stated that the 
mining industry has been a leading contributor to 
the nation’s fiscal purse in the past decade. He 
added that the Ghana Revenue Authority’s data 
shows that the mining and quarrying sector 
remained the leading source of direct domestic 
revenue in 2020. According to him, the sector’s 
contribution to the national fiscal purse increased 
from GH¢ 4.013 billion in 2019 to GH¢ 4.172 billion 
in 2020. He also averred that in 2020, the mining 
industry was the leading sector in gross 
merchandise exports, accounting for 48% 
demonstrating the value of the mining industry to 
Ghana’s economy.

The CEO further discussed other issues pertaining 
to the mining industry and environmental 
management.

The meeting ended with the Minister urging the 
Chamber to remain committed to supporting the 
development of the country. He was of the view 
that even though the contribution of the industry 
to the economy may be belittled given the paucity 
of the development in host communities, the 
Chamber’s role is integral to the success the 
nation has chalked over the years. Mr Asubonteng 
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President Nana Akufo-Addo with some dignitaries at the 
National Consultative Dialogue on Small Scale Mining

Some dignitaries at the 
National Consultative Dialogue on Small Scale Mining



commended the Honorable Minister for making 
time to meet with the Chamber and assured him of 
the industry’s continual engagement with policy 
makers to boost mutually beneficial outcomes.

Stakeholder Engagement in Western Region 
As part of efforts to engage stakeholders of the 
Ghana Chamber of Mines and the mining industry 
in the regions, the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Chamber, Mr Sulemanu Koney led a team from the 
Secretariat to interact with various stakeholders 
in the Western Region, specifically, Takoradi and 
Tarkwa from 29th March to 31st April 2021. 

The Chief Executive Officer of the Ghana Chamber 
of Mines, Mr. Sulemanu Koney met with the 
Western Regional Minister, Dr. Kwabena Okyere 
Darko-Mensah at the Regional Coordinating 
Council in Sekondi. Mr. Koney used the opportunity 
to congratulate the minister on his reappointment 
to lead the region. While at it, he underscored the 
importance the Chamber of Mines attached to the 
development of the Western Region, considering 
that Ghana derives most of its mineral and 
agricultural resources from the region.

The Chamber engaged the Municipal Chief 
Executives of the Tarkwa Nsuaem Municipal 
Assembly and the Prestea Huni-Valley Municipal 
Assembly, Hon. Benjamin Kessie and Hon. Isaac 

Dasmani respectively. The discussions focused on 
the quality of roads, railway development, 
community development, job creation and the 
security of member companies of the Chamber. In 
both meetings, the CEO of the Chamber stated 
that the meetings were timely as they presented 
an opportunity to share ideas on pertinent issues 
affecting member companies. He indicated that a 
critical issue that required a holistic solution is the 
security of mining companies and the support of 
the assembly in protecting the investments which 
ostensibly create jobs and supports the economy.

As part of the activities, the team interacted with 
Nana Adupanin II, a divisional chief of the Bondai 
Nsuta area within the Prestea Huni-Valley 
traditional area. The chief was full of praise for the 
traditional authority’s relationship with the 
mining company in spite of the challenges that 
persist. He expressed misgivings about the 
seeming discrimination against local skills in 
favour of persons from other communities. 
According to him, such situations have the 
potential of creating tensions between the people 
and the company. 

He admitted that the mining company has raised 
the standard of living of the people, which has 
inadvertently resulted in high cost of living, a 
situation that is fueling illegal mining in the area. 
This is adversely impacting farm lands and 
negatively affecting the livelihoods of the people.

Engagement Between the Ghana Chamber of 
Mines and Managers of Media Houses
The Chief Executive Officer of the Chamber, Mr 
Sulemanu Koney, led a team from the Secretariat 
to pay a courtesy call on the editorial executives of 
the Daily Graphic Newspaper and the Business & 
Financial Times Newspaper separately on 
Tuesday, 12th October, 2021.

The visit was part of the Chamber’s stakeholder 
engagement activities to deepen cooperation 
between the media and the Secretariat. Mr 
Sulemanu Koney extended his gratitude to the 
executives of the Business and Financial Times 
and Daily  Graphic newspapers for their 
continuous support to the Chamber and stated 
that there was a need to regularly meet editors of 
media houses to raise awareness on the 
contribution of the Chamber’s member companies 
to the transformation of the mining sector and, by 
extension, the economy.  
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 Mr. Sulemanu Koney, CEO and some Staff of the Chamber with 
Dr. Kwabena Okyere Darko-Mensah, Western Regional Minister

 Mr. Sulemanu Koney, CEO of the Chamber (left) with 
Dr. Kwabena Okyere Darko-Mensah, Western Regional Minister



He stated that the Chamber would continue to 
collaborate with stakeholders across the 
different sectors to position Ghana as a mining 
support services hub and demonstrate ways to 
generate greater value for the industry. Mr Koney 
intimated that the benefits of mining transcend 
the tangible benefits that are easily recognizable 
to more meaningful and nontangible positive 
outcomes across the value chain and the non-
minerals sector.

Touching on the Chamber’s efforts to support 
national development, Mr Koney indicated that it 
was time for Ghana to position itself as the 
preferred hub for mining support services in West 
Afr ica  to  accelerate  the  government ’s 
industrialization vision. He averred that the mining 
industry should be strategically linked with other 
sectors to spur economic growth. According to 
him, the need to ensure that the industry was fully 
integrated with other sectors for broad-based 
socio-economic development cannot  be 
understated.

Post-AGM Workshop With Journalist’s for 
Business Advocacy (JBA) 
The year 2020 was very challenging in all 
economic facets mainly due to the harsh impact of 
COVID-19. All sectors of the economy, nationally 
and globally, including the mining industry, were 
badly derailed by the corona virus pandemic. 
Nevertheless, it is prudent to assess the 
performance of the mining sector in Ghana to even 
gauge the robustness or frailty of the sector in the 
face of such huge negative force of nature. Such 
assessment would also be helpful in the 
Chamber’s quest to position Ghana as a mining 
support services hub in Africa. These imperatives 
informed another engagement between the 
Ghana Chamber of Mines and the JBA in a one-day 
workshop in Accra to appraise the performance of 
the mining sector in Ghana and explore its future 
prospects.

The one-day workshop was on the theme: 
“Positioning Ghana as a mining support services 
hub”. Ghana, being a leading producer of gold in 
Africa, offers a lot of prospects in the mining 
sector. It is, therefore, a good idea to establish 
Ghana as a hub in respect of providing mining 
services for patrons from within and outside the 
country. That will create another layer of revenue 
generation and make the contribution of the 
mining sector to the national economy even bigger 
than now. The workshop afforded officials of the 

Chamber the opportunity to feed members of JBA 
with its direction towards making Ghana a hub in 
providing mining support services in Africa. It was 
held at the Best Western Hotel in Accra on July 23, 
2021

The objectives for the one-day workshop were to:

I. Enhance the knowledge of members of JBA 
on the prospects of Ghana as a hub for the 
provision of mining support services in Africa;

ii. Discuss the role of the media, particularly 
JBA members, in the quest to developing 
Ghana as a hub in the provision of mining 
support services in Africa;

iii. Update members of JBA on the performance 
of the mining sector to Ghana’s economy in 
2020, and

iv.Strengthen the bond of relationship between 
the Ghana Chamber of Mines and the Journalists 
for Business Advocacy.

Donation Of 100KVA Generating Set to The 
Maamobi General Hospital
The Ghana Chamber of Mines (GCM) donated a 
generator to the Maamobi General Hospital in the 
Ayawaso North Municipality in Accra. The 100 
KVA-generator, which costs GHC147,000.00, is to 
augment the power supply to the hospital and 
improve quality healthcare delivery. The donation 
was part of the Chamber’s Image Building 
activities to promote responsible mining in Ghana.

The President of  the Chamber,  Mr.  Er ic 
Asubonteng, who commissioned the generator at 
the Maamobi General Hospital, said the donation 
formed part of a public-spirited programme to 
support hospitals across the country. He stated 
that the generator would provide reliable power to 
the hospital and improve health services to 
residents in the Municipality. He indicated that the 
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 Mr. Sulemanu Koney, CEO of the Chamber with 
some staff of the Hospital



“lack of regular power supply puts the lives of 
women in labour and new-born babies at risk.”

The Deputy Director in charge of Administration at 
the Greater Accra Regional Health Directorate, Dr. 
Dery Lucio said the Maamobi General Hospital 
was critical to healthcare delivery due to its 
strategic location. He said the hospital served 
many women and vulnerable people in society. Dr. 
Dery said it was usually a difficult moment for 
doctors when during a medical procedure, the 
power suddenly went off at the hospital, adding 
that the generator would address that challenge.

Community chiefs and leaders in the Maamobi 
township who part ic ipated in the event 
commended the Chamber for coming to the aid of 
the hospital. Alhaji Chief Imoro Baba Issah – 
Chairman of the Zongo Council of Chiefs stated 
that the regular supply of power will be integral to 
the provision of necessary healthcare services to 
patients.   

The Purple Peach Project
The Purple Peach Project is part of the Chamber’s 
Social Responsibility programme to support 
underprivileged girls to obtain the requisite 

sanitary items which will improve their personal 
hygiene and health. In 2021, the project 
supported about three thousand girls in Korle 
Gonno and Dodowa with sanitary items. 

The Chamber, led by its Chief Executive Officer, Mr 
Sulemanu Koney made the donation at a brief 
ceremony held at Korle Gonno and Dodowa 
respectively.  Mr. Koney during the presentation 
said menstruation is a fact of life and a natural 
monthly occurrence for the 1.8 billion girls and 
women of reproductive age around the world and 
we cannot continue to allow cost to deny girls 
access to this very important product for the 
management of monthly menstrual cycle in a 
dignified and healthy way. He also added that, it 
was imperative for society to prioritize the health 
of these girls as the availability, access, and ability 
to purchase such sanitary services could be 
critical to the success or failure of these girls in 
life. 

Although the department was able to achieve the 
desired outcome from the bulk of these events, it 
was unable to complete all of the activities as 
planned, which it hopes to do

Mr. Sulemanu Koney, CEO of the Ghana Chamber of Mines with some beneficiaries of the purple Peach Project
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

The Chamber’s environmental protocols and 
social affairs initiatives are spearheaded by the 
Environmental and Social Affairs Committee 
(ENSOC).  The committee is  made up of 
Environmental Practitioners, Community and 
Social Affairs Professionals and Sustainability 
Officials from producing member companies, 
support services and associate institutions. The 
Chamber’s goal of “Promoting Environmentally 
and Socially Responsible Mining”, stems from the 
critical need to ensure that all business objectives 
are tied to the triple bottom-line - i.e. People, 
Planet and Profit. In order to push the frontiers of 
environmental sustainability, the Committee held 
four quarterly meetings in the year under review 
at which deliberations focused on addressing key 
issues per tain ing to  environmental  and 
community sustainability matters. These issues 
included: 

Global Tailings Standard
The Committee expressed its commitment to 
implement the new standards in the management 
of tailings. Pursuant to this, Members were 
encouraged to engage host communities and 
other industry stakeholders on the Global Tailings 
Standards (GTS) and to pull together company 
level strategies to develop the industry’s position 
on managing tailings. Members agreed on the 
need to align internal activities to meet the new 
standard as well as perform effective gap analysis 
to find out where each company was, in relation to 
the specific requirements of the new GTS.

Outstanding Environmental Permits
In-spite of the challenges with the issuance of 
environmental permits by the regulator, Members 
agreed that permitting and issuance of permits 
had improved and urged the EPA to continue to 
streamline its processes to further improve the 
lead time. The Director of Mining at the EPA stated 
that the regulator had cleared the backlog of 
permits from its books and was currently going 
through the motions to issue new permits. 

Environmental Consultant
The Chamber’s Environmental Consultant, Nana 
Andoh continued to provide environmental 

management support to member companies by 
visiting various mines and providing feedback on 
gaps in the management of environment and 
social systems on the mine. In the second quarter 
of the year, six companies were visited to 
ascertain their readiness for the AKOBEN Audit of 
which the consultant commended the mines 
visited for their satisfactory environmental 
practices with the exception of one.

Reclamation Bond
The Committee continued to discuss issues 
per ta in ing to  the Reclamation Secur it y 
Agreement (RSA) and the Reclamation Bond. 
Members agreed that a sub-committee should be 
set up to examine existing documentation on the 
models for calculating mining reclamation costs 
to ensure that there is a baseline that member 
companies can resort to for determining the cost 
of reclamation. In a presentation made by the 
subcommittee, they indicated that there were 
d ifferent  models  for  the calculat ion of 
reclamation cost and that Ghana must focus on 
adopting one that was supported with compliance 
obligations, assets, rates, and competency for 
closure team/consultant among others.

Engagement on the Reactivation of AKOBEN 
Environmental Performance and Rating 
Disclosure System
The Environment and Social Affairs Committee 
met with the Environmental Protection Agency to 
discuss AKOBEN, the Environmental rating & 
disclosure program. Eric Ness, the Chief Technical 
Officer at Performeks was also present to help the 
members who had issues with the audit 
assessment platform. The chairperson ended her 
remarks by asking representatives to write all 
their concerns on the audit assessment platform. 
The environmental consultant of the Chamber 
gave a brief report on visits and engagements with 
member companies. 
The issues surrounding the reactivation of 
AKOBEN audits were discussed and Members 
were urged to channel their issues to EPA about 
the assessment platform. EPA agreed to extend 
certification period.
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T h e  H u m a n  R e s o u r c e s  a n d  O p e r a t i o n s 
Department provides strategic support and 
guidance to the management and employees of 
the Chamber as well as member companies by 
creating an enabling environment for growth and 
productiv ity.  As an integral  part  of  the 
Secretariat, the department aligns its functions to 
the business strategy of the Chamber by 
integrating processes with the organization’s 
strategic mission and vision.

Amidst the challenges posed by the Corona Virus 
p a n d e m i c ,  t h e  d e p a r t m e n t  p l a y e d  a n 
instrumental role in ensuring a seamless work 
continuity. 

Administration 
In the year under review, the HR and Operations 
Department continued its efforts of implementing 
policies, systems and procedures to mitigate the 
impact of the Corona Virus diseases (COVID-19). 
Employees were provided with the necessary 
tools to enable them work remotely. 

Human Resource Management 
With the advent of COVID-19, the HR and 
Operations Department continued with the hybrid 
work schedules for staff of the Secretariat. The 
Department implemented procedures that 
ensured that the Chamber’s employees were 
adequately resourced to support the work of the 
Secretariat and the industry during the pandemic. 
Further, the Department ensured that all the 
stringent COVID-19 protocols instituted were 
adhered to. The Department facilitated the review 
of the performance of employees through its 
Annual Performance Management System. This 
system guided the Department in identifying the 
employees’ training needs and taking the 
necessary steps to address them. As well, the 
Department facilitated a medical screening 
session for employees of the Secretariat.

Industrial Relations 
The mining industry in 2021 remained resolute in 
its course to protect the wellbeing of its 
employees irrespective of the challenges posed 
by COVID-19. The department continued to offer 
its support to member companies of the Chamber 
by facilitating engagements between the HR 
Professionals and their social partners to discuss 
initiatives for managing the workforce to sustain 

the mining industry during the pandemic. 

The Department was able to facilitate the Joint 
Standing Negotiation Committee meetings with 
the Ghana Mine Workers' Union (GMWU) and the 
Ghana Manufacturing Metal Workers' Union 
(GEMM) to review the salaries and conditions of 
service for employees of both the Professional 
and Managerial Staff and Branch Unions. 

The Department facilitated the participation of 
members of the Branch and PMS Unions in the 
GMWU’s quarterly National Executive Committee 
meetings as part of its recognition of the Union as 
a social partner.

Capacity Building (Internal)
Talent development and training have been an 
essential focus of the Chamber’s Secretariat.  To 
achieve this objective, some employees enrolled 
in various training programmes in the year under 
review. A staff enrolled with the University of 
Ghana for a Master’s in Business Administration 
programme. Another employee was also 
supported to commence his bachelor’s degree in 
Business Administration at the University of Cape 
Coast. In addition to the foregoing, another 
employee underwent a training programme in 
effective customer experience design in a new 
world with West African Microfinance Training 
Institute.

Strategic External Liaisons
The Human Resource and Operations Department 
continued its engagements with key stakeholders 
and strategic partners in 2021. These partners 
included:

Minerals Commission 
As its the practice, the Minerals Commission 
engaged the Supply Managers of the Chamber to 
discuss their respective Procurement Plan 
Reports as dictated by the Minerals and Mining 
(Local Content and Local Participation) 
Regulations, (L.I. 2431), 2020. As well, the 
regulator took members through aspects of the 
Regulations which it anticipated would impact the 
operations of the mines. The session afforded 
members of the Committee the opportunity to 
seek further clarifications on the Legislative 
Instrument.

HUMAN RESOURCE AND OPERATIONS DEPARTMENT
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In addition to the aforementioned meetings, the 
Human Resource and Operations Department 
facilitated engagements for individual members 
of the Chamber to interact with the Minerals 
Commission on the following issues:

· 2021 Local Procurement Plans

· 2021 Procurement Mid-year and Annual 
reports

· Renewal of exploration tenements

· Regulation - 10 Insurance and reinsurance 
services of L.I. 2431 together with the 
M a n a g e m e n t  o f  N a t i o n a l  I n s u r a n c e 
Commission

· Regulation 13 - Listing on the Ghana Stock 
Exchange of L.I. 2431 with Management of 
Security and Exchange Commission and Ghana 
Stock Exchange

Ghana Employers’ Association (GEA)
The Human Resource and Operations Department 
of the Ghana Chamber of Mines continued to liaise 
with the human resource practitioners of the 
industry and the Ghana Employers’ Association. 
Critical amongst the roles played by the 
Depar tment was the faci l i tat ion of  the 
participation of human resource practitioners of 
member companies in the seminars and 
workshops organized by the GEA. One of such 
programmes was the Diploma in Industrial 
Relations which for the first time was opened to 
include a virtual option due to the COVID-19 
restrictions. The Department continued to 
represent the Chamber at the GEA’s quarterly 
Council meetings and participated in its webinars 
and conferences. 
  
The GEA provided the Chamber’s Human 

Resource Committee with its weekly industrial 
relations publication: IR Newsletter, which brings 
to light recent events as well as National Labour 
Commission, and court rulings within the 
Ghanaian industrial relations atmosphere.  

Internal Committees

HUMAN RESOURCE PRACTITIONERS’ 
COMMITTEE
Globally, the Corona Virus Disease (COVID-
19)continued to have rippling effects on 
employment. This led to many employers 
resorting to implementing business continuity 
and sustainability measures. This was no 
different for the human resource professionals in 
the year under review, as they continued to 
institute measures to protect and improve the 
wellbeing of employees in the mining industry. 
Additionally, the Human Resource Committee 
engaged stakeholders and social partners to 
discuss relevant issues to advance the cause of 
employees in the mining industry. The following 
are details of the activities the HR Committee 
engaged in during the year under review:

Courtesy call  on leadership of  Ghana 
Mineworkers’ Union: The Human Resource and 
Operations Department facilitated a meeting 
between a delegation of the HR Committee and 
the leadership of the Ghana Mineworkers’ Union. 
The  meet ing  afforded both  par t ies  the 
opportunity to discuss ways of improving the 
relationship between the Union and management 
teams of the various member companies, as part 
of measures to ensure the sustainability of the 
mining industry. 

Promotion of employee mental health and 

2021 Local Procurement List Performance Review meeting

Courtesy Call on leadership of Ghana 
Mineworkers Union



wellbeing: The wellbeing and mental health of 
employees has become paramount to most 
organizations as it is critical to the overall health 
of  employees.   The Committee had an 
engagement with Ms. Winifred Asare-Doku, a 
PhD researcher at the University of Australia on 
her research findings titled “Health and Safety in 
Ghana’s Mining Industry: Mental Health in 
Perspective”. Ms. Asare-Doku’s findings 
indicated that about 37% of the respondents of 
her survey who were employees in the mining 
industry in Ghana reported moderate to very 
high levels of psychological distress.

Considering the increase in stress caused by the 
Novel Corona Virus, the HR and Operations 
Department facilitated a session between the 
HR Committee and Prof. Kwesi Amponsah-
Tawiah, the Head of Organizational Development 
a n d  H u m a n  R e s o u r c e s  M a n a g e m e n t 
Department at the University of Ghana Business 
School. The discussion was on the topic 
“Providing Psychological Support to Employees 
in the COVID-19 era”. The interaction was 
focused on the need for companies to provide 
employees who had contracted and or recovered 
from the Corona Virus Disease with emotional 
support. An Ad-hoc Committee was constituted 
to formulate a mental health policy for the 
mining industry. 

The members of the Ad-hoc Committee are:

· Mr. David Wilson – Human Resource Manager, 
Chirano Gold Mines

· Dr. Kwasi Safo – Medical Practitioner, Asanko 
Gold Ghana

· Dr. Ishmael Sackey – Medical Practitioner, Gold 
Fields Ghana Limited

· Ms. Habeebi J. Owusu-Ansah – Nursing Officer 
– AngloGold Ashanti, Iduapriem Mine

The policy will provide detailed guidelines to 
member companies on mental health and its 
associated risks at the workplace. It will also 
direct member companies to develop company 
s p e c i fi c  a c t i o n  p l a n s  w h i c h  i n c l u d e s 
comprehensive Employee Assistance Programmes 
(EAP) for their workforce.

Continuous Professional Development: As has 
been the practice of the HR Committee, members 
contributed to their own capacity building and 
sk i l ls  enhancement  through Cont inuous 
Professional Development (CPD) programmes.  In 
the year under review, Newmont Ghana shared its 
“Inclusion & Diversity” programme with the rest of 
the members of the Committee. Newmont’s 
presentation highlighted the need for member 
companies to take deliberate steps to champion 
inclusion and diversity across their respective 
businesses. It also detailed some of the specific 
symbols of inclusion the organization had 
implemented to ensure female employees engaged 
have their needs taken care of.

2021 Negotiations and Staff Benefits: The 
members of the HR Committee led their respective 
management teams through salary negotiations 
and the review of Collective Agreements unabated 
despite the challenges posed by the Novel Corona 
Virus pandemic. The Human Resource and 
Operations Department collated data on staff 
benefits from member companies which provided 
the HR professionals with a database for reference 
during their respective negotiations. This exercise 
w a s  d o n e  t o  e n s u r e  t h a t  t h e  m i n i m u m 
requirements of staff benefits are met within the 
industry. Additionally, member companies agreed 
to adopt individual wage models which they believe 
is a more effective and economically sustainable 
option for the mining industry to control labour 
cost. 

GOVERNING BOARD OF THE TERTIARY 
EDUCATION FUND (TEF)

The Tertiary Education Fund (TEF) was set up in 
2019 to advance teaching, learning, research, and 
application of technological innovation in matters  

Ad-hoc Committee on Mental Health Policy 
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relevant to the mining industry.  The leadership of 
the Ghana Chamber of Mines agreed to dedicate 
the initial five (5) years of the Fund to students and 
faculty members of the University of Mines and 
Technology (UMaT). The Fund will be used to 
s u p p o r t  t h e  i m p r o v e m e n t  o f  U M a T ' s 
infrastructure and the provision of educational 
services.

In 2021, the Governing Board of the Tertiary 
Education Fund undertook the following 
initiatives:

Commencement of the Construction of the 
Ghana Chamber of Mines’ Faculty of Mining and 
Mineral Resources Building: The Governing 
Board in collaboration with the leadership of the 
Chamber and the University’s leadership held a 
ground-breaking ceremony ahead of  the 
construction of an ultra-modern, multi-purpose 
facility to support teaching and research at the 
University of Mines and Technology, Tarkwa. The 
facility, which is estimated at a cost of One Million, 
Two Hundred and Ten Thousand Dollars (US 
$1,210,000) will house the Mining and Minerals 
Resources Engineering Department of the 
University and is expected to be completed within 
five years. 

Provision of Educational Resources: To assist 
the University achieve its online learning objective 
and to improve its teaching coverage amidst the 
corona virus pandemic, the Tertiary Education 
Fund Governing Board procured a SMART 
Classroom Board for the University. The device is 
to facilitate virtual learning and enable the 
University to increase participation in its online 
courses. The total cost of the interactive board 
including training of lecturers amounted to One 

Hundred and Seventy-Three Thousand, Eight 
Hundred and Seventy-One Ghana Cedis, Sixty-Two 
pesewas (GH¢173,871.62).  

Bursary for under-graduate students: One of the 
support areas for the Fund is to provide financial 
assistance to brilliant and needy undergraduate 
students pursuing mining related courses. In 
2021, the Governing Board awarded bursaries to 
sixty-four (64) undergraduate students pursuing 
courses in mining engineering, electrical 
engineering, metallurgy, geology, and other mining 
related courses. The total amount of scholarships 
presented to the sixty-four (64) students was 
GHS207,000 the equivalent of US$58,672.12. 

Industry Training Programme: The Tertiary 
Education Fund Governing Board liaised with the 
Chamber’s Human Resource Practitioners’ 
Committee to offer the undergraduate students 
who benefited from the bursary programme, the 
opportunity to undergo industry training with 
member companies of the Chamber. Tailor-made 
training schedules were developed by the 
Governing Board to guide the trainees and the host 
mining companies to ensure focused training of 

Ground-breaking ceremony for the construction 
of the GCM Faculty of Mining and Mineral 
Resources Building at UMaT

Smart Classroom board for UMaT

Bursary for undergraduate students



32

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021

the students. The main objective of the Industry 
Training Programme is to prepare the selected 
students with requisite practical skills and 
certification for technical areas in the industry 
ahead of their graduation. This will also create a 
pool of talented and certified graduates ready for 
the industry. 

Research grant for faculty members and 
postgraduate students: The Tertiary Education 
Fund Governing Board collaborated with the 
Technical Committee of the Chamber to review 
research topics submitted by faculty members 
and postgraduate students. To promote research-
based solutions to the challenges of the mining 
industry, the Governing Board administered grants 
to three (3) faculty members and seven (7) 
postgraduate students of UMaT to the tune of 
US$29,870.00 and US$.29,372.00 respectively.

Secondments of Lecturers: In consonance with 
the Chamber’s vision to bridge the gap between 
academia and industry, the Tertiary Education 
Fund’s Governing Board partnered with producing 
member companies of the Chamber to grant 
secondment opportunities to the second cohort of 
eleven (11) lecturers at the mines.  The 
secondment  afforded the  lecturers  the 
opportunity to experience firsthand industrial 
application of the theories they teach at the 
University and to share knowledge with the host 
mining companies. Also, it allowed them to 
propose improvement ideas to their host mines. 

SUPPLY MANAGERS’ COMMITTEE 

The Supply Managers made significant strides to 
avert the impact of the Corona Virus pandemic on 
the activities of mining companies. In 2021, the 
Committee held four (4) virtual quarterly 
meetings to discuss pertinent issues affecting the 
supply chain profession of the mining industry and 
to share best practices amongst member 
companies. Among the issues addressed during 
the quarterly meetings of the Committee were:

Launch of Electrical Cable Standards: The 
Chamber facilitated the institution of the National 
Technical Committee (NTC) on electric cables, 
comprising of experts from the Ghana Standards 
Authority (GSA), Minerals Commission, Energy 
Commission, mining companies, power utility 
agencies, electrical consultants, academia, and 
local manufacturers of electrical cables. The 
Committee’s mandate was to develop national 
standards for electrical cables manufactured and 

supplied to the mining industry and potentially to 
other industries in the country. 

In the year under review, the Committee 
developed fifty (50) main and forty (40) normative 
standards to guide the local cable manufacturers 
in harmonizing their production of electrical 
cables to meet the demands of the mining 
industry. In collaboration with the Ghana 
Standards Authority, the Ghana Chamber of Mines 
launched the developed standards on March 30, 
2021.

Supply Chain Professionals Capabil i ty 
Development Programme: As part of the 
Committee’s efforts to meet the everchanging 
demands of the supply chain profession, members 
adopted strategies to enhance the capacities of 
future supply chain professionals who will work in 
the mining industry. In 2021, the Committee 
developed the first set of content on supply chain 
management and supply chain governance to 
influence the curricular of the supply chain 
students in selected tertiary institutions. One of 
the goals of the Committee is to practicalize and 
adapt the content of the students’ programme of 
study. 

Webinar on Grinding Media: As part of follow up 
efforts by the Ghana Chamber of Mines to improve 
local manufacturing and procurement of grinding 
media, the Human Resource and Operations 
Department facilitated a webinar on local 
manufacturing of grinding media in line with the 
organization’s aspiration to position Ghana as the 
hub for mine support services in West Africa. The 
webinar themed, “Local Manufacturing of Grinding 
Media – a Value Creation Opportunity in the Mining 
Industry” was aimed at identifying the challenges 
militating against the mining companies’ use of 
locally manufactured grinding media and to 

Launch of Electrical Cable Standards
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proffer solutions to bridge the gaps in order to 
meet the industry’s requirements. As well, the 
webinar was to guide in the development of a 
roadmap to realize the objectives of the webinar. 
The main speaker at the event was Prof. Richard 
Amankwah - Vice Chancellor of the University of 
Mines and Technology, a professional Minerals 
Engineer who has done significant work on 
grinding media for the mining industry in Ghana 
and in other West African countries. The 
participants of the event comprised of local and 
internat ional  manufacturers,  suppl iers , 
metallurgists, supply managers, lecturers, 
regulators, amongst others.  

AFFILIATE COMMITTEE

To achieve its goal of providing goods and services 
to the mineral right holders with minimal hiccups, 
the Affiliate Committee held four (4) quarterly 
meetings in the year under review. The Committee 
engaged stakeholders to address issues 
influencing their operations.

These issues included:

Mining Desk of the Customs Division of Ghana 
Revenue Authority: Following the transition of 
the ports system from GCNet to Integrated 
Customs Management System (ICUMS), 
members raised concerns about the challenges of 
the transition to the new system and how it had 
negatively impacted their businesses. As part of 
the Chamber Secretariat’s efforts to help 
m e m b e r s  m i t i g a t e  t h e  c h a l l e n g e s ,  t h e 
Department facilitated a meeting with the 
Commissioner General of the Ghana Revenue 
Authority for a special desk to be set up at the 
Authority to attend to the needs of the mine 
support service companies. Through this 
engagement, a mining desk was established at the 
GRA office at Agbogbloshie to focus on the 
specific needs of the mining industry.

Extra-ordinary meeting with KPMG: The Human 
Resource and Operations Department facilitated 
an extra-ordinary meeting between the Affiliate 
Committee and a team from KPMG on the 
Government of Ghana’s 2021 Budget statement 
and its impact on the mining industry.

Industrial Visit: The leadership of the Chamber 
paid a working visit to Carmeuse Lime Products to 
familiarize themselves with their operations and 
get first-hand information on challenges facing 

their operations. The visit was part of the 
Secretariat’s initiatives of touching base with its 
members to proffer solutions to some of the 
challenges hampering their operations.

EXPLORATION COMMITTEE

The Exploration Committee in the year under 
review held four (4) quarterly committee 
meetings to deliberate on issues impacting their 
operations. The Committee made significant 
strides in their engagements with stakeholders. 
These included;

Engagement with Ghana Institution of Surveyors: 
In the year under review, the Human Resource 
and Operations Department continued to engage 
the Ghana Institution of Surveyors on behalf of 
the Exploration Committee as part of stakeholder 
measures undertaken to reduce the high 
exploration cost in Ghana. As part of the 
Chamber’s proactive measures to make 
exploration in Ghana more competitive to our 
neighbours in the sub-region, the Human 
Resource and Operations Department engaged 
the Ghana Institution of Surveyors in the previous 
year on the possibility of signing a Memorandum 
of Understanding (MoU) to address the 
aforementioned concern. The Institution 
submitted a draft Memorandum of Understanding 

Industrial visit to Carmeuse Lime Products
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(MoU) and schedule of rates to the members of 
the Committee for consideration. 

Renewal of Tenements: In the year under review, 
the Human Resource and Operations Department 
facilitated the renewal of the tenements of most 
members which improved the progress of work 
done by the industry in terms of exploration. 

Engagement with Chief Inspector of Mines: In 
2021, the Committee engaged the Chief 
Inspector of Mines on the career development 
path of geologists working at the mines. The 
discussions with the Chief Inspector of Mines led 
to the development of a distinct career path for 
geologists in the mining industry. 

2022 and Way Forward

HUMAN RESOURCE COMMITTEE

In the coming year, the Department together with 
the Human Resource Committee will liaise with 
the relevant stakeholders to address the 
following issues:

Implementation of Mental Health Policy for the 
mining industry: The Department will liaise with 
the HR Committee and others to ensure that the 
Mental Health Policy is finalized and implemented 
in the various member companies of the Chamber. 

Negotiations: As has been the annual practice, 
the Department will continue to provide the 
necessary support to member companies during 
their negotiations. The Department will share 
with members, database on the salaries, 
allowances and benefits of employees to guide 
them in their negotiations. Members will be 
encouraged to carry out their negotiations and 
collective agreement reviews in good faith. 

Workshops and Seminars: The Department will 
continue to collaborate with the HR Committee to 
arrange workshops and seminars that will 
enhance the capacities of HR professionals in the 
mining industry.

National Human Resource Conference: In the 
coming year, the Department will proceed to work 
with the HR Committee to organize the 5th 
National Human Resource Conference. The event 
will provide a platform for stakeholders to 
strategize on how to meet the labour demands of 
an increasingly technological driven mining 
industry. 

AFFILIATE COMMITTEE

Local Content Workshop: In collaboration with 
the Supply Managers Committee, the Affiliate 
Committee will work together to ensure that the 
Local Content Workshop which had not been 
organized since 2020 due to the advent of the 
Corona Virus Disease, will be held in 2022. The 
Local Content Workshops are held to discuss the 
challenges facing mining firms and their suppliers 
especially as it relates to local content.

Engagements with Minerals Commission: The 
Department will facilitate a meeting between the 
Minerals Commission and the Affiliate members 
which will afford the latter the opportunity to be 
educated on aspects of the Minerals and Mining 
(Local Content and Local Participation) 
Regulations 2020, (L.I 2431) which will positively 
impact the operations of the mine support service 
companies. 

Industrial Visits: In the coming year, the 
Department will continue its initiative of visiting 
member companies to familiarize itself with their 
operations and also get firsthand information on 
their challenges and proffer possible solutions for 
them. 

SUPPLY MANAGERS’ COMMITTEE

In 2022, the Human Resource and Operations 
Department will facilitate engagements between 
the Supply Managers’ Committee and relevant 
stakeholders to address the following issues:

Supply Chain Financing Programme: As part of 
the next steps of the Supply Chain Financing 
Programme, the Department will liaise with 
members of the Supply Managers’ Committee and 
the Tender Committee to finalize and launch the 
programme. 

Development of 2nd Phase of Electrical Cable 
Standards: The Department will continue to 
facilitate the work of the National Technical 
Committee on Electrical Cable to complete the 
second phase of the standards for electric cables 
being produced locally for the mining industry. 
This second phase will focus on developing 
standards for handling, transporting, and 
installing electrical cable.

Supply Chain Professionals Capabil ity 
Development Programme: As part of the next 
steps for the Programme, the Department will 
col laborate  with  the  Supply  Managers ’ 



Committee to roll  out the Supply Chain 
Profess ionals ’  Capab i l i t y  Development 
Programme in selected tertiary institutions. 

Exclusive Marketing Forum: In collaboration 
with relevant stakeholders, the Supply Managers’ 
Committee will organize the Exclusive Marketing 
Forum event in 2022. The event will seek to bring 
various players in the mining industry together 
and afford them the opportunity to showcase 
their products.

TERTIARY EDUCATION FUND

In the coming year the Governing Board of the 
Tertiary Education Fund will embark on the 
following:

Industry Training Programme: The Governing 
Board of the Tertiary Education Fund will continue 
to liaise with the Technical and Human Resource 
C o m m i t t e e s  o f  t h e  C h a m b e r  t o  o f f e r 
undergraduates from the University of Mines and 
Technology (UMaT) the opportunity to undertake 
their industrial training during their vacations.

Provision of Educational Resources:  In 
consultation with the University, the Governing 
Board will provide the University of Mines and 
Technology (UMaT) with the necessary support to 
procure educational resources which will 
enhance teaching and learning. 

Research grant for postgraduate students and 
faculty members: To promote research in the 
mining industry, the Governing Board will 
continue to provide the necessary support to 

postgraduate students and faculty members to 
carry out mining related research. The Governing 
Board will welcome research topics from industry 
and make same available to the lecturers and 
postgraduate students at the University of Mines 
and Technology while they provide funding.

Bursary for undergraduate students: The 
Governing Board will continue to provide 
scholarships to support undergraduate students 
at the University of Mines and Technology who 
meet the criteria for the GCM-TEF’s Bursary 
Programme.

EXPLORATION COMMITTEE

In 2022, the Department will liaise with the 
C o m m i t t e e  a n d  e n g a g e  w i t h  r e l e v a n t 
stakeholders to address the following issues:

Engagement with Ghana Institution of 
Surveyors: The Department will continue to 
engage the Ghana Institution of Surveyors to 
explore the possibility of signing a Memorandum 
of Understanding with the Chamber which will 
give members of the Chamber a special 
dispensation on the rates charged by regional 
surveyors.

Renewal Tenements: The Department will 
continue to engage with the Minerals Commission 
to expedite action on the renewal of tenements of 
member companies. The Department is hopeful 
that with the introduction of the online services by 
the Commission, tenement renewals will be done 
within the shortest possible period of time.
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Overview of the Department of Analysis, 
Research, and Finance
The overarching objective of the Department of 
Analysis, Research, and Finance is to provide 
credible and relevant information on the minerals 
and mining sector. The publications of the 
Department underpin the advocacy priorities of 
the Chamber and inform public discourse on the 
role  of  the  min ing industr y  in  nat ional 
development. Its mandate also includes the 
analysis of laws, policies, and directives that have 
a bearing on the outcomes of the mining sector as 
well as the socio-economic development of 
mining communities.
 
Further, the Department has also been the 
coordinating partner for the implementation of 
the National Assay Programme since its 
introduction in the large-scale gold sector in 
2018. The Department’s scope of work under the 
Programme is analogous to a clearing house, 
which includes notifying the national assayer, 
Precious Minerals Marketing Company (PMMC), 
of the schedules for smelting and shipment of 
doré of producing member companies, facilitating 
payments for  statutor y assay ser vices, 
transmitting statutory assay reports to producing 
mines and refinery reports of member companies 
to PMMC as well as analysis of PMMC’s assay 
reports and refinery returns.

As well, the Department has been coordinating 
the mining industry’s response to the COVID-19 
pandemic since the country’s first case of the viral 
disease was recorded in March 2020. Specifically, 
the Department has been at the forefront of the 
C h a m b e r ’ s  e n d e a v o u r s  t o  s u p p l e m e n t 
government’s efforts to procure COVID-19 
vaccines for the country.

The outputs of the Department, which are mainly 
in the form of research publications, position 
papers, policy briefs, and other related literature, 
do not only respond to the publics’ demand for up-
to-date information on the minerals sector but 
also serve as useful reference materials for policy 
formulation by government and its development 
partners. Moreover, these materials form the 
basis of the Chamber’s engagements with central 
government, parastatals, researchers, civil 

society organizations, and other stakeholders. 
The information published by the Department is 
a i m e d  a t  i m p r o v i n g  k n o w l e d g e  o f  t h e 
contributions of member companies and the 
larger mining industry to national development. 
Overall, the activities of the Department 
c o n t r i b u t e  t o  d e e p e n i n g  s t a k e h o l d e r s ’ 
appreciation of the value proposition and 
challenges of the minerals and mining industry.

The activities of the Department are undertaken 
with the support of four (4) committees: Security, 
Technical, Energy, as well as Finance and Budget 
Committees. The mandate of the Security 
Committee borders on fostering a secured 
environment for mining activities, safeguarding 
mining assets and lives as well as supporting the 
Chamber’s engagements with the state security 
agencies. On the other hand, the Technical 
Committee is responsible for the promotion of 
technology and innovation, resolving issues 
bordering on the technical aspects of mining, and 
sharing best practices in health and safety. 
Penultimately, the scope of activities carried out 
by the Energy Committee relates to ensuring price 
competitiveness and security of supply of 
electricity and diesel, which are the main forms of 
energy used by mining companies. The committee 
also facilitates members’ transition to clean and 
low carbon energy sources as well as the 
Chamber’s engagements with public and private 
utility companies. Lastly, the Finance and Budget 
Committee has a dual role of supervising the 
preparation and execution of the Secretariat’s 
budget and assisting the Secretariat on fiscal and 
economic issues that have a bearing on the 
activities of member companies and the larger 
mining sector.

In 2021, the Department’s activities were 
primarily targeted at improving the business 
environment for member companies, mitigating 
the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the 
operations of member companies, as well as 
positively influencing policies on the mining 
sector. The next section discusses the main 
act iv i t ies  that  were under taken by  the 
Department in 2021 with the support of the 
various committees.

ACTIVITY REPORT OF THE DEPARTMENT OF ANALYSIS, RESEARCH AND FINANCE
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Security Committee
The membership of the Security Committee 
comprises representatives from the producing 
member companies, Minerals Commission, and 
state security agencies. Whereas the producing 
members are represented by their respective 
chieftains of security, the Minerals Commission, 
which is a co-opted member is represented by the 
Chief Inspector of Mines. As well, the state 
security agencies: Ghana Army, Ghana Police 
Service, Bureau of National Investigations, and 
National Security Council Secretariat, which are 
also co-opted members, are usually represented 
by senior officers. In 2021, the Director-General 
of Operations of the Ghana Police Service, DCOP 
Mohammed F. Suraji, took part in the deliberations 
of the committee.

In the year under review, the committee’s 
quarterly meetings were held virtually due to the 
restrictions on public gatherings induced by the 
outbreak of COVID-19. These meetings were 
hosted by Golden Star Wassa Ltd, Ghana 
Manganese Company, Gold Fields Ghana Ltd, and 
Perseus Mining (Ghana) Ltd. Relative to previous 
year, the security landscape of the mining sector 
in 2021 was generally characterized by brazen 
attacks on mining companies. Some of the major 
incidents recorded in the period include violent 
attacks on private and state security personnel at 
mine sites, assault employees, breach of 
e x p l o s i v e  m a g a z i n e s ,  c o m m u n i t y 
demonstrations, destruction of mine assets, and 
encroachment of concessions by illegal miners. 
To abate the deteriorating security climate at the 
m i n e s ,  t h e  g o v e r n m e n t  a u t h o r i z e d  t h e 
deployment  of  pol ice  personnel  to  the 
concessions of producing member companies of 

the Chamber in May 2021. As well, Capt. Justice 
J. Saltson (Rtd) took over from Mr. George 
Anyema as the Chairman of the Committee for the 
period 2021 to 2023. The major activities that 
were carried out under the collaborative auspices 
of the Secretariat and the committee are as 
follows:

Engagement with the Ministry of Lands and 
Natural Resources on Security Issues in the 
Mining Sector
The Chief Executive Officer of the Chamber, Mr. 
Sulemanu Koney, led a team from the Secretariat 
to interact with the then Minister-Designate for 
Lands and Natural Resources, Hon. Samuel Abu 
Jinapor, on 3rd February 2021. He informed the 
Sector Minister-Designate that the security 
situation in the mining industry worsened after 
the government withdrew military personnel 
from the mines and proscribed other state 
security agencies from having a permanent 
presence at the mines in 2019. 

Further, he briefed him that the resulting hike in 
security breaches persuaded the government to 
reconsider its stance on the deployment of state 
security personnel to the mines. He recounted 
that the Chamber engaged with the Minister for 
National Security, Hon. Albert Kan Dapaah, 
Minister for Finance, Hon. Ken Ofori-Atta, and 
National Security Advisor, Brig. Gen Emmanuel 
Okyere, in 2020 and added that the discussions 
led to a decision to deploy police officers to the 
various mines. Since the officers were yet to be 
deployed, the CEO solicited the Sector Minister-
Designate’s support in that regard. 

In his response, the Sector Minister-Designate 
mentioned that the withdrawal of the military 
personnel was to avert a situation where some 
unscrupulous officers would leverage the mines’ 
resources to destabilize the country. He assured 
the Chamber that he would liaise with the 
Ministry of the Interior and Inspector General of 
Police to expedite the deployment of police 
personnel to the mines.

Interaction on Deployment of Police 
Personnel to the Mines
Following his confirmation as the Minister for 
Lands and Natural Resources, Hon. Samuel A. 
Jinapor, convened a meeting among the Minister 
for Information, Hon. Kojo Oppong Nkrumah, the 
then Inspector General of Police, Mr. James 

 Some members of the Security 
Committee and State Security Agents
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Oppong-Boanuh, and the Ghana Chamber of 
Mines on 22nd April 2021. The meeting developed 
a framework to govern the deployment of police 
personnel to the mines. As well, the parties 
constituted a committee that was chaired by a 
Deputy Minister for Lands and Natural Resources, 
Hon. George Mireku-Duker, to oversee the orderly 
deployment of the officers to the mines and 
evaluate their performance. The other members 
of the Committee were the Deputy Minister for 
Information, Hon. Fatimatu Abubakar, Chief 
Executive Officer of the Ghana Chamber of Mines, 
Mr. Sulemanu Koney, the then Director-General of 
Police Operations, COP Kweku Boadu Peprah, and 
the Director of Operations, Supt. Henry Ayisi 
Mensah.

Training and Deployment of Police Personnel 
to the Mines
The Ghana Police Service authorized the training 
and deployment of two hundred (200) police 
personnel to the concessions of some producing 
member companies of the Chamber. The training, 
which took place from 26th April to 5th May 2021 

at the Police Training School in Winneba, was 
resourced by a team of senior police officers and 
representatives of the Ghana Chamber of Mines. 
Specifically, the mining industry representatives 

were the Chamber’s Solicitor, Mrs. Sheila Minkah-
Premo, Senior Security Supervisor at Newmont 
Ghana Gold Ltd, Mr. Isaac Barnie Awuah, and an 
Environmental Consultant of the Chamber, Nana 
Andoh. Their presentations focused on the mining 
statutes, Voluntary Principles on Security and 
Human Rights, and chemicals used in the mining 
industry. 

A closing ceremony was held on 6th May 2021 to 
climax the training programme. The high-level 
officials that took part in the ceremony include a 
Deputy Minister of Lands and Natural Resources, 
Hon. George Mireku Duker, Deputy Minister of 
Information, Hon. Fatimatu Abubakar, and the 
Chief Executive Officer of the Ghana Chamber of 
Mines, Mr. Sulemanu Koney. Subsequently, the 
police personnel were deployed to ten (10) 
producing member companies to complement 
their private security guards.

Interaction with the Ministry of National 
Security
The Ministry of National Security published the 
maiden national security strategy in 2020 and 
walked the Security Committee through the 
strategy at its second quarter meeting that was 
held on 29th June 2021. The Technical Director of 
the Ministr y,  Mr.  Ben Dere,  del ivered a 
presentation that focused on the domestic and 
external threats confronting Ghana as well as the 
strategic responses to the identified threats. He 
also seized the opportunity to assure the 
Chamber of the Ministry’s support in protecting 
mining concessions, particularly in the wake of 
heightened jihadi-style attacks on mines in the 
sub-region.

The Sector Minister with the Minister of Information 
and other dignitaries 

The Chamber’s Resource Faculty with the Trainee Police 

 The Deputy Ministers of Lands and Natural Resources and 
Information with the CEO of the Chamber of Mines and 
instructors of the Training Programme
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Meeting with the Inspector General of Police 
Following the appointment of Dr. George Akuffo 
Dampare as the Acting Inspector General of 
Police, the Chief Executive Officer of the Ghana 
Chamber of Mines, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, led a 
delegation of the Security Committee to pay a 
courtesy call on him. The interaction, which took 
place on 12th August 2021, focused on 
strengthening the relationship between both 
parties and the finalization of the Memorandum of 
Understanding (MoU) governing the deployment 
of police officers to the mines. 

Interaction with the Director-General of 
Operations of Ghana Police Service
The Chief Executive of the Ghana Chamber of 
Mines, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, and a delegation of 
members of the Security Committee interacted 
with the newly appointed Director-General of 
Operations, DCOP Mohammed F. Suraji, on 10th 
September 2021. He underscored the Police 
Service’s commitment to dealing with illegal 
mining and insecurity in mining communities. He 
also broached his intention to support the 
Chamber’s proposal on setting up a dedicated 
police unit for the mining industry. On its part, the 
Chamber assured him of its support and 
cooperation in executing his mandate. Following 
the discussions, DCOP Suraji took part in a 
meeting of the Security Committee that was held 
on 29th September 2021, where he broached his 
intention to visit the mines in 2022.

Engagements on Voluntary Principles on 
Security and Human Rights
The Ghana Chamber of Mines continued to play a 
leading role in the activities of the In-Country 
Working Group (ICWG) on Voluntary Principles on 
Security and Human Rights (VPSHR). The 
Secretariat participated in the quarterly meetings 
that were held on 31st March and 23rd June 2021. 
In the year under review, the ICWG received the 
baseline report on human rights and security in 
the extractive sector from the consultant that 
was engaged to undertake the study, the 
Commission on Human Rights and Administrative 
Justice (CHRAJ). Further, the consultant that 
was contracted to develop a curriculum on 
VPSHR, Mr. Ernest Ansah Lartey, delivered an 
interim report to the ICWG. As well, the Voluntary 
Principles Association (VPA) granted a no-cost 
extension to the ICWG to complete the previously 
mentioned studies in 2021. 

Technical Committee
The membership of the Technical Committee 
could be categorized into two broad groups. The 
fi r s t  c o h o r t  o f  m e m b e r s  c o m p r i s e s 
representatives of producing mines, Affiliates, 
Contract Mining, and Exploration member 
companies. While the producing mines are 
represented by their Mining and Health and Safety 
Managers, the others have a representative each 
on the committee. The other group, which is made 
up of co-opted members, is drawn from Associate 
members and they include the Minerals 
Commission and the University of Mines and 
Technology (UMaT). The Minerals Commission is 
represented by the Chief Inspector of Mines while 
UMaT is represented by a senior faculty member.        

In the previous year, the Committee held its 
quarterly meetings virtually due to the pandemic-
induced restrictions on public gatherings. The 
meetings were hosted by Golden Star Wassa Ltd, 
Ghana Manganese Company, Gold Fields Ghana 

A meeting of the In-Country Working Group on 
Voluntary Principles on Security and Human Rights

Some members of the Technical Committee 
at Newmont’s Ahafo mine



Ltd, and Perseus Mining (Ghana) Ltd. In the year 
under review, Mr. Stephen Asante Yamoah took 
over from Mr. Andy A.A. Amoah as the Chairman of 
the committee for the period 2021 to 2023. The 
activities that were undertaken by the committee 
with the support of the Secretariat are 
summarized in the next section.

Inter-Mines First Aid and Safety Competition
In 2021, the structure of the Inter-Mines First Aid 
and Safety Competition was modified to respond 
to the COVID-19 outbreak. In lieu of hosting the 
practical component of the competition in the 
precincts of mining companies, it was hosted on 
national television alongside the oral component 
as a live event on the “What do you know?” quiz 
programme of GTV. 

In zone one (1), AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem Ltd 
emerged as the winner after an exhilarating 

1 contest. Likewise, the zone two (2) contest was 
won by Adamus Resources Ltd while Chirano Gold 
Mines Ltd was the winner of the zone three (3) 
competition. Together with the host of the 
national competition, FGR Bogoso Prestea Ltd, 
the aforesaid companies competed for the 
ultimate award of the Inter-Mines First Aid and 
Safety Competition. 

Following a keen contest, Adamus Resources Ltd 
was crowned the winner of the 2021 national 
edition of the Inter-Mines First Aid and Safety 
Competition. It was a remarkable feat for the 
mining firm since it was their first time winning 
the more than forty-year-old competition. The 
results of the competition are summarized in 
Table 1.0.

Table1.0: Results of 2021 Inter-Mines First Aid 
and Safety Competition

Ahead of the climax of the national competition, 
some members of the Technical Committee and 
the Chief Executive Officer of the Ghana Chamber 
of Mines, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, discussed various 
topics on health and safety on selected media 
platforms. These include all the media houses of 
Multimedia Ltd, Citi FM, Peace FM, and GTV. 

In line with previous years’ practices, an essay 
contest was organized for students in the 
catchment communities of the mining companies 
that participated in the Inter-Mines First Aid and 
Safety Competition. Following the zonal and 
national contests, Master Assan Atta Mensah of 
Golden Star Basic School, emerged as the winner 
of the 2021 edition of the Inter-Mines Essay 
Contest. In addition to receiving souvenirs from 
the Secretariat, the best three candidates in the 

 Contestants at the studio of GTV

1 FGR Bogoso Prestea Ltd was the winner of the contest. Since it was hosting the national competition, the second-best team 
was allowed to progress to the national edition of the competition as per the rules governing the contest.

Zone Name of Mine Position

One (1)

AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem Ltd 1st

FGR Bogoso Prestea Ltd 1st

Gold Fields Ghana Ltd 3rd

Ghana Manganese Company 4th

Two (2)

Adamus Resources Ltd 1st

Newmont Golden Ridge Ltd 2nd

Abosso Goldfields Ltd 3rd

Golden Star Wassa Ltd 4th

Three (3)

Chirano Gold Mines Ltd 1st

Perseus Mining (Ghana) Ltd 2nd

Newmont Ghana Gold Ltd 3rd

Asanko Gold Ltd 4th

National

Adamus Resources Ltd 1st

FGR Bogoso Prestea Ltd 2nd

Chirano Gold Mines Ltd 3rd

AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem Ltd 4th
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essay contest were also recognized at the 2021 
Ghana Mining Industry Awards. Each student 
received a bursary and educational materials for 
themselves and their schools. 

COVID-19 Vaccination Support Programme
Further to a decision of the Chamber’s Council to 
support the government with US$ 3.2 million 
worth of COVID-19 vaccines, the Secretariat 
sought to leverage KPMG’s COVID-19 Private 
Sector Fund to procure and administer the 
vaccines. The Chamber’s support was informed 
by the government’s challenges in raising revenue 
to procure the COVID-19 vaccines and the 
difficulty in procuring the vaccines.

Against this backdrop, the Secretariat signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with 
KPMG and the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Chamber, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, was appointed as 
a trustee of the Fund. 

Incident Notification and Emergency Response 
Portal
The Incident Notification and Emergency 
Response Portal was launched in 2020 to serve as 
a medium for sharing information on incidents and 
other notable developments at the mines as well 
as soliciting support from other mines and state 
emergency service providers in times of crisis. 
After a test run, the Secretariat granted access to 
persons nominated by the various member 
companies and walked them through how to 
share information on the portal. The use of the 
portal in sharing information was relatively low in 
2021 due to a variety of reasons, including 
internal processes related to sharing information. 
In 2022, the Secretariat will address some of 
these teething challenges to encourage the 
dissemination of information via the portal.

Engagements on Local Refining of Dore

Meeting with the Office of the Vice President 
on the Domestic Gold Purchase Programme
The Chief Executive Officer of the Ghana Chamber 
of Mines, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, led a delegation of 
chieftains of the mining industry to a meeting with 
the Vice President, H.E. Alhaji Dr. Mahamudu 
Bawumia, on 24th May 2021 at the Jubilee House. 
The pith of the interaction was on the Bank of 
Ghana’s Domestic Gold Purchase Programme. 
Under the Programme, the Bank of Ghana would 
purchase gold from domestic producers, both 
small and large-scale producers, in the local 
currency (Ghana Cedis) and count the gross value 
of its gold holdings as part of the reserve or 
foreign currency. This measure was also to 
diversify the systemic risk associated with 
holding reserve assets in foreign currencies such 
as the United States Dollar.

Against this backdrop, H.E. the Vice President 
requested the producing member companies of 
the Chamber to sell a portion of their gold output 
to the central bank. The Chamber agreed to 
participate in the Programme and undertook 
steps to engage with the Bank of Ghana to finalize 
the transaction terms. The Bank of Ghana 
apprised the Chamber of its intention to launch 
the Programme in June 2021 and shared its 
schedule of gold purchases with the Chamber.

Launch of the Domestic Gold Purchase 
Programme
The Secretariat honoured an invitation by the 
Bank of Ghana to participate in the launch of its 

Nana Andoh and Mr. Philip Thompson discussing an 
issue on the Breakfast show on GTV

 Students getting ready to write their essays
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Domestic Gold Purchase Programme that took 
place on 17th June 2021. In his address, the 
Governor of the Bank of Ghana, Dr. Ernest 
Addison, explained that the Programme involved 
the purchase of domestically produced gold from 
selected aggregators and mining firms at the 
prevailing market price using the local currency. 
According to him, the Precious Minerals 
Marketing Company (PMMC) would assay the 
doré purchased under the Programme on behalf 
of the Bank and the suppliers would be paid within 
forty-eight (48) hours. He added that the doré 
would be refined in a London Bullion Market 
Association-certified refinery and vaulted at a 
destination of its choice. In the initial phase of the 
Programme, the Governor mentioned that only 
one firm (Asanska Jewellery Ltd) has been 
appointed as the aggregator of gold purchased 
from the small-scale sector and that additional 
aggregators would be appointed over time. 
Overall, he indicated that the Bank’s intent was to 
double its current gold holdings of 8.77 tonnes by 
2026. 

 Interaction with the Managing Director of 
Precious Minerals Marketing Company
The then Ag. Managing Director of Precious 
Minerals Marketing Company (PMMC), Nana 
Akwasi Awuah, paid a courtesy call on the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Ghana Chamber of Mines, 
Mr. Sulemanu Koney, on 8th March 2021. The 
central theme of the discussions was the joint 
venture refinery of PMMC and an Indian investor, 
Rosy Royal Minerals Ltd. The Managing Director 
of PMMC mentioned that the installation of 
equipment in the refinery, Royal Ghana Gold 
Refinery Ltd, was almost completed and that the 
refinery would be completed in the last quarter of 
2021 or in the early part of 2022. He also stated 
that the refinery would source its raw material 
from the small-scale gold sector and that the 
government would engage the Chamber on 
sourcing additional raw material from its member 
companies.

In-Country Refining of Gold Doré
The Minister for Lands and Natural Resources, 
Hon. Samuel A. Jinapor, inaugurated a Joint 
Sector Ministry and Ghana Chamber of Mines 
Committee on the Mining Sector on 27th October 
2021. Among others, the mandate of the 
committee, which is chaired by a Deputy Minister 
for Lands and Natural Resources, Hon. George 
Mireku Duker, includes advising the Sector 

Minister on matters relating to the mining sector 
as well as providing guidance on the adoption and 
implementation of policies and programmes in 
the mining sector. A key issue that was considered 
at the inaugural meeting of the committee on 27th 
October 2021 was the government’s programme 
on in-country refining of doré. The Deputy Minister 
mentioned that the government intends to 
request mining firms to refine between 30 per 
cent and 50 per cent of their doré with local 
refineries. He also informed members that the 
government has already set up a multi-agency 
committee to coordinate efforts to secure a 
London Bullion Market Association (LBMA) 
accreditation for the state-sponsored Royal 
Ghana Gold Refinery Ltd. He added that a local 
refining policy would be discussed with the 
relevant stakeholders and that the outcomes 
would be forwarded to Parliament in the form of a 
bill. On his part, the Chief Executive Officer of the 
Ghana Chamber of Mines, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, 
assured the Deputy Minister of the Chamber’s 
cooperation in developing a framework to guide 
the local refining of doré.  

Engagement with Rand Refinery Ltd
The Head of Sourcing and Business Development 
of Rand Refinery, Mr. Jason McPherson, 
participated in a virtual meeting with the 
Chamber’s Council that was held on 26th 
November 2021. His presentation explored the 
possibility of establishing a London Bullion 
Market Association (LBMA)-certified refinery in 
Ghana or partnering with existing refineries in 
Ghana to serve the West African market. He 
averred that the refinery had already engaged the 
Sector Minister, Minerals Commission and 
Precious Minerals Marketing Company (PMMC) in 
that regard. Furthermore, he explained that the 
thrust of his meeting with the Ghana Chamber of 
Mines was to find out whether the gold-producing 
member companies would be inclined to use the 
services of an LBMA-accredited local refinery. 
Council was generally in support of local refining 
insofar as the refinery was accredited by the 
LBMA.

Due Diligence on Local Refinery
As part of the Ghana Chamber of Mines’ efforts to 
facilitate in-country refining of doré, it engaged 
the services of a legal firm, Bentsi-Enchill, Letsa 
and Ankomah (BELA), to undertake due diligence 
on the Indian partner involved in the joint venture 
refinery with the Precious Minerals Marketing 
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Company (PMMC). After discussing the scope of 
work, BELA sub-contracted an Indian law firm, 
Tri-legal, to support in executing the assignment. 
The Secretariat has since signed a contract with 
BELA in respect of the assignment. 

National Consultative Dialogue on Small-scale 
Mining
The Chamber honoured an invitation by the 
Ministry for Lands and Natural Resources to 
participate in the maiden national and regional 
consultative dialogues on small-scale mining. The 
national edition of the dialogue, which took place 
from 14th to 15th April 2021, was opened by the 
President, H.E. Nana Addo Dankwa Akufo-Addo. 
Other dignitaries that addressed the event 
included the Sector Minister, President of the 
Ghana Chamber of Mines, Mr. Eric Asubonteng, 
and the Director of Finance of the Ghana National 
Association of Small-scale Miners, Mr. Francis 
O p o k u .  T h e  d i a l o g u e  c o n c l u d e d  w i t h  a 
communique that outlined the stakeholders’ 
priorities on how to tackle the menace of illegal 
m i n i n g  a n d  i t s  a t t e n d a n t  d e l e t e r i o u s 
consequences on the environment. The Technical 
Committee also submitted policy proposals on 
how to reform the small-scale sector to the 
Sector Ministry through the Secretariat.

In consonance with the Chamber’s commitment 
to supporting local manufacturing and mining 
support service firms, the committee usually 
provides opportunities for such partners to 
interact with members. In 2021, the firms that 
engaged with the committee include Mining 
Tools Ghana Pty Ltd.

Interactions with the Inspectorate Division of 
Minerals Commission
The Inspectorate Division of the Minerals 
Commission (IDMC) is a unit of the Minerals 
Commission that is responsible for the technical 
regulation of the mining activities. The scope of its 
mandate, which is derived from the Minerals and 
Mining Act, 2006 (Act 703), ranges from the 
technical aspects of mining to issues bordering on 
health, safety, and the environment. Owing to its 
primacy in the mining industry, the Secretariat 
liaises closely with the head of the Division, the 
Chief Inspector of Mines (CIM), with the 
objective of improving the regulatory outcomes in 
the sector. In that regard, the Secretariat holds 
ad-hoc or structured engagements with the CIM 
to discuss mining-related issues that fall within 
the regulatory purview of the IDMC.

The forum of the Technical Committee was the 
main medium for formal discussions between the 
IDMC and the Ghana Chamber of Mines. In 2021, 
the Chief Inspector of Mines, Mr. Richard Kofi 
Adjei, or his representative took part in all the 
quarterly meetings and leveraged the forum to 
share investigative reports on incidents, statutory 
reporting requirements, sensitization on relevant 
sections of the mining statutes, senior mine 
officials’ examinations, and statutory fees for its 
services.

Industry-Academia Collaborations
In line with the Ghana Chamber of Mines’ efforts 
to deepen the relationship between academia and 
the mining industry as well as promote pedagogy, 
the Technical Committee continued to provide 
adjunct faculty support to the University of Mines 
and Technology as well as other tertiary 
institutions. In the year under review, the 
committee provided opportunities for faculty 
members of UMaT and other tertiary institutions 
to share their research with members and receive 
valuable insights to improve their work. A 
postdoctoral researcher at the University of 
Newcastle, Dr. Winifred Asare-Doku, shared the 
findings of a study entitled “Mental health and 
workplace Factors: Comparison of the Ghanaian 
and Australian mining industry”. The main findings 
of the study were as follows: 
?Those who worked less than eight (8) hours had 
a higher risk of psychological distress (reflective 
of underemployment hence less remuneration) 
and those who worked twelve (12) hours or more 
also reported a higher risk of psychological 
distress

· Excessive risky or hazardous alcohol levels 
were an extreme behaviour in the Ghanaian 
setting and may therefore be an important 
s i g n a l  o f  u n d e r l y i n g  e m o t i o n a l  o r 
psychological problems for mineworkers

· For both countries, a higher social network 
was associated with  a  lower  r isk  of 
psychological distress and in Ghana, a high 
social network was associated with lower 
risky alcohol levels

The publication also made the following 
recommendations:

· Work structures, design, and policies in the 
Ghanaian mining companies should consider 
physical, psychological, social, organisational, 
and cultural factors that promote the mental 
well-being of mineworkers.
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· Both countries may benefit from implementing 
health promotion programmes as part of a 
health and safety policy that includes a focus 
on alcohol use outside of the workplace.

· The study highlights the importance of an 
integrated occupational health and safety 
policy.

· The mining industry in Australia has developed 
and incorporated mental health programs and 
interventions in health and safety, which 
provides an opportunity to guide similar 
interventions in the Ghanaian context.

· A multicomponent framework that promotes 
peer and manager support as part of the 
broader organisational support should be 
encouraged.

Further, the committee provided an opportunity 
for the Radiation Protection Institute of the 
Ghana Atomic Energy Commission to present a 
proposal to undertake a baseline study on 
exposure to radon gas at the mines. The proposal 
has since been approved by the Chamber’s 
Council for implementation.

Lastly, the committee assisted the Governing 
Board of the Ghana Chamber of Mines Tertiary 
Education Fund to select research proposals from 
the faculty members of UMaT that should be 
supported by the Fund. 

National Assay Programme
The Ghana Chamber of Mines continued to assist 
the Precious Minerals Marketing Company 
(PMMC) in the implementation of the National 
Assay Programme. The Chamber’s support was 
mainly in the form of technical and administrative 
support. In terms of the technical aspect of the 
Programme, the Secretariat analyzed the assay 
results of PMMC and refineries of member 
companies to ascertain whether there were 
significant differences and if they were within the 
tolerable range or otherwise. More so, the 
administrative support was primarily to facilitate 
the movement of officials of PMMC to the gold 
room of producing member companies as well as 
the payment of fees for statutory assay services 
rendered to members. 

Energy Committee
The membership of the Energy Committee is 
drawn from the producing member companies 

a n d  e n e r g y  s e c t o r  p a r a s t a t a l s .  T h e 
representatives of the Chamber’s producing 
member companies are heads of electrical and 
instrumentation departments and other 
professionals that oversee their energy needs. On 
the other hand, the energy sector parastatals are 
co-opted members drawn mainly from the 
National Petroleum Authority (NPA), Volta River 
Authority (VRA), Ghana Grid Company Ltd 
(GRIDCo), Energy Commission and the Electricity 
Market Oversight Panel (EMOP).  

In 2021, the committee held two meetings and 
the discussions were focused on the price 
competitiveness and security of supply of 
electricity and diesel to the producing member 
companies. While the electricity tariff was largely 
unchanged relative to 2020, the price of diesel 
was very volatile due to a combination of 
domestic and exogenous factors. The main 
activities that were undertaken by the Committee 
included the following:

Interaction with Ghana Grid Company Ltd
The Chief Executive Officer of the Ghana Chamber 
of Mines, Mr. Sulemanu Koney, joined the Energy 
Committee of the Chamber of Mines in a meeting 
with Ghana Grid Company Ltd (GRIDCo) on Friday 
28th May 2021. The focus of the meeting was to 
address the unplanned but frequent curtailment 
of electricity supplied to the mines.

The Chief Executive Officer of GRIDCo, Ing. 
Jonathan Amoako-Baah explained that the 
reduced power generation output from the Bui 
Dam was the main reason for the voltage 
fluctuations that even caused a total system 
shutdown on 7th March 2021. According to him, 
other factors that worsened the situation 
included the relatively long distance between 
power generation points and the mines. To resolve 
the problem, he intimated that GRIDCo was 
undertaking short-term projects to strengthen 
the voltage in the mining areas, such as increasing 
the transformer capacity build-up at the 
Anwomanso substation. The CEO of GRIDCo 
invited the committee to join his team to visit the 
site for the Anwomanso-Kintampo 330kV 
transmission line. This was honoured by the 
committee on 4th June 2021. 

 Interaction with Independent Power 
Producers
In its quest to diversify the sources of electricity 
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and encourage the consumption of renewable 
energy in the mining industry, the committee 
continued to engage with Independent Power 
Producers (IPP). In 2021, the committee 
provided opportunities for IPPs to deliver 
presentations at its meetings and respond to their 
queries. Some of the IPPs that interacted with the 
committee include Green-Akter Ltd and Genser 
Energy Ltd. 

Engagements with Volta River Authority
Since the Volta River Authority (VRA) is the 
largest supplier of electricity to the producing 
member companies of the Chamber, the 
Secretariat usually facilitates regular meetings 
between the former and the committee as well as 
between individual member companies and VRA. 
These meetings tend to focus on tariffs, 
availability of generating plants and increasing 
the renewable energy component of the power-
mix of member companies. In 2021, VRA 
participated in the committee’s meetings and 
leveraged the forum to brief members on the 
outlook of energy generation as well as 
anticipated challenges.

Engagements with Electricity Market 
Oversight Panel
The Electricity Market Oversight Panel (EMOP) is 
responsible for regulating the wholesale 
electricity market, where bilateral electricity 
contracts are traded. Since most producing 
member companies source their electricity from 
the wholesale electricity market, the work of 
EMOP is fundamental to the work of the Chamber. 
In that regard, the Chairman of the Energy 
Committee represents the mining industry on the 
Board of EMOP and debriefs the committee on 

decisions taken by the Panel to inform their 
strategic planning.

Installation of Solar PVs at the Secretariat of 
the Ghana Chamber of Mines
To reduce its carbon footprint and reliance on the 
national grid infrastructure, the Chamber’s 
Council approved the installation of solar PVs at 
t h e  p r e m i s e s  o f  t h e  S e c r e t a r i a t .  T h e 
infrastructure would be a grid-tied-in solution 
with the capacity to meet the total electricity 
requirements of the Secretariat. The Energy 
Committee assisted the Secretariat to select a 
contractor (Stella Futura) and supervised the 
construction of the project that is scheduled to be 
completed by the end of 2022. 

West Africa Mining and Power Conference and 
Exhibition and Annual General Meeting
The Chairman of the committee, Dr. Samuel 
DeSouza, participated in the 2021 edition of the 
West Africa Mining and Power Conference and 
Exhibition that took place from 2nd to 3rd June 
2021 as a panelist. His presentation focused on 
how mining companies could increase the 
proportion of renewable energy in their power-
mix.

Finance and Budget Committee
The Finance and Budget Committee (F&B) 
comprises the heads of finance, tax, or other 
related functions of Represented Member 
Companies, Affiliates and Contractors. While the 
Affiliates and Contractors are each represented 
by a member,  the Represented Member 
Companies have a representative each. 
 
In 2021, the committee held four (4) quarterly 
meetings to review the financial performance of 
the Secretariat as well as fiscal and economic 
issues that have a bearing on the mining sector. 
More so, the committee provided useful inputs to 
papers on fiscal or related matters drafted by the 
Secretariat and participated in meetings with 
duty bearers that have jurisdiction over fiscal 
issues. The main activities undertaken by the 
Secretariat with the support of the committee in 
2021 are summarized in the ensuing section.

Interaction with the Ministry of Finance on 
Government’s Free Carried Interest in Mining 
Companies
In its 2017/2018 Reconciliation Report on the 
mining sector, the Ghana Extractive Industries 

The CEOs of the Chamber of Mines and GRIDCo 
with some members of the Energy Committee 
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Transparency Initiative (GHEITI) recommended 
that the state should review its free carried 
interest (FCI) in mining companies. This was in 
response to the observation that most mining 
firms do not pay dividends to the state. Against 
this backdrop, GHEITI authored a policy brief 
that suggested that the government should adopt 
any of the following measures to maximize its FCI 
in mining companies:

· Forgo its free carried interest in mining firms 
and increase the royalty rate by a percentage.

· Interpret its free carried interest in mining 
firms as a share of production, which would 
increase the royalty rate to 10%.

· Introduce guaranteed advance payment in 
respect of dividend payments.

 The Ministry of Finance convened a meeting with 
GHEITI and the Ghana Chamber of Mines to 
discuss the previously cited proposals on 30th 
June and 8th July 2021. The Chief Executive 
Officer of the Ghana Chamber of Mines, Mr. 
Sulemanu Koney, canvassed a position that 
demonstrated that GHEITI’s proposals were 
inimical to the operations of mining firms and the 
interest of the country. After explaining how each 
policy would impact the cost of mining operations, 
he recommended that the state should consider 
non-fiscal measures to maximize the value of its 
FCI in mining firms. 

Following the discussions, GHEITI reviewed its 
policy proposals and recommended that the state 
should invest equity in mining firms to increase 
the fiscal revenue realized from their operations. 

Interaction with the Parliamentary Select 
Committee on Mines and Energy
As part of its strategic engagements, the Ghana 
Chamber  of  M ines  interacted  wi th  the 
Parliamentary Select Committee on Mines and 
Energy on 3rd August 2021. The Chamber’s 
delegation was led by its President, Mr. Eric 
Asubonteng, while the parliamentarians were led 
by the Chairman of the Committee, Hon. Samuel 
Atta Akyea. The discussions were focused on the 
contributions of the mining industry and the 
challenges confronting the operations of member 
companies. The interaction concluded with a 
commitment by the Select Committee to 
facilitate the resolution of the issues raised by the 
Chamber as well as deepening the relationship 
between both parties.

Training Programme for Ghana Revenue 
Authority
The Finance and Budget Committee (F&B) liaised 
with the Secretariat to convene a training 
programme for the mining unit of the Ghana 
Revenue Authority (GRA) on 8th September 2021 
at the Best Western Premier Hotel, Airport 
Residential Area. The event, which was resourced 
by members of F&B, sensitized the GRA officials 
on the operations of mining firms. The training 
programme was anticipated to enhance their 
appreciation of the mining industry and the 
efficiency of their operational audits. 

Interaction with the International Monetary 
Fund
In response to a request by the Ministry of 
Finance, the Secretariat shared data on planned 
mineral production with the International 
Monetary Fund (IMF) and participated in the 
Article IV Consultations on 18th October 2021. 
The pith of the Chamber’s presentation at the 
meeting was on trends in the large and small-
scale mining sectors as well as challenges facing 
the sector.

 Proposed Audit of Mining Companies
The Ministry of Lands and Natural Resources and 
Minerals Commission at separate times apprised 
the Ghana Chamber of Mines of their decision to 
undertake operational and financial audits of 
mining companies and selected mining support 
service providers. The Secretariat held separate 
engagements with the Minerals Commission and 
Sector Ministry to develop a framework for the 
audit.

Engagements with the Ministry of Finance on 
the Construction of Roads in Mining 
Communities
The Ministry of Finance approached the Chamber 
for support in financing the construction of roads 
in mining communities, which were generally in a 
d e p l o r a b l e  s t a t e .  Fo l l o w i n g  e x t e n s i v e 
engagements, the Chamber drafted and shared a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) that would 
govern the relationship with the Ministry of 
Finance. The Ministry of Finance acknowledged 
receipt of the MoU and indicated its intention to 
revert with its feedback.

Interactions with Non-State Actors
In line with its quest to positively influence 
perceptions of  the mining industr y,  the 
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Secretariat values its relationship with civil 
society organizations (CSOs), Development 
Partners, researchers, and other non-state 
actors. Against this backdrop, the Secretariat 
strives to honour invitations to participate in 
events convened by CSOs as well as respond to 
requests for interviews and data timeously.
In 2021, the Secretariat participated in several 
meetings hosted by non-state actors such as the 
Institute for Fiscal Studies, Africa Centre for 
Energy Policy, Natural Resource Governance 
Institute, Ghana Integrity Initiative, Imani 
Africa, and WACAM. Furthermore, the Secretariat 
assisted more than twenty (20) postgraduate 
students with data to fulfil their academic 
requirements. More so, the Secretariat responded 
favourably to data or interview requests from 
research institutions such as the Institute for 
Statistical and Economic Research,  and 
University of Ghana. 

Research Activities
In 2021, the Secretariat made considerable 
progress in identifying a firm to undertake a study 
on positioning Ghana as the hub of mining support 
services in West Africa. Specifically, the 
Chamber’s Council approved that the Africa 
Centre for Energy Policy (ACEP) should be 
contracted to undertake the study after a 
consortium of researchers failed to meet the 
timelines for the submission of an inception report 
for the study.

As well, the University of Mines and Technology 
piloted a questionnaire to populate data for its 
study on mapping the linkages between the 
mining and non-mining sector. The outcome of the 
pilot study would inform the next phase of the 
study in 2022.

Analytical Reports
Further to the Chamber’s quest to make data on 
the mining sector widely available to influence 
decision making and public opinion,  the 
Secretariat published several analytical reports. 
These publications address a wide range of 
issues, including macroeconomic contributions of 
the mining industry and mineral production, and 
are available for download on the Chamber’s 
website at no cost to the user. Examples of such 
reports are the 2020 Performance of the Mining 
Industry, Publish-What-You-Pay, and Mining 
Industry Statistics and Data.

Advocacy Papers
In keeping with its mandate, the Secretariat 
analyzed government policies and directives that 
had a bearing on the activities of member 
companies and proffered responses to such 
developments. Typically, the drafting of policy 
responses is done in consultation with other 
departments of the Chamber and member 
companies. The output of the consultative 
process becomes the blueprint document for the 
Chamber’s engagements with relevant duty 
bearers and they take the form of briefing notes, 
and position or policy papers. The main advocacy 
papers that were developed in 2021 are as 
follows:

Briefing Notes
B r i e fi n g  n o t e s  a r e  d e s i g n e d  t o  i n f o r m 
policymakers on emerging trends and specific 
challenges in the mining sector as well as solicit 
their support in addressing them. With the input of 
members, the Secretariat developed briefing 
notes for engagements with the following 
government functionaries:
• Ministry of Lands and Natural Resources
• Ministry of Finance
• Parliamentary Select Committee on Mines and 

Energy
• Ministry for Railway Development
• Senior Presidential Advisor

 Issue and Position Papers
Issue papers are an aggregation of challenges 
confronting member companies and the specific 
interventions required to remediate them. 
Conversely, position papers articulate the 
Chamber’s stance on a statute, policy, or directive 
by the government or a parastatal. Some of the 
issue and position papers that were authored by 
the Secretariat include the Chamber’s position on 
GHEITI’s policy brief on the Government’s free 
carried interest in mining companies, exclusion of 
consumables from the Mining List, protocols for 
audit of mining firms, and incentive regime for 
exploration companies.

Presentations
In 2021, the department prepared presentations 
to facilitate the Secretariat’s engagements with 
the following organizations or groups:
· Journalists for Business Advocacy
· Eisenhower School for National Security and 

Resource Strategy
· State Visit by the South African Government
· International Finance Corporation
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Ghana Extractive Industries Transparency 
Initiative
In line with one of its core values of promoting 
transparency, the Secretariat participated 
actively in the activities of the Ghana Extractive 
Industries Transparency Initiative (GHEITI) in 
2021. The main highlight of GHEITI’s activities 
was the processes leading to the publication of 
the 2019 mining sector and oil & gas sector 
reconciliation reports. In a marked shift from 
previous years’ practice, the governing board of 
GHEITI (Multi-stakeholder Group) authored the 

contextual part of the report. The other activities 
that were undertaken by GHEITI include the 
following:
· Community Sensitization on 2017/2018 

Reconciliation Reports in the Western and 
Eastern Regions

· Annual retreat 
· Capacity building engagements for new 

members
· Training Programme on Beneficial Ownership 

Disclosure Regime
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INTRODUCTION
The Legal and Legislative Affairs Committee 
(LLAC) of The Ghana Chamber of Mines (the 
Chamber) has the mandate to continually review, 
examine, appraise and evaluate developments 
and happenings in the mining sector and where 
necessary, initiate or preempt all policy and legal/ 
legislative issues which are of relevance or 
consequential to and could potentially impact the 
mining industry in Ghana. Members are then 
required to advise the Chamber and make 
recommendations as to strategies the Chamber 
should employ to forestall any negative 
consequences of such issues by taking concerted 
action through lobbying and advocacy. 

To carry out its mandate and accomplish the legal 
and legislative objectives/goals of the Chamber in 
2021, the LLAC carried out a number of 
programmes and activities in the course of the 
year.   
 
Membership of Committee
In the year under review, representatives of 
member companies of the LLAC and their 
alternates were as follows:

·  Michael Akafia/Paulo Adjei Okpoti 
 (Gold Fields Gh. Ltd) - Chairperson 

·  Juliet Manteaw-Kutin 
 (AngloGold Ashanti Ltd) - Member                                       

·  Robert Agbozo/ Richard Dery 
 (Newmont Gh. Gold Ltd - Member

·  Frederick Asare 
 (Golden Star Resources Ltd) - Member 

·  Abdul Baasit Aziz Bamba 
 (Azizbamba &Ass. /Affiliates) - Member

·  Chris Nyarko, 
 (Chamber’s Secretariat) - Member 

·  Sheila Minkah-Premo 
 (Apex Lawconsult)  - Secretary

OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES UNDERTAKEN
The LLAC held a number of meetings to discuss 
and review policy and legal issues of relevance 
and consequence to the Chamber and in particular 

to the mining industry during the period under 
review.  Some of the issues are summarised 
below.

Legislation Reviewed 
The Committee reviewed and considered a 
number of bills and laws in the course of the year 
including those listed below.

State Interest and Governance Authority Act, 
2019 (Act 990)
Members discussed this law and its implications 
for the mining industry. This is because the law 
seeks to bring under its ambit any company in 
which the State has the slightest interest. 
Members tried to follow up on the modalities for 
charges but still awaiting full feedback.

COVID-19 Health Recovery Levy Act, 2021 (Act 
1068)
The Covid-19 Health Recovery Levy Act, 2021 
(Act 1068) imposed a 1% Covid-19 Health 
Recovery Levy (the “Covid-19 Levy”) on the 
supply of goods and services made in the country 
and the import of goods or services, other than 
those exempted from Value Added Tax under the 
Value Added Tax Act, 2013 (Act 870).

Income Tax (Amendment) (No.2) Act, 2021 (Act 
1071)
The Income Tax (Amendment) (No.2) Act, 2021 
(Act 1071) was enacted to amend the Income 
Tax, 2015 (Act 896), to review the rates of income 
tax for individuals; to reduce the withholding tax 
rate for sale of unprocessed gold by small scale 
miners; to increase the threshold for an individual 
to whom the presumptive tax under the Modified 
Taxation Scheme applies; to extend the COVID-19 
concessions granted in 2021 for further six 
months in 2022 and to provide for related 
matters. Act 1071 became effective on 30th 
December 2021.

Legislative Instruments

Fees and Charges (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Instrument, 2019 (L. I. 2386) 
T h e  C o m m i t t e e  d i s c u s s e d  t h e  r e c e n t 
amendments that were made to this Act.  The 
Chamber requested a copy of this legislation 
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which was duly submitted by the Secretary of the 
LLAC.

Minerals and Mining (Local Content and Local 
Participation) Regulations, 2020 (L.I. 2431) 
The Chamber requested a comparison of the 
newly enacted L.I. 2431 with the Chamber’s 
submission on the draft legislation, which was 
previously discussed by members in 2019. The 
main aim of this L.I is to deal with local content 
within the mining industry and repeal the previous 
regulations. This law seeks to repeal part of the 
Minerals and Mining (General) Regulations, 2012 
(L.I. 2173) that is Regulations 1 & 2. Its main aim 
is to deal with local content within the mining 
industry in accordance with Act 703.   L.I. 2431 
has 122 Regulations and addresses several 
issues. 

Bills in Parliament 
Minerals and Mining (Amendment) Bill, 2021: The 
general object of the Minerals and Mining 
(Amendment) Bill was to prohibit the sale and 
provision of “changfans”. Members resolved that 
the said amendment would not be of much 
concern to the Chamber as it was within the ambit 
of small-scale mining.

Tax Exemption Bill, 2021 - The Chamber 
requested the LLAC to review this Bill and advice 
on its implications for the mining industry. 
Members were able to recently obtain a copy of 
the 2021 Bill and are yet to review it and advise the 
Chamber on its implications for the industry.

Bills being drafted
Natural Resource Governance Bill :  Tried 
unsuccessfully to get updated copies from the 
Ministry of Finance. 

Non-Profit Organisation (NPO) Bill: The general 
purpose of this Bill is to provide a legal framework 
to govern the activities of NPOs. Members noted 
that most mining companies had Trust Funds and 
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) vehicles 
set up as NPOs covered by this Bill hence the need 
to take an interest in it. Members resolved to 
prepare a memorandum compiling its comments 
on the said Bill. 

Environmental Protection (Mining in Forest 
Reserves) Regulations, 2021 – Members 
participated in the drafting of this Legislative 
Instrument (L.I) and also submitted comments 

on it. The L.I. is being drafted to transform the 
Guidelines on Mining in Forest Reserves in Ghana 
into law. 

Other Issues Addressed 
The Committee also considered other issues 
during their meetings including the following: 

Review of Anti-Money Laundering and Countering 
the Financing of Terrorism Guideline and 
Administrative Sanctions: The Chamber received 
two draft documents from the Minerals 
Commission aimed at developing guidelines and 
administrative sanction/penalties for the mining 
industry. The said guidelines were being drawn as 
part of the Government’s issuance of a National 
Anti-Money Laundering and Countering the 
F i n a n c i n g  o f  Te r r o r i s m  P r o l i f e r a t i o n 
(AML/CFT&P) Policy and the Chamber required 
the Committee’s comments. The LLAC duly 
prepared comments on behalf of the Chamber. 

Minerals Commission letter to set up blocks of 
300 cadastral units: Members discussed a letter 
received by the Minerals Commission to set up 
blocks of 300 cadastral units. This was discussed 
and a position taken for the Chamber to follow-up

Memo on the Fees and Charges (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Instruments Act, 2019 (L. I. 2386): 
The Committee prepared a memo on this for the 
Chamber which included input from PwC Ghana 
Limited.

Applications for Restricted Mining Lease on 
Concessions: Demand letters received from the 
Minerals Commission requesting for permission 
to grant restricted mining leases on concessions 
held by member companies upon application to 
others for the use of other ventures was 
discussed.

GHEITI Policy Proposal: A Policy Proposal by the 
Ghana Extractive Industry Transparency 
Initiative (GHETI) entitled “Reforming the 
Treatment of Ghana’s Free Carried Interest in 
Mine Operations (Policy Proposals)” was 
previously shared to Committee members for 
their input and comments. A memorandum was 
prepared by the Committee and shared with the 
Chamber. The Committee is waiting to discuss a 
position paper prepared by Newmont Ghana Gold 
Limited (Newmont) on the issue. 
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Beneficial Ownership Requirements: Committee 
Members continued to deliberate on the new 
requirements under the Companies Act, 2019 
(Act 992) including filing out beneficial ownership 
forms. Resource materials on the beneficial 
ownership requirements were distributed by the 
Secretary to all members. 

Issues relating to Minerals Commission:
Committee Members discussed various issues 
surrounding requirements being demanded by the 
Mineral’s Commission from producing mining 
companies.  Members have reported and 
complained about the arbitrary nature of the 
d e c i s i o n s  b e i n g  t a k e n  b y  t h e  M i n e r a l s 
Commission. These decisions relate to the 
following issues: 

i. Payment of Annual Mineral Rights Fees – 
Committee members reported that the 
Minerals Commission through demand 
letters had asked their respective mining 
companies to pay annual mineral rights fees. 
In some instances, the Minerals Commission 
had refused to renew the export licenses of 
some companies if these fees were not paid. 

ii. One-year duration for Gold Export License – 
Committee members raised an issue about a 
new policy being implemented by the 
Minerals Commission. This new policy 
requires that gold export licenses will now be 
renewed for a period of one year instead of six 
years. The Minerals Commission has 
however, not officially notified all mining 
companies of this new policy. The Chamber 
was urged to intervene on this matter.  

iii. Minerals Commission Public Notice – 
Members reported that they had sighted a 
public notice from the Minerals Commission 
indicating that from the 1st of November 
2021 the Minerals Commission will no longer 
accept any paper-based applications from 
mining companies. 

iv. Demand From Mincom To Members To Pay 
Compensation For Fallow Lands Pre 2006 - 
Members discussed request to pay for 
valuation of fallow lands acquired prior to 
2006 which is being contested through 
litigation. 

Position Paper on Arbitrary Decisions by the 
Minerals Commission – During the 3rd quarter 
meeting, committee members resolved to draft a 
position paper detailing the arbitrary decisions 

being taken by the Minerals Commission. The 
position paper will cite various examples of these 
ultra vires decisions and it will be used as a tool for 
advocacy. 

Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the 
Government of Ghana on Road Construction – The 
Secretary was asked to prepare an MOU between 
the Government of Ghana and a producing mining 
company interested in participating in the pre-
financing of the construction of roads in their 
mining enclave. Committee members reviewed 
and discussed the MOU and its accompanying 
appendices namely the Tax Pre-Payment 
Agreement and the Escrow Agreement. 

Due Diligence on Royal Ghana Gold Limited – 
Committee members reviewed and discussed the 
terms of service being proposed by for a due 
diligence assignment search on Royal Ghana Gold 
Limited by Bentsi-Enchill Letsa & Ankomah 
(BELA). For the due diligence to be undertaken in 
Indian by a law firm members preferred a  law 
firm called Shardul Amarchand Mangaldas & Co 
(SAM &Co.) proposed by BELA. The assignment is 
ongoing. 

Corporate Structure of the Chamber –The 
Chamber’s Council had decided to recompose the 
Executive Committee to include Newmont as a 
member. As a result, the Chamber’s regulations 
w e r e  t o  b e  a m e n d e d .  T h e  S e c r e t a r y 
recommended that in accordance with the new 
Companies Act, 2019 (Act 992), the Chamber’s 
should replace its regulations with a Constitution 
in the process of effecting the change. A new 
Constitution was prepared and members 
reviewed it. 

Draft New Terms of Reference – Committee 
members discussed the new terms of reference 
being proposed by the Executive Committee (EC) 
for the LLAW. The EC is proposing that the 
membership of the LLAC should be broadened to 
include all producing member companies (both 
large and small) in addition to relevant 
committees’ representation. Furthermore, the EC 
proposed changes to the tenureship of the 
Chairman of the LLAC and the quorum for 
meetings. After a lengthy discussion members 
concluded as follows:

i.  - The EC’s proposal that half of the Quorum
committee members needed to be present 
before a meeting could begin was too high. 
Members would prefer that the quorum 
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should be set at one-third of members or 
three members present before a meeting 
can begin. Members agreed that there 
should be different thresholds for different 
types of meetings. 

ii.  – Members disagreed with the Chairmanship
EC’s proposal that the Chairman should 
serve an initial two-year term with an option 
for additional two-year term. Members 
unanimously agreed that the Chairman 
should only serve a two-year term. 

iii.  – Other members of the committee
Members tasked the Chamber’s Secretariat 
to get the names of the smaller producing 
member companies who could potentially 
join the LLAC. The Chamber is also to 
indicate the name of the new representative 
for the Affiliates group on the Committee. 

MEETINGS ATTENDED AND OTHER 
ACTIVITIES 
The Committee held a number of meetings to 
consider legal issues and policies that were of 
currency, interest and relevance to the mining 
industry, hence, the Chamber. Altogether the 
LLAC held four (4) quarterly general meetings. 
Some members also attended other meetings 
held by the Chamber’s Secretariat or its other 
committees as well as meetings with other 
stakeholders of the mining industry in 2020. 

Meetings

i. General Meetings 
Four General Meetings were held on the following 
dates: March 23 12, 2021; August 3, 2021; 
October 12, 2021 and December 14, 2021.

ii. Other Meetings And Activities  
Members of the Committee attended meetings of 
other  Committees  of  the  Chamber  and 
participated in other activities. Some of them are 
listed below:

· Annual General Meeting (AGM) of the Ghana 
Chamber of Mines – The Secretary of the 
LLAC, Sheila Minkah-Premo represented the 
Committee in the 2020 AGM of the Chamber 
held on the 4th of June 2021. The meeting was 
held virtually via Microsoft Teams. 

· GIPC meeting on Technology Transfer 
Agreements (TTA) - On the 30th of March 
2021, the Secretary of the LLAC participated 

in a seminar at the Ghana Investment 
Promotion Centre (GIPC) on Technology 
Transfer Agreements: Eligibility, Compliance 
and Liabilities. The seminar was held to 
sensitize attendees on the legal framework 
and scope of Technology Transfer Agreements 
(TTAs) and the role of GIPC, Bank of Ghana 
and Ghana Revenue Authority (GRA) in this 
framework.

· Private Members’ Bill: On the 17th of August 
2021, the Secretary of the LLAC participated 
in a virtual meeting organized by the 
Parliamentary Network Africa (PNAfrica) to 
review the journey so far regarding the 
procedure for the newly adopted Private 
Members Bill.

· Presentation by Institute for Fiscal Studies: 
The Institute of Fiscal Studies invited the 
Chamber to attend a presentation, which 
sought to facilitate discussions on a research 
paper done by the Institute of Fiscal Services 
(IFS)  on  Ghana’s  Domest ic  Revenue 
Mobilization woes and the role of the 
extractive sector. The Secretary of the LLAC 
participated in this meeting held on the 31st of 
August 2021.

· Environmental Protection Agency Liaison 
Meetings – The Chamber had been invited to a 
number of workshops by the Environmental 
Protection Agency to transform the 2020 
Environmental Guidelines on Mining in Forest 
Reserves into Regulations or Legislative 
Instruments (L.I.s). The Secretary of the 
LLAC participated in workshops held from the 
13th to the 15th of October 2021. 

CHALLENGES AND WAY FORWARD
Members sometimes found it difficult to attend 
Committee meetings, which coincided with 
meetings, programmes, assignments, and 
engagements they had with their respective 
mining companies. Members and Affiliates were 
encouraged to appoint an alternative member 
who can attend meetings on their behalf. Due to 
the COVID 19 pandemic, most meetings for the 
year 2020 were held virtually and attendance 
improved. 

Going Forward Through 2021
The Committee looks forward with fresh resolve 
to carry out the responsibilities and obligations of 
its mandate and continually appraise itself of the 
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legal and legislative landscape in a bid to take 
preemptive steps in response to issues of 
relevance to the mining industry by following, 
tracking, pursuing and addressing new issues 
referred to it and following-up on matters pending 
before it. Some of these are as follows:

i. Need to respond to arbitrary decisions being 
taken by the Minerals Commissions – 
Resolved to prepare a position paper for the 
Chamber to address this.

ii. Continue working with the EPA on the Mining 
in Forest Reserves Regulations –Attend 
meetings and participate in drafting process

iii. Proposed Expansion of LLAC – The Chamber 
has begun a process to expand membership 
and would liaise accordingly with the 
Committee. 

iv. Chamber’s Constitution – The LLAC will 
continue to work on this with the Secretariat.

v. Keep track of the passage of the Tax 
Exemptions Bill under the 8th Parliament. 

vi. Follow-up on the GHEITI Policy Brief on the 
treatment of the Government’s free carried 
interest. 

vii. Keep track on the implementation of 
provisions under the Local Content (Minerals 
and Mining (Local Content and Local 
Participation) Regulations, 2020 (L.I. 2431)

viii. Track the changes introduced by the Fees and 
Charges (Miscel laneous Prov is ions) 

Instrument under the Fees and Charges 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 2018 (Act 
983)

ix. Keep an eye on legislations such as the Tax 
Exemptions Bill and its implication for the 
industry

x. P u s h  f o r  a  d r a f t  N a t u r a l  R e s o u r c e 
Governance Bill 

The LLAC will hold its usual quarterly meetings 
and emergency meetings where need be. It will 
also continue to advice the Chamber as and when 
needed. Members of the Committee will follow up 
on pending laws and bills and continue advocacy 
on such. 
     
CONCLUSION 
In sum, the above is an overview of the activities 
of the LLAC of the Chamber in 2021. The 
Committee anticipates a vibrant, fruitful and 
progressive year ahead. The Chamber was 
directly represented in the Committee during 
meetings making feedback easier. The LLAC has 
also resolved to continue working with a unified 
sense of purpose, better team spirit and 
cooperation among its members and in greater 
concert with the other committees of the 
Chamber in 2021. The LLAC also stands 
committed to support and facilitate the work of 
the other committees of the Chamber with its 
expertise and follow up on all outstanding and 
pending issues. 
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RELEVANT LAWS TO THE MINING INDUSTRY PASSED IN 2021

(A) ACTS OF PARLIAMENT

1.  INSURANCE ACT, 2021 (ACT 1061)
The Insurance Act, 2021 (Act 1061), which 
repealed the Insurance Act, 2006 (Act 724), 
modernises the regulatory framework for the 
supervision of the insurance market and aims to 
increase insurance penetration rates. Notably, 
Act 1061 creates a new category of licence, an 
innovative insurance or reinsurance licence, to 
better regulate the burgeoning insurtech sector 
and adds publ ic  l iabi l i t y  insurance and 
professional indemnity insurance for specified 
persons to the list of mandatory insurance 
coverage. Act 1061 creates an Insurance 
Education Fund to educate the public on insurance 
matters and provide financial support to the 
Ghana Insurance College for training persons in 
the insurance industry. It also creates an 
Agricultural Insurance Fund to provide financial 
resources to subsidize agricultural insurance 
premiums. The Act also allows a foreign insurer 
not licensed to operate in Ghana to open a contact 
office in Ghana, subject to the approval and 
satisfaction of any other conditions imposed by 
the National Insurance Commission (NIC). The 
Act became effective on 5 January 2021.

2. SECURITIES INDUSTRY (AMENDMENT) 
ACT, 2021 (ACT 1062)
The Securities Industry (Amendment) Act, 2021 
(Act 1062) amended the Securities Industry Act, 
2016 (Act 929) by providing for; the conduct of 
investigations by the Securities and Exchanges 
Commission (the “Commission”) when the 
Commission is assisting other domestic or foreign 
regulatory authorities; the procedure for dealing 
with a request for assistance from a foreign 
securities regulatory authority; the issuance of 
codes, directives, guidelines and circulars by the 
Commission and for related matters. Notably, Act 
1062 modifies the administrative penalty 
applicable, where a person breaches or fails to 
comply with a code, directive, guideline or circular 
issued by the Commission. The Commission may 
now impose an administrative penalty of not less 
than six hundred Ghana Cedis (GHS 600) i.e., fifty 
penalty units and not more than two hundred and 
forty thousand Ghana Cedis (GHS 240,000), i.e., 
twenty thousand penalty units where a person 
fails to comply with a code, directive, guideline or 

circular issued by the Commission. 

3. GHANA INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENT 
FUND (AMENDMENT) ACT, 2021 (ACT 1063)
The Ghana Infrastructure Investment Fund 
(Amendment) Act, 2021 (Act 1063) amended the 
sources of funding for the Ghana Infracstructure 
Investment Fund (GIIF) provided for under the 
Ghana Infrastructure Investment Fund Act, 
2014 (Act 877) which is Two and half percent 
(2.5%) of Value Added Tax revenue, proceeds from 
the disposal of state-owned equity investments; 
and fees or other monies earned by the Fund under 
the Act, by adding internally generated funds. The 
Act also increases GIIF’s tax exemption period 
from five (5) to fifteen (15) years. These 
amendments are significant and in line with the 
government’s policy on the financing of 
infrastructure investments because they 
enhance GIIF’s fundraising capacity. Act 1063 
became effective on 31 March 2021.

4. ENERGY SECTOR LEVIES (AMENDMENT) 
ACT, 2021(ACT 1064)
The Energy Sector Levies Amendment Act, 2021 
(Act 1064) amended the Energy Sector Levies 
Act, 2015 (Act 899) by imposing an Energy Sector 
Recovery Levy of 20 pesewas per litre on petrol 
and diesel and 18 pesewas per kilogram on 
liquified petroleum gas; and a Sanitation and 
Pollution Levy of 10 pesewas per litre on petrol 
and diesel. Revenue generated from the Energy 
Sector Recovery Levy will be used to assist in the 
payment of capacity charges in the energy sector 
and its bills, including the fuel used by power 
plants to generate energy. Proceeds from the 
Sanitation and Pollution Levy will be used to 
improve the quality of air in urban areas; design, 
construct, and re-engineer waste treatment, 
disposal and recycling facilities, landfill sites and 
medical waste treatment facilities; construct 
sanitation facilities; support disinfestation, 
disinfection and fumigation of public spaces, 
schools, health centres, markets, and lorry parks; 
and  prov ide  ded icated  suppor t  for  the 
maintenance and management of major landfill 
sites and other waste treatment plants and 
facilities across the country. It is estimated that 
the total receipts from the levies in 2021 will be 
GH¢666.2 million and GH¢311.7 million for the 
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Energy Sector Recovery Levy and the Sanitation 
and Pollution Levy, respectively. Act 1064, 2021 
became effective on 31 March 2021.

5. PENALTY AND INTEREST WAIVER ACT, 
2021 (ACT 1065)
The Penalty and Interest Waiver Act, 2021(Act 
1065) granted a waiver of penalties and interests 
to eligible persons for the period specified 
thereunder. Persons who had not previously 
registered with the Ghana Revenue Authority 
(“GRA”) and those who had registered with GRA 
but were in arrears for the submission of returns 
or payment of taxes up to 31 December 2020 were 
eligible for a 100% waiver of penalties and 
interests on accumulated tax arrears up to 31 
December 2020 upon satisfaction of certain 
conditions. Act 1065 required eligible persons 
who wished to take advantage of the waiver to 
submit a written application and their outstanding 
tax returns containing a full disclosure of 
undisclosed liabilities to the Commissioner-
General. Additionally, such persons were required 
to pay or make arrangements to pay all resulting 
taxes or assessed and outstanding taxes on or 
before 30 September 2021. If these conditions 
were met, the waiver was granted and the 
Commissioner-General refrained from recovering 
assessed penalties and interest on the tax due and 
commencing prosecution or other enforcement 
action in relation to those amounts. The Act also 
helped GRA to improve revenue generation. Act 
1065, 2021 became effective on 31 March 2021.

6. THE INCOME TAX (AMENDMENT) ACT, 
2021 (ACT 1066)
The Income Tax (Amendment) Act, 2021 (Act 
1066) amended the Sixth Schedule to the Income 
Tax Act, 2015 (Act 896) to provide for concessions 
in specified sectors and suspension of quarterly 
payments for eligible persons. The amendment 
reduced the rate of income tax payable on the 
estimated chargeable income of persons engaged 
i n  c e r t a i n  i n d u s t r i a l  s e c t o r s  s u c h  a s 
accommodation and food, education, travel and 
tours, arts and entertainment sectors for the 
second, third and fourth quarters of 2021 to 70% 
of the applicable rate. Act 1066 suspended the 
second, third and fourth 2021 quarterly income 
tax instalment payments for certain categories of 
self-employed persons listed in the Third 
Schedule to the Income Tax Regulations, 2016 
(L.I. 2244) including retail traders, dressmakers 
and tailors, estates and accommodation agents, 

artisans and auto technicians as well as owners of 
classes of vehicles provided therein. Act 1066 
became effective on 31 March 2021.

7. FINANCIAL SECTOR RECOVERY LEVY 
(ACT 1067)
The Financial Sector Recovery Levy (Act 1067) 
imposed a 5% financial sector recovery levy on the 
profit before tax of banks to raise revenue to 
support financial sector reforms and provide for 
related matters. The levy applies to banks 
regulated under the Banks and Specialised 
Deposit-Taking Institutions Act, 2016 (Act 930) 
and does not apply to rural or community banks, 
despite any provision to the contrary in any 
enactment relating to a tax holiday or an 
exemption from a direct tax or an indirect tax 
applicable to a bank. The levy is also not an 
allowable deduction for the purpose of 
ascertaining the chargeable income of a person 
under the Income Tax Act, 2015 (Act 896). The 
levy was payable in three (3) quarterly 
instalments in 2021, that is June, September and 
December. Moving forward, the levy will be 
payable in four (4) quarterly instalments – March, 
June, September and December. Act 1067 also 
allows the Minister of Finance to review the levy 
at the expiration of the 2024 year of assessment. 
Act 1067 became effective on 31 March 2021.

8. COVID-19 HEALTH RECOVERY LEVY ACT, 
2021 (ACT 1068)
The Covid-19 Health Recovery Levy Act, 2021 
(Act 1068) imposed a 1% Covid-19 Health 
Recovery Levy (the “Covid-19 Levy”) on the 
supply of goods and services made in the country 
and the import of goods or services, other than 
those exempted from Value Added Tax under the 
Value Added Tax Act, 2013 (Act 870). The Covid-
19 Levy, similar to Value Added Tax (‘VAT”), is 
calculated on the value of the taxable supply of 
goods or services or on the value of the imports. 
Persons who charge the VAT flat rate are also 
required to charge the Levy on the supply of goods 
and services. The COVID-19 Health Recovery 
Levy Act, 2021 became effective on 31 March 
2021.

9. APPROPRIATION ACT, 2021 (ACT 1069)
The Appropriation Act, 2021 (Act 1069) repealed 
the Appropriation Act, 2019 (Act 1008) and 
authorised the withdrawal of certain amounts of 
money from the Consolidated Fund and other 
publ ic  funds to meet the government’s 



expenditure for the 2021 financial year. It 
approved the issuance of a total amount of one 
hundred and twenty-nine billion, thirty-two 
million, eight hundred and four thousand, two 
h u n d r e d  a n d  o n e  G h a n a  C e d i s  ( G H C 
129,032,804,201) from the Consolidated Fund 
and other public funds to finance the specified 
programmes of Ministries, Departments and 
Agencies and other government obligations. The 
Act also permitted Ministries, Departments, and 
Agencies to retain and use an amount of five 
billion, eight hundred and ninety-three million, 
seven hundred and seventy-two thousand, three 
h u n d r e d  a n d  fi f t y  G h a n a  C e d i s 
(GHC5,893,772,350) during the 2021 financial 
year. The Appropriation Act, 2021 became 
effective on 1 January 2021.

10. NATIONAL CENTRE FOR CO-
ORDINATION OF EARLY WARNING AND 
RESPONSE MECHANISM ACT, 2021 (ACT 
1070)
The National Centre for Co-ordination of Early 
Warning and Response Mechanism Act, 2021 (Act 
1070) established the legal framework for the 
operation and administration of the National 
Centre for Coordination of Early Warning and 
Response Mechanism (the “Centre”) which has 
been established to detect, monitor, analyse and 
report on conflict indicators in response to the 
threats of terrorism and violent extremism in the 
West African sub-region. The Centre has been 
created to help the Ghanaian government to 
prepare for any eventualities and to take 
appropriate crisis mitigation measures in conflict 
situations at the national and regional levels. The 
Centre focuses on five thematic areas namely: 
crime and criminality; governance and human 
rights; health and pandemics; social, economic 
and environmental issues; as well as security, 
terrorism and maritime threats. Act 1070 became 
effective on 10 September 2021. 

11. INCOME TAX (AMENDMENT) (NO.2) ACT, 
2021 (ACT 1071)
The Income Tax (Amendment) (No.2) Act, 2021 
(Act 1071) was enacted to amend the Income 
Tax, 2015 (Act 896), to review the rates of income 
tax for individuals; to reduce the withholding tax 
rate for sale of unprocessed gold by small scale 
miners; to increase the threshold for an individual 
to whom the presumptive tax under the Modified 
Taxation Scheme applies; to extend the COVID-19 
concessions granted in 2021 for further six 

months in 2022 and to provide for related 
matters. Act 1071 became effective on 30th 
December 2021.

12. VALUE ADDED TAX (AMENDMENT) ACT, 
2021 (ACT 1072)
The Value Added Tax (Amendment) Act, 2021 
(Act 1072) was enacted to amend the Value 
Added Tax Act, 2013 (Act 870) to limit the 
application of the flat rate to a retailer with a 
turnover not exceeding five hundred Ghana cedis 
per annum and extend the Value Added Tax zero-
rate on African textile prints for local textile 
manufacturers by a period of two years. Act 1072 
became effective on 30th December 2021.

13. PENALTY AND INTEREST WAIVER 
(AMENDMENT) ACT 2021, (ACT 1073)
The Penalty and Interest Waiver (Amendment) 
Act 2021, (Act 1073) was enacted to extend the 
period for the application of a waiver of penalty 
and interest on accumulated tax arrears up to 
31st December, 2020 for persons who make 
arrangements with the Ghana Revenue Authority 
for payment of the principal tax to 30th June 2022 
and to provide for related matters. Act 1073 was 
assented to on 30th December 2021.

14. APPROPRIATION (NO.2) ACT, 2021 (ACT 
1074)
The Appropriation (No.2) Act, 2021 (Act 1074) 
was enacted to repeal the Appropriation Act, 
2021 (Act  1069)  which author ised the 
withdrawal of moneys from the Consolidated 
F u n d  a n d  o t h e r  p u b l i c  f u n d s  f o r  t h e 
implementation of the Budget for the 2021 
financial year. Act 1074 gives the government the 
a u t h o r i t y  t o  s p e n d  n o t  m o r e  t h a n 
GH¢145,472,347,866 from the Consolidated Fund 
and other public funds for the 2022 fiscal year. 
The passage of the Bill follows the marathon 
approval of budget estimates for Ministries, 
Departments and Agencies (MDAs) in Parliament.

(B)  SUBSIDIARY LEGISLATION

LEGISLATIVE INSTRUMENTS

1. CHARTERED INSTITUTE OF BANKERS, 
GHANA REGULATIONS 2021, 
(L. I. 2434)

L.I. 2434 was passed to reinforce the Chartered 
Institute of Bankers Ghana Act, 2019 (Act 991). 
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L.I. 2432 is set to bring into force all the 
provisions spelt out in the Chartered Institute of 
Bankers Ghana Act, 2019, (Act 991).

2. PETROLEUM (LOCAL CONTENT AND 
LOCAL PARTICIPATION) (AMENDMENT) 
REGULATIONS, 2021 (L.I. 2435)–

L.I. 2435 was passed to amend Regulation 4, 
Regulation 49 and the First Schedule of the 
P e t r o l e u m  ( L o c a l  C o n t e n t  a n d  L o c a l 
Participation) Regulations, 2013 (L.I. 2204). L.I. 
2435 is set to define goods and services reserved 
for indigenous Ghanaian Companies per the First 
Schedule, definition of key terms such as 
indigenous Ghanaian company, cartelisation, 
channel partnership and strategic alliance per 
Regulation 49 and the mandate of the Petroleum 
commission to direct the channel partnership or 
strategic alliance between an indigenous 
Ghanaian company and non-indigenous Ghanaian 
company per Regulation 4.

3. REGISTRATION OF BIRTHS AND DEATHS 
REGULATION, 2021 (L.I. 2436)
L.I. 2436 was passed to regulate matters 
necessary for the effective and efficient 
implementation of the Registration of Births and 
Deaths Act, 2020 (Act 1027). Key regulations 
provide for the particulars for the registration of 
births, foetal deaths and deaths, the forms and 
content of certificates issued under Act 1027, the 
procedure for disposition of dead bodies and the 
procedure for the late registration of births, foetal 
deaths and deaths. 

4. GHANA SHIPPING (CABOTAGE) 
INSTRUMENT, 2021 (L.I. 2438)
L.I. 2438 was passed pursuant to Section 477 of 
the Ghana Shipping Act, 2003 (Act 645) to 
regulate vessels operating solely within Ghana’s 
maritime jurisdiction including inland waterways. 
Key regulations include the requirement for 
vessels to register for local trade by obtaining a 
Cabotage Registration Certificate, specification 
of vessels eligible for registration to engage in 
local trade, cabotage registration requirements 
for foreign vessels and Ghanaian vessels, 
restriction on local trade in Ghana’s maritime 
jurisdiction among others. L.I. 2438 also 
establishes the Cabotage Dispute Committee, 
provides remuneration guidelines for sea farers, 
stipulates fees and charges for registration, 
exemptions and waivers as well as stating 

offences and penalties for anything done contrary 
to these Regulations.

EXECUTIVE INSTRUMENTS

1.CIVIL SERVICE (MINISTRIES) 
INSTRUMENT, 2021 (E.I.  12)
E.I. 12 was passed to establish the specified 
ministries in the Civil Service and it also revoked 
the Civil Service (Ministries) Instrument, 2017 
(E.I. 28). 

2.PUBLIC HOLIDAY (EXEMPTION) 
INSTRUMENT, 2021 (E.I.  118)

Whereas Monday, 8th March 2021 was declared a 
statutory public holiday to celebrate Ghana’s 
Independence Day, E.I. 118 was enacted to grant 
the following companies an exemption to operate 
on that set date; KGM Industries Limited, Polytex 
Industries Limited, Polypet Limited, Polyrecycle 
Industries Limited, Polyprint and Trading Limited, 
Interplast Limited and Zhongmei Engineering 
Group Limited. 

Similar E.I.s were passed for other holidays to 
exempt the same companies:

· Whereas Friday, 2nd April 2021 and Monday, 
5th April 2021 were declared as statutory 
public holidays to celebrate Good Friday and 
Easter Monday, E.I. 119 was enacted for a 
similar purpose.

· Whereas Monday, 3rd May 2021 was declared 
a statutory public holiday to celebrate 
Workers’ Day, E.I. 137 was enacted to grant 
the same companies an exemption to operate 
on that set date.

· Whereas Thursday, 13th May 2021 was 
declared a statutory public holiday to 
celebrate Eid-al-Fitr, E.I. 156 was enacted to 
grant the same companies an exemption to 
operate on that set date.

· Whereas Tuesday, 20th July 2021 was 
declared a statutory holiday to celebrate Eid-
al-Adha, E.I. 246 was enacted to grant the 
following companies an exemption to operate 
on that set date;

3.IMPOSITION OF RESTRICTIONS 
(CORONAVIRUS DISEASE (COVID-19) 
PANDEMIC) (NO. 18) INSTRUMENT, 2021 
(E.I.  135)

E.I. 135 was enacted to extend the restrictions 
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imposed under the Imposition of Restrictions 
(Coronavirus Disease (COVID -19) Pandemic) 
(No.17) Instrument, 2021 (E.I. 37) for another 
one-month period.

4.PUBLIC HOLIDAY (DECLARATION) 
INSTRUMENT, 2021 (E.I.  136)
E.I. 136 was enacted to declare Monday, 3rd May 
2021 as an Additional Public Holiday since 
Workers Day, a statutory Public Holiday under 
s e c t i o n  1  o f  t h e  P u b l i c  H o l i d a y s  a n d 
Commemorative Days Act, 2001 (Act 601) fell on 
Saturday, 1st May 2021.

5.IMPOSITION OF RESTRICTIONS 
(CORONAVIRUS DISEASE (COVID 19) 
PANDEMIC (NO. 20) INSTRUMENT, 2021 
(E.I.  188)
E.I. 188 was enacted to extend the restrictions 
imposed under the Imposition of Restrictions 
(Coronavirus Disease (COVID -19) Pandemic) 
(No.17) Instrument, 2021 (E.I. 37) for another 
one-month period.

6.IMPOSITION OF RESTRICTIONS 
(CORONAVIRUS DISEASE (COVID 19) 
PANDEMIC) (NO. 21) INSTRUMENTS, 2021 
(E.I.  223)
E.I. 223 was enacted pursuant to Section 2(1) of 
the Imposition of Restrictions Act, 2020 (Act 
1012) to maintain the imposition of certain 
restrictions and provide special exemptions to 
contain the COVID-19 Pandemic. E.I. 223 also 
revoked the Imposit ion of  Restr ict ions 
(Coronavirus Disease (COVID -19) Pandemic) 
(No.17) Instrument, 2021 (E.I. 37) and the 
Imposition of Restrictions (Coronavirus Disease 
(COVID -19) Pandemic) (No.20) Instrument, 
2021 (E.I. 188).

7.DECLARATION OF MUNICIPALITY 
INSTRUMENT, 2021 (E.I.  247)
E.I. 247 was enacted to declare the hitherto 
Jasikan District Assembly as a Municipality (now 
Jasikan Municipal Assembly). It further revoked 
Local Government (Jasikan District Assembly) 
(Establishment) Instrument 2020 (L.I. 2417)

8.DECLARATION OF PRISON INSTRUMENT, 
2021 (E.I.  322)
E.I. 322 was enacted pursuant to Section 30(1) of 

the Prisons Service Act, 1972 (N.R.C.D. 46) to 
declare a place referred to as Ejura Camp Prison 
as a prison.
  
9.(COVID-19) PROTOCOLS FOR 
INTERNATIONAL TRAVELERS INSTRUMENT, 
2021 (E.I. 376)
E.I. 376 was enacted pursuant to the power 
conferred on the Minister responsible for Health 
under Sections 169 and 170 of the Public Health 
Act, 2012 (Act 851) to outline protocols for 
international travelers on the backdrop of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Key regulations include the 
requirement of full vaccination for Ghanaians 
before departure from Ghana starting from the 
midnight of 14th December 2021, specification of 
the COVID-19 vaccines approved and registered 
by the Food and Drugs Board Authority as well as 
requirements for entry by travelers into Ghana.

10.IMPOSITION OF RESTRICTIONS 
(CORONAVIRUS DISEASE (COVID-19) 
PANDEMIC) (NO. 24) INSTRUMENT, 2021 
(E.I.  412)
E.I. 412 was enacted to extend the restrictions 
imposed under the Imposition of Restrictions 
(Coronavirus Disease (COVID -19) Pandemic) 
(No.17) Instrument, 2021 (E.I. 223) for another 
one-month period.

11.PUBLIC HOLIDAY (DECLARATION) 
INSTRUMENT, 2021 (E.I.  441)
E.I. 441 was enacted to declare Monday, 27th 
December 2021 and Tuesday 28th December 
2021 as Additional Public Holidays since 
Christmas Day and Boxing Day, which are 
Statutory Public Holidays under section 1 of the 
Public Holidays and Commemorative Days Act, 
2001 (Act 601) fell on Saturday and Sunday 
respectively.

12.PUBLIC HOLIDAY (DECLARATION) 
INSTRUMENT, 2021 (E.I.  442)
E.I. 442 was enacted to declare Monday, 3rd 
January 2022 as an Additional Public Holiday 
since New Year’s Day, a statutory Public Holiday 
under section 1 of the Public Holidays and 
Commemorative Days Act, 2001 (Act 601) fell on 
a Saturday.

58

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021



59

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021

PERFORMANCE OF THE MINING INDUSTRY IN 2021

Global Economic Developments in 2021
The tapering of lockdowns and other mobility-curtailment measures that were put in place to mitigate
the spread of COVID-19 accelerated the recovery of the global economy from one of the worst troughs
of a business cycle. Global economic activities, as measured by the real gross domestic product (GDP),
increased from -3.1 per cent in 2020 to 6.1 per cent in 20211. Although the pace of the rebound was
the highest post-recession growth rate in fourscore years, the magnitude of the upturn in measured
economic activities was uneven across the various regions and countries. The dissimilar growth
outturns mirrored the localized impact of the pandemic on economic activities and the relative efficacy
of policy responses to the viral disease.

The output growth path of the disparate countries in the major Advanced Economies was near
homogenous, with Japan being the sole outlier. In the world’s largest economy, the United States, an
expansion in personal consumption expenditure and gross private investment offset the contraction in
government spending and net exports. As a result, the real value of the country’s output grew by 5.7
per cent in 2021 relative to a downturn of 3.4 per cent in 20202. In the same vein, the GDP growth rate
in the United Kingdom grew by its highest level since the second world war, from -9.3 per cent in 2020
to 7.4 per cent in 2021. The recovery in measured economic activities was driven primarily by an
expansion in government spending, private consumption expenditure, and private investments as well
as a narrowing of the deficit in net exports3.

In the Euro Area, a string of positive economic growth outturns accelerated the Area’s recovery from
its worst recession in nearly two decades. An increase in final consumption expenditure (federal and
private) and gross capital formation occasioned a nine-year-high growth rate in the Area’s largest
economy, Germany4. The country’s real GDP improved from -4.6 per cent in 2020 to 2.9 per cent in
2021. Likewise, the other dominant economies in the Area, France, Italy, and Spain recorded upturns in
economic activities, from -7.9 per cent in 2020 to 7.0 per cent in 2021, -9.0 per cent in 2020 to 6.6 per
cent in 2021, and -10.8 in 2020 to 5.1 per cent in 2021 respectively. Overall, the Area’s GDP improved
from a downturn of 6.4 per cent in 2020 to 5.4 per cent in 20215. In Japan, the expansions in private
and government expenditures, as well as exports, were moderated by the downturn in gross capital
formation. Its GDP growth rate improved from a decline of 4.5 per cent in 2020 to 1.6 per cent in 2021.
Despite its seeming sluggish pace, the GDP growth outturn in 2021 was the country’s second highest
in the last decade6. Overall, the GDP of Advanced Economies grew from -4.5 per cent in 2020 to 5.2 per
cent in 2021.

In line with the last decade’s pattern, GDP growth outturns in the Emerging Market and Developing
Economies (EMDE) continued to outpace the average growth rate of the global and Advanced
Economies. The bloc’s GDP recovered from a downturn of 2 per cent in 2020 to 6.8 per cent in 2021 on
the back of a synchronized expansion in economic activities in the various regional groups. Emerging
and Developing countries in Asia recorded a GDP growth rate of 7.3 per cent in 2021 relative to -0.8 per
cent in 2020. In China, which is the EMDE’s and the region’s largest economy, the growth rate of the
total value of measured economic activities increased from 2.2 per cent in 2020 to 8.1 per cent in 2021.
The upturn in GDP was attributable to concurrent increases in final consumption expenditure, gross

1 International Monetary Fund (April 2022). World Economic Outlook: War sets back the global recovery. Available at:
https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/36519/9781464817601.pdf?sequence=10&isAllowed=y
2 Bureau of Economic Analysis (2022). Available at: https://www.bea.gov/sites/default/files/2022-01/gdp4q21_adv.pdf
3 Office of National Statistics (2022). Available at:
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/bulletins/quarterlynationalaccounts/octobertodecember2021
4 Federal Statistics Office of Germany (2022) Available at: https://www.destatis.de/EN/Themes/Economy/National-Accounts-Domestic-
Product/Tables/domestic-product-consumtion-capital-formation-balance-exports-imports.html
5 Eurostat (2022). Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/tec00115/default/table?lang=en
6 The Cabinet Office (2022). Available at: https://www.esri.cao.go.jp/en/sna/menu.html
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capital formation, and net exports7. Likewise, the GDP of Emerging and Developing Europe and the
Middle East improved from -1.8 per cent in 2020 to 6.7 per cent in 2021 and from -2.9 per cent to 5.7
per cent in the same period respectively. Further, Latin America and the Caribbean’s GDP expanded by
6.8 per cent in 2021 as compared to a contraction of 7 per cent in 2020.

Sub-Saharan Africa’s GDP growth rate lagged behind the equivalent outturn for the EMDE and
Advanced Economies, which reflects the tenuous recovery path of the region. The GDP of the region’s
leading economy, Nigeria, grew by 3.6 per cent in 2021 relative to -1.8 per cent in 2020. The expansion
in economic activities was driven by an increase in personal consumption expenditure and gross fixed
capital formation which offset the contraction in net exports and government expenditure8. Likewise,
South Africa’s GDP growth rate returned to a positive trajectory following a COVID-19-induced
recession in 2020. The upturn in GDP, from -6.4 per cent in 2020 to 4.9 per cent in 2021, was due to an
increase in household final consumption expenditure, gross fixed capital formation, and net exports9.
Complemented by the concurrent growth rate of GDP in every country in the region, except Chad and
the Republic of Congo, the recovery of the largest economies in the region swung the GDP growth rate
of Sub-Saharan Africa from -1.7 per cent in 2020 to 4.5 per cent in 2021.

Outlook of the Global Economy in 2022
The momentum and broad-based recovery of the global economy were forecasted to persist in 2022
due partly to the increased access to COVID-19 vaccines and the general decline in the severity of the
spillover effects of the pandemic. However, the pockets of a resurgence of the viral disease were
expected to combine with pre-existing structural rigidities to slow down the GDP growth projections.
The headline challenges include elevated inflationary expectations resulting from the accommodative
monetary policy stance in the COVID-19 era and high debt levels. This downside risk has been
amplified by the economic contagion elicited by the invasion of Ukraine by Russia. The conflict is
projected to disrupt the warring countries’ ability to play their traditional roles as major producers of
food (Ukraine) and fuel (Russia). Consequently, food and crude oil prices, which contribute more than
30 per cent of a typical country’s consumer price index (CPI) movements, were anticipated to increase
and with divergent impacts on the respective regions of the global economy.

In the Advanced Economies, the supply-side shocks induced by the war, sanctions imposed on Russia,
and country-specific structural challenges would decelerate GDP growth by almost 200 basis points,
from 5.2 per cent in 2021 to a projected outturn of 3.3 per cent in 2022. In addition to the economic
cost of the conflict, the hike in interest rates by the Federal Reserve Bank of the United States and
other central banks in the Advanced Economies was expected to further tighten the credit market for
EMDE10. The triumvirate of high inflationary expectations, elevated debt stress, and COVID-19 were
projected to reduce the GDP growth rate of EMDE to 3.8 per cent in 2022 from 6.8 per cent in 2021. On
the whole, the growth rate of aggregate value of global economic activities was anticipated to
decelerate from 6.1 per cent in 2021 to 3.6 per cent in 2022 as shown in figure 1.0

7 National Bureau of Statistics of China (2022) Statistical Communiqué of the People's Republic of China on the 2021 National Economic and
Social Development. Available at: http://www.stats.gov.cn/english/PressRelease/202202/t20220227_1827963.html
8 Nigeria Bureau of Statistics (2022) Available at https://nigeria.opendataforafrica.org/
9 Statistics South Africa (2022). Statistical Release P0441. Available at:
https://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0441/P04414thQuarter2021.pdf

10 The hike in the yield of treasury debt securities would enhance the attractiveness of such instruments to investors. More so, it would lead to

an increase in the interest rate on non-sovereign debt securities. Overall, such outcomes could trigger a reversal of capital from EMDEs. To

stymie such outflows, most governments in EMDEs bid up the rate of return on their assets, which worsens the debt crisis in the region.
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Figure 1.0: Real GDP Growth Rate in Economic Blocs and Selected Countries

Source: Constructed based on data from various sources (2022)

2.0: Domestic Economic Developments in 2021
In Ghana, the progressive easing of COVID-19 restrictions due to the relative availability of vaccines
led to a rebound in economic activities in 2021. The real value of measured economic activities
increased from GH₵ 166.157 billion in 2020 to GH₵ 175.057 billion in 2021, representing a growth
outturn of 5.4 per cent. The primary drivers of growth were expansion in the cocoa, manufacturing,
water and sewerage, information, and communication, as well as public administration and defence
sub-sectors.

In terms of sectoral growth rate, the services sector was propelled by the expansion in the
information and communication as well as public administration and defence sub-sectors to record the
highest outturn of 9.4 per cent in 2021 relative to 0.7 per cent in 2020. This was followed by the
agricultural sector with a growth rate of 8.4 per cent in 2021 as compared to 7.3 per cent in 2020. The
rebound of the cocoa sub-sector was largely responsible for the upturn in the agricultural sector. Akin
to the previous year, activities in the industrial sector contracted. However, the sector’s downturn was
at a slower rate of 0.8 per cent in 2021 relative to 2.5 per cent in 2020. The consecutive decline in the
sector’s gross value added was due to the simultaneous slump in the production of solid minerals and
hydrocarbons.

On account of its relatively high growth, the services sector consolidated its position as the largest
contributor to GDP. Its share of GDP improved marginally from 48.1 per cent in 2020 to 48.9 per cent
in 2021. In a similar vein, the agricultural sector’s share of GDP improved slightly from 20.1 per cent in
2020 to 21.0 per cent in 2021. As expected, the industrial sector’s contribution to GDP pared by 1.7
percentage points, from 31.8 per cent in 2020 to 30.1 per cent in 2021. This was primarily attributable
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to a 12.1 per cent reduction in the gross value added of the mining and quarrying sector, which also
includes oil and gas. However, the gross value added of the core mining and quarrying sub-sector
(excluding oil and gas) declined by 11.67 per cent in 2021 as compared to -13.97 per cent in 2020. This
translates into a reduction in the sub-sector’s nominal value from GH₵ 11.449 billion in 2020 and GH₵
10.113 billion in 2021 (in constant 2013 prices). In the light of its sluggish outturn, the contribution of
the core mining and quarrying sub-sector to GDP plummeted from 7.6 per cent in 2020 to 5 per cent in
2021 as depicted in table 1.0.

Table 1.0: Selected Indicators of the Core Mining and Quarrying Sub-Sector
Parameter 2020 2021 % Change

Gross Value Added (GH₵ Billion) 11.449 10.113 -11.671
Contribution to Gross Domestic Product (%) 7.585 5.001 -34.071

Growth Rate (%) -13.97 -11.67 -
Source: Based on data from the Ghana Statistical Service (2022)

Economic Growth Outlook in 2022
The GDP growth outturn in 2021 presaged the return of the Ghanaian economy to the pre-pandemic
levels of activity. To further close the output gap induced by the pandemic, the Government of Ghana
intends to complement its COVID-19 curtailment programme with tailored interventions that would
accelerate the growth of the real sector. The government’s flagship programmes, such as Planting for
Food and Jobs, as well as the Ghana COVID-19 Alleviation and Revitalisation of Enterprises Support
(GhanaCARES), would anchor the economy’s expansion in 2022. More so, the oil and gas sub-sector is
expected to recover from its two-year contraction due to favourable external developments. In a
similar vein, the growth trajectory of the minerals sector is projected to be positive in 2022. The
anticipated rebound in the sub-sector’s activities is partly premised on the halving of withholding tax
on gold exports by small-scale miners, from 3 per cent in 2021 to 1.5 per cent in 2022, as announced in
the 2022 budget statement and economic policy. Further, the Government’s planned fiscal
consolidation, which involves the introduction of new tax measures and a cutback on expenditure, is
expected to complement the previously cited interventions to increase GDP growth to 5.8 per cent in
2022.

Notwithstanding, there are significant downside risks to the economic growth outlook for 2022. The
effective loss of access to the international credit market (following the downgrade of the country’s
sovereign credit rating) portend a reduction in the government’s capital expenditure. This is likely to
impact adversely on the country’s growth prospects. At the same time, the spillover effects of the
Russia-Ukraine conflict have elevated inflationary risk and interest rate expectations, with the
possibility of crowding out the private sector from the loanable funds market.

Overall, we expect the government’s programmes to moderate the growth-curtailing effects of the
exogenous shocks. However, the contagion effects of the external developments are anticipated to tilt
the GDP growth rate outlook slightly below the projected outturn of 5.8 per cent in 2022.

Overview of Global Gold Industry in 2021
Trends in Demand for Gold in 202111

Like other assets, the demand for gold responds to changes in its own price and other variables that
are largely driven by developments in the global economy as well as regional and country-specific
dynamics. Although these factors had varying impacts on the traditional classes of demand for gold;
jewelry consumption, investment, official, and technology, they combined to increase the yellow

11 Except otherwise stated, data for this section was sourced from the World Gold Council. Available at
https://www.gold.org/goldhub/research/gold-demand-trends/gold-demand-trends-full-year-2021
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metal’s demand from 3,732 tonnes in 2020 to 3,924 tonnes in 2021. This represents year-over-year
growth of 5.13 per cent as shown in figure 2.012.

Figure 2.0: Trends in Classes of Gold Demand

Source: Based on data from World Gold Council (2022)

The demand for gold jewelry is primarily a function of real income, which is in turn determined by
nominal income and the general price level. The recovery of the global economy was associated with
modest improvements in nominal income, and this is known to correlate positively with the demand for
gold jewelry. At the same time, the accommodative fiscal and monetary measures that propelled the
global economy out of the previous year’s recession bequeathed an elevation in the general price level
in 2021, which tend to reduce real income and abate consumers’ appetite for gold jewelry. However,
the contrasting influence of the recovery of the global economy on demand for jewelry was mediated
by the additional demand elicited by the easing of COVID-19- induced restrictions on social gatherings,
such as festivals and weddings. These periods have historically coincided with a surge in demand for
gold jewelry. Overall, the growth in nominal income that was induced by the recovery of the economy
and the removal of restrictions on social events outweighed the demand-curtailing effects of an
increase in the global price level. Consequently, the demand for gold jewelry improved from 1,401
tonnes in 2020 to 2,124 tonnes in 2021 to recover its position as the largest source of demand for
gold13.

The 51.57 per cent upturn in demand for gold jewelry was occasioned by broad-based increases in the
major markets for jewelry. In the largest global market for gold jewelry, China (mainland), demand for
gold increased by 63.04 per cent to 675 tonnes in 2021 from 414 tonnes in 2020. This also implies that
China’s contribution to the demand for gold jewelry increased from 29.5 per cent in 2020 to 31.77 per
cent in 2021. The significant expansion in consumption of gold jewelry was attributed to the recovery

12 The total demand excludes inventory, which we do not consider as part of actual demand.
13 In 2020, investment demand for gold was the largest source of demand for gold.
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of China’s economy and the relatively stable price of gold. In addition, festivities proved to be a key
source of demand for gold jewelry, particularly after the country’s strict lockdown led to the
deferment of weddings and the new year festival in 2020.

In a similar vein, the demand for gold jewelry in India increased from 316 tonnes in 2020 to 611
tonnes in 2021 on the back of seasonal and social events. The country’s share of the market for gold
jewelry also increased from 22.55 per cent in 2020 to 28.77 per cent in 2021. With the exception of Sri
Lanka, whose economy was distressed, the demand for gold jewelry increased in all the other notable
markets in the Asian region.

On the whole, the region’s demand for gold increased by 68.48 per cent, from 853 tonnes in 2020 to
1,437 tonnes in 2021. In terms of share of demand for gold jewelry, the region accounted for 67.67 per
cent in 2021 as compared to 60.87 per cent in 2020.

In the Middle East, the recovery of the tourism sector partly accounted for the growth in the region’s
demand for gold jewelry from 227 tonnes in 2020 to 320 tonnes in 2021. The dominant markets, United
Arab Emirates (UAE), and Saudi Arabia, recorded demand growth outturns of 47 per cent and 57 per
cent respectively. Specifically, the demand for gold jewelry in Saudi Arabia improved from 23 tonnes in
2020 to 33 tonnes in 2021 while that of the UAE expanded from 22 tonnes to 34 tonnes over the same
period. Coupled with concurrent increases in demand from other countries in the region, the growth in
demand from the previously cited countries contributed to expanding the region’s demand for gold
jewelry from 113 tonnes in 2020 to 159 tonnes in 2021. Despite the 41.08 per cent upturn in the
region’s demand for gold jewelry, its contribution to global demand for gold jewelry decreased from
8.09 per cent in 2020 to 7.53 per cent in 2021.

Regarding the American and European regions, their respective demand for gold jewelry swung
upwards from 158 tonnes in 2020 to 192 tonnes in 2021 and from 117 tonnes to 143 tonnes in the
corresponding period. This is equivalent to a growth rate of 21.27 per cent for the American region and
28.26 per cent for the European region. In the Americas, the United States recorded a 26 per cent
year-over-year growth in demand for gold jewelry. The increase in demand for gold jewelry from 118
tonnes in 2020 to 149 tonnes in 2021 was partly due to the strengthening of the US economy. The
demand outturn in 2021 was the country’s highest in twelve years. Similarly, a string of growth in
demand for gold jewelry in Europe’s largest markets, France, Germany, Italy, and the United Kingdom,
was driven largely by the recovery of their respective economies. With respect to contribution to
demand for gold jewelry, the share of the Americas nosedived from 11.30 per cent in 2020 to 9.04 per
cent in 2021 while that of the European market declined from 7.97 per cent to 6.74 per cent over the
same period. Figure 3.0. illustrates the demand for gold jewelry in the various regions in 2021.
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Figure 3.0: Regional Share of Demand for Gold Jewelry in 2021

Source: Based on data from the World Gold Council (2022)

Investment demand for gold comprises the demand for gold bars and coins as well as gold-backed
exchange traded funds (ETF). The demand for these assets is influenced predominantly by inflation
and interest rate expectations, which tend to be correlated to the health of the global economy. While
an elevated inflationary outlook tends to enhance the appeal of gold as a hedging instrument, it also
signals the monetary authorities to increase their respective benchmark interest rates. The former
outcome is reckoned to increase the demand for gold bars and coins whereas the latter is associated
with a net outflow of ETFs.

In addition to the stable price of gold, the concerns about rising inflation triggered an eight-year high
increase in the demand for gold bars and coins, from 900 tonnes in 2020 to 1,180 tonnes in 2021. The
31 per cent expansion in demand for gold bars was driven primarily by consumers in China and India,
who account for about 40 per cent of the global demand. In mainland China, the demand for gold bars
and coins improved by 43.55 per cent to 286 tonnes in 2021 from 199 tonnes in 2020. The significant
upturn in demand was partly attributable to income growth and the pricing of gold in smaller units
such as grams. Similarly, India’s demand for gold bars and coins increased from 130 tonnes in 2020 to
187 tonnes in 2021. The 43 per cent expansion in gold bars and coins was largely explained by the
fairly stable price of gold which made the asset affordable. Further, consumers in the United States
and Germany increased their purchases of gold bars and coins from 69 tonnes in 2020 to 117 tonnes in
2021and from 157 tonnes to 162 tonnes over the same period. The significant appreciation in demand
in both countries was primarily a function of the appreciation of their respective currencies that made
the yellow bars and coins relatively affordable.

On the downside, Turkey and Iran’s demand for gold bars and coins contracted by 49.27 per cent and
29.80 per cent respectively. The decrease in Turkey’s demand for gold bars from 121 tonnes in 2020 to
61 tonnes in 2021 was due mainly to the depreciation of its currency (lira) against the dollar which
increased the price of the asset. In the case of Iran, the downturn in demand for gold bars and coins
from 36 tonnes in 2020 to 26 tonnes in 2021 was ascribed to the impact of international sanctions. A
summary of the trends in the demand for gold bars and coins is shown in figure 4.0.
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Figure 4.0: Demand for Gold Bars and Coins

Source: Based on data from the World Gold Council (2022)

Unlike gold bars and coins, western countries dominate the market for gold-backed ETFs due to their
market-oriented economy and the relatively high liquidity of such mutual funds. In the United States,
the yields on short and long-term government securities were adjusted upwards to provide real
returns to holders due to heightened inflationary risk. As a result, most investors reorganized their
portfolios in favour of such near-risk-free assets. This led to the disinvestment of 200 tonnes worth of
gold-backed ETFs from the US market. Conversely, the demand for ETFs increased by the equivalent of
19 tonnes in Germany, which is the largest market for such tradable assets in Europe. In Asia, the ETF
portfolio attributable to firms in China grew by 14 tonnes in 2021 due to the expected high returns on
such assets. Overall, there was a net outflow of 173 tonnes worth of ETFs in 2021 relative to a net
inflow of 874 tonnes in 2020.

Notwithstanding the fall in demand, the holdings of physically-backed gold ETFs were largely
concentrated in North America, with a market share of 50.47 per cent. This was followed by ETFs that
were listed on the European bourses, which account for 43.92 per cent of the global market share. The
Asian market and the residual countries account for 3.92 per cent and 1.69 per cent of the funds under
management of physically-backed gold ETFs in 2021 as depicted in figure 5.0.
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Figure 5.0: Distribution of Assets under Management of Physically-Backed Gold ETFs by Region

Source: Based on data from World Gold Council (2022)

On account of the divergent outturns of ETFs and gold bars and coins, the aggregate demand for gold
for investment purposes declined from 1,734 tonnes in 2020 to 1,007 tonnes in 2021. Its contribution
to total gold demand also fell from 47.52 in 2020 per cent to 25.67 per cent in 2021, making it the
second-largest source of demand for gold.

The penultimate demand for gold, central banks’ demand for gold, is primarily anchored on monetary
policy objectives and geopolitical considerations rather than market fundamentals. The total net
purchases of gold by the lenders of last resort rebounded from its 2020 level of 255 tonnes to 463
tonnes in 2021, representing an improvement of 86.13 per cent. This marked growth in official demand
for gold was driven by both perennial buyers and new entrants. Among the former group were the
central banks of India, Hungary, Uzbekistan, and Kazakhstan which increased their stock of reserve
gold holdings in 2021 by 77 tonnes, 63 tonnes, 30 tonnes, and 15 tonnes respectively. The significant
new purchases were made by Thailand (90 tonnes), Brazil (62 tonnes), and Singapore (26 tonnes). On
the other hand, some central banks reduced their gold holdings in 2021, with the Philippines being the
largest seller of gold (31 tonnes). The other notable sales were done by the lenders of last resort in
Kyrgyz (7 tonnes), Sri Lanka (4 tonnes), Germany (3 tonnes), and UAE (2 tonnes). As illustrated in
figure 6.0, the demand for gold for official purposes stood at 11.80 per cent in 2021. Its corresponding
share in 2020 was 6.83 per cent.
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Figure 6.0: Distribution of Demand for Gold in 2021

Source: Based on data from the World Gold Council (2020)

In terms of absolute holdings, the Federal Reserve Bank of the United States had the largest stock of
gold reserves of 8,134 tonnes at the end of 2021. This translates into 68.2 per cent of its reserve
assets. This was followed by Germany and Italy with 3,356 tonnes and 2,452 tonnes in 2021, which
was equivalent to 67.73 per cent and 64.98 per cent of their reserves respectively14. The two other
central banks that complete the list of the top five governments’ banks with the largest reserve
inventories of gold are France and Russia with 2,436 tonnes (60.34 per cent) and 2,298 tonnes (22.37
per cent) respectively. In Africa, the central banks with the largest stock of gold reserves in 2021
were Algeria, South Africa, Egypt, Libya, and Morocco with 174 tonnes, 125.3 tonnes, 125 tonnes, 117
tonnes, and 22 tonnes respectively. The equivalent shares of reserve are 18.95 percent, 125.34 per
cent, 124.97 per cent, 9.0 per cent, and 3.93 per cent. On account of the growth in new purchases, the
stock of gold used as a reserve asset increased to 35,600 tonnes as of the end of 2021, which was the
highest since 1992.

Lastly, the demand for gold used in technological applications is fundamentally a derived demand and
therefore depends on the health of demand for those outputs. The technology demand for gold
comprises gold used in electronics, other industrial applications, and dentistry. In 2021, the modest
recovery of the economy and easing of restrictions on COVID-19 provided tailwinds for a surge in
demand for gold used in electronics and other industrial applications. Specifically, the demand for gold
used in electronics increased from 249 tonnes in 2020 to 272 tonnes in 2021, representing a growth
rate of 9.11 per cent. The main uses of gold in the electronics sector include the manufacturing of LED,
Printed Circuit Boards (PCBs), and memory chips. It is also used increasingly in Artificial Intelligence
(AI) applications. While the demand for gold in other industrial applications improved by 12 per cent,
from 41.57 tonnes in 2020 to 46.76 tonnes in 2021, the downward trend in demand for gold in
dentistry persisted. The demand for gold in dentistry declined from 11.9 tonnes in 2020 to 11.4 tonnes
in 2021, a fall of 4.24. On the whole, the cumulative increase in demand for gold in electronics and
other industrial applications outweighed the decline in demand for gold in dentistry. Consequently, the
demand for gold in technological applications improved from 303 tonnes in 2020 to 330 tonnes in 2021,
which translates into a year-over-year increment of 9.05 per cent. The contribution of technological
demand for gold to aggregate demand for gold improved marginally from 8.11 per cent in 2020 to 8.41
per cent in 2021.

14 This ranking overlooks the International Monetary Fund which has a stock of 2,814 tonnes of gold since it is not the central bank of a country
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Outlook of Demand for Gold in 2022
The recovery path of the global economy has largely been tilted downwards by the resurgence of
COVID-19 in some countries and the economic contagion associated with the Russia-Ukraine war. The
projected deceleration in economic activities is expected to have an adverse impact on the affordability
of the yellow metal and therefore induce a decline in the components of demand for gold that depend
on income, such as gold bars and coins as well as jewelry. Conversely, the uncertainty of the
magnitude of the cost of the Russia-Ukraine war on the global economy would encourage some
investors to adopt “a wait-and-see strategy”, which would strengthen the allure of gold as a safe-
haven asset. This is expected to increase the investment demand for gold. On the other hand, the broad
increases in Federal Reserve Bank’s benchmark interest rates would pose a major downside risk to
ETFs even though such measures are intended to exert downward pressure on the inflation rate in the
United States. With regard to central banks’ purchases of gold, we anticipate that their demand would
increase in line with the elevation in the uncertainty of the global economy’s growth path as well as
the geopolitical tensions. Generally, we anticipate that aggregate demand for gold in 2022 would
increase but at a slower rate as compared to 2021.

Global Supply of Gold in 202115

The global supply of gold, which comprises mine production, recycled gold, and net producer hedging,
declined from 4,768 tonnes in 2020 to 4,725 tonnes in 2021. The marginal 0.9 per cent reduction in
aggregate gold supply was primarily occasioned by the 11.38 per cent slump in recycled gold and
reduction in the global hedge book by 44 tonnes, which were sufficient to offset the 2.99 per cent
increase in mine production. Specifically, gold production expanded from 3,477 tonnes in 2020 to 3,581
tonnes in 2021 while the volume of recycled gold plummeted from 1,291 tonnes in 2020 to 1,144
tonnes in 2021.
The three-year high downturn in recycled gold was unexpected as the easing of the COVID-19
restrictions was forecasted to coincide with an increase in the resale of jewelry and other gold
ornaments. This expectation was premised on the assumption that the lockdowns made it onerous for
consumers to have access to their usual over-the-counter (OTC) outlets for the resale of used gold-
bearing items. The deviation, however, was partly explained by the relatively stable and low price of
gold in 2021, which limited profit-taking opportunities in the OTC market. Furthermore, the modest
improvements in income levels associated with the recovery of the economy discouraged distressing
selling, which was prevalent in 2020. The downturn in recycled gold was particularly pronounced in
the largest OTC markets, India, and China.

Similarly, the fairly stable price of gold partly disincentivized producers from exposing their operations
to hedged prices. This was evinced by the reduction in hedging positions throughout the year, except
for the last quarter of 2021 when the hedge book increased by a marginal one percentage point.

The modest growth in mine production was explained by the expansion in output of producers in Africa,
the Commonwealth of Independent States, Central, and South America, as well as North America. The
combined increase in production from these producers counterbalanced the decline in production from
Asia, Oceania, and Europe. Africa’s contribution to global mine production increased by 6.36 per cent to
985 tonnes in 2021 from 926 tonnes in 2020. The continent’s production outturn in 2021 translates
into 27.49 per cent of global gold production, a slight improvement over the 26.62 per cent recorded in
2020. The expansion in the continent’s output was driven primarily by producers in South Africa,
Burkina Faso, Cote d’Ivoire, and Egypt, which moderated the steep decline in Ghana’s production.
Specifically, gold production attributable to producers in South Africa increased from 96 tonnes in
2020 to 105 tonnes in 2021 while that of Burkina Faso improved from 62.1 tonnes to 66.8 tonnes over

15 Unless otherwise stated, data for this section was sourced from Metals Focus Five-Year Forecasting Quarterly April 2022. This data may be
revised by Metals Focus.
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the same period16. On the contrary, gold production attributable to Ghana fell from 114 tonnes in 2020
to 80 tonnes in 202117. The slump in Ghana’s output was primarily due to the contraction in output of
the small-scale gold sector, which in turn mirrored the sub-sector’s response to the introduction of a
3.0 withholding tax on gold exports by the government in 202018. Against this backdrop, South Africa
overtook Ghana as the leading producer of gold on the African continent. More so, Ghana dropped out
of the top ten producers of gold for the first time in more than a decade.

In Asia, the decline in production of the world’s largest producer of gold, China, drove the continent’s
output downwards from 612 tonnes in 2020 to 600 tonnes in 2021. The reduction in China’s output,
from 368 tonnes in 2020 to 332 tonnes in 2021, was predicated on health and safety concerns that led
to intermittent stoppages of operations, particularly in its Shandong province. On a year-over-year
basis, China’s output fell by 9.87 per cent. Even though Indonesia, which is the eighth largest producer
of gold, recorded a 17.01 upturn in production, from 101 tonnes in 2020 to 118 tonnes in 2021, it was
insufficient to reverse the downturn in production. On account of the 2.06 per cent decline in aggregate
production, the contribution of Asia to global gold production decreased from 17.25 per cent in 2020 to
16.75 per cent in 2021 as shown in figure 7.0.

Figure 7.0: Regional Distribution of Gold Production in 2021

Source: Based on data from Metals Focus (2022)

An upturn in gold output by producers in Canada and Mexico moderated the decline in gold production
by producers in the United States. As a result, gold production attributable to North America improved
from 474 tonnes in 2020 to 496 tonnes in 2021, a growth rate of 4.53 per cent as shown in figure 8.0.
Whereas Canada’s output expanded by 11.39 per cent, from 171 tonnes in 2020 to 190 tonnes in 2021,
Mexico’s improved from 110 tonnes to 125 tonnes over the same period. The latter represents an
increase of 12.82 per cent. The rise in the previously cited countries’ output reflected the steady-state
production level, which was achieved following the easing of the COVID-19 restrictions. On the other
hand, production in the United States declined by 6.3 per cent to 181 tonnes in 2021 from 193 tonnes
in 2020 due mainly to operational issues. Owing to the modest improvement in the continent’s gold
production, the share of North America in global gold production was largely unchanged, from 13.6 per
cent in 2020 to 13.8 per cent in 2021.

16 Data on South Africa was sourced from the Minerals Council of South Africa (available at https://www.mineralscouncil.org.za/industry-
news/publications/facts-and-figures) while that of Burkina Faso was sourced from the Burkina Faso Chamber of Mines.
17 Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022) and Minerals Commission (2022)
18 The tax was applicable to only gold exports by the small-scale producers and was reduced to 1.5 per cent with effect from 2022
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Fig 8.0: Trends in Regional Gold Production (2020 and 2021)

Source: Based on data from Metals Focus (2022)

In the Commonwealth of Independent States, the output of its largest producer, Russia, decreased
marginally from 332 tonnes in 2020 to 331 tonnes in 2021. However, the growth in production from
other regional producers, such as Kazakhstan, masked the impact of the reduction in Russia’s output
on the region’s aggregate production. Overall, the region’s gold output increased by 0.63 per cent to
562 tonnes in 2021 relative to 559 tonnes in 2020 while its contribution to global gold production
dropped from 16.07 per cent in 2020 to 15.71 per cent in 2021.

Central and South America recorded the highest year-over-year increase in gold production of 11.79
per cent. The growth in the region’s output from 485 tonnes in 2020 to 542 tonnes in 2021 was
premised on a broad rise in gold production of its major producers, such as Peru, Brazil, and Argentina.
The string of consecutive growth outturns improved the region’s contribution to global gold production
from 13.9 per cent in 2020 to 15.13 per cent in 2021.

With regard to Oceania, the contraction in output from mines in Australia and Papua New Guinea
triggered a 6.28 per cent reduction in gold output, from 387 tonnes in 2020 to 363 tonnes in 2021.
Australia’s production fell from 328 tonnes in 2020 to 315 tonnes in 2021 while that of Papua New
Guinea reduced from 53 tonnes in 2020 to 43 tonnes in 2021. This translates into a downturn of 6.28
per cent for Australia and 18.87 per cent for Papua New Guinea. Expectedly, the region’s share of total
gold production declined from 11.14 per cent in 2020 to 10.14 per cent in 2021.

Lastly, the contribution of Europe to global gold production reduced from 0.97 per cent in 2020 to 0.94
per cent in 2021 on the back of a marginal 0.37 per cent fall in production. The volume of gold
produced by mines in Europe declined from 33.77 tonnes in 2020 to 33.65 tonnes in 2022. Table 2.0
provides a summary of the largest ten (10) gold-producing countries as of December 202119.

19 The rankings vary according to the source of data. This table represents a best estimate of each country’s output based on the available data
sources.
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Table 2.0: Top Gold Producing Countries in 2021
Country Production Rank

Sources: Metals Focus (2022), World Gold Council (2022), USGS (2022), Minerals Council of South
Africa (2022)

Outlook of Global Gold Supply in 2022
With full-year production from about six (6) mines that commenced operations in 2021 and steady-
state production from existing mines, the contribution of mine output to global gold supply is expected
to improve slightly over the outturn in 2021. However, the downturn in recycling and net hedging is
expected to persist, which would moderate the expected growth in aggregate gold supply in 2022. On
the whole, the outlook for the supply of gold is positive but with a slow growth rate.

The Trajectory of Gold Price in 2021
Like other assets, the price of gold is determined largely by the interaction of demand and supply. The
bullish trajectory of the gold price that characterized the end-of-year trading sessions in 2020
persisted in the early trading sessions of 2021. However, the factors that undergirded the price rally
gave way to optimism about the health of the global economy. This was particularly the case after the
Federal Reserve Bank of the United States left its benchmark interest rate, the federal funds rate,
unchanged at a range of between 0 per cent and 0.25 per cent after the maiden meeting of the Federal
Open Market Committee (FOMC) in January 2021 and subsequent meetings for the year. At the same,
the yield on the ten-year treasury note increased marginally, which persuaded investors to reorganize
their assets away from the non-interest-bearing gold to such risk-free securities. Consequently, the
yellow metal’s price, which opened the year at US$ 1,943 per ounce tumbled throughout the period
from January to March till it docked at an all-year-low price of US$ 1,683 per ounce on 30th March.
Within this period, the short-lived rise in the price of gold partly mirrored the underlying uncertainties
of the global economy’s recovery.

In April, the price rebounded on concerns about rising inflation and remained on an upward trajectory
until early June. An increase in the United States’ inflation rate to 4.2 per cent in April was a self-
fulfilling prophecy to investors’ apprehension about the expansionary monetary policy stance of the
FOMC. Although the inflation outturn was above the target rate of 2 per cent, the FOMC described it as
“transitory” and maintained its accommodative posture. The incongruence between investor
sentiments and the policy position of the FOMC were the primary tailwinds that propelled the growth
of the yellow metal’s price from a trough of US$ 1,683 per ounce at the end of March to a high of
US$ 1,829 per ounce in June as depicted in figure 9.0.

Country Production Rank
China 332 1st
Russia 331 2nd
Australia 315 3rd
Canada 190 4th
United States 181 5th
Peru 127 6th
Mexico 125 7th
Indonesia 118 8th

South Africa 105 9th

Uzbekistan 100 10th
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Figure 9.0: Price Curve of Gold in 2021

Source: Kitco (2022)

The descent in the price of gold and its subsequent oscillation between a range of US$ 1,723 per ounce
and US$ 1,902 per ounce throughout the period July to October reflected the tradeoff between steady
economic growth and returns on the yellow metal. During this period, the announcement of higher-
than-anticipated job growth by the Bureau of Labour Statistics somewhat drowned investors’ concerns
about the strength of the US economy’s recovery. More so, near-market consensus about a possible
hike in the federal funds rate to curb inflation moderated investors’ appetite for holding the yellow
metal. The appeal of gold as an investment asset also waned in response to the gradual rise in real
yields on treasury notes, which accounted for a massive outflow of ETFs. Additionally, the US dollar
appreciated against other major currencies and made it more expensive for investors to hold the asset
as part of their portfolio.

For the remaining period of the year, the seeming relapse in COVID-19 cases provided momentum for a
momentary surge in price in November. However, these concerns were somewhat assuaged after the
COVID-19 vaccines were found to be efficacious in averting severe morbidity and mortality. The yellow
metal’s price path was largely steady in the final trading sessions on the London Metals Exchange
(LME) and closed the year at a price of US$ 1,805 per ounce. Overall, gold traded at a cumulative
average price of US$ 1,798 per ounce, which was 1.64 per cent higher than the corresponding outturn
in 2020.

Global Cost of Producing Gold in 2021
The global cost of gold production, as proxied by the all-in sustaining cost (AISC), increased from
US$ 996 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,068 per ounce in 2021. The 7.27 per cent rise in cost was
symptomatic of the cost pressures that characterized mining operations in 2021. Apart from North
America as well as East Asia and the Indian Subcontinent, all the mining jurisdictions recorded year-
over-year growth in their respective AISC as depicted in figure 10.0.
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Figure 10.0: All-In Sustaining Cost for Mining Jurisdictions

Source:Based on data from Metals Focus (2022)

Oceania’s AISC growth rate of 19.33 per cent was the highest across the various mining regions in
2021. The increase in the cost of producing an ounce of gold from US$ 932 in 2020 to US$ 1,112 in
2021 was partly attributable to the broad upturn in production cost in the region’s leading gold
producers, Australia, and Papua New Guinea. The decline in production attributable to both countries
exerted upward pressure on their respective cost profile. While Australia’s AISC per ounce rose from
US$ 880 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,039 per ounce in 2021, the corresponding outturn for Papua New
Guinea was from US$ 1,251 per ounce to US$ 1,697 per ounce over the same period. This translates
into a growth rate of 18 per cent for Australia and 35.68 per cent for Papua New Guinea.

The Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) and Central America and Caribbean (CAA) regions
recorded an increase of 13.76 per cent and 13.13 per cent in their respective AISC. The expansion in
CIS’ cost of producing an ounce of gold from US$ 716 in 2020 to US$ 814 in 2021 was due to the
consecutive increase in the cost of the region’s main producers. For instance, the AISC of Russia,
Kyrgyzstan, and Kazakhstan rose from US$ 681 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 771 per ounce in 2021,
US$ 976 per ounce to US$ 1,241, and from US$ 754 per ounce to US$ 807 in the same period
respectively. The growth in cost was primarily due to the decline in their respective output. On the
other hand, the appreciation in the AISC of the CAA region from US$ 760 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 860
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per ounce in 2021 reflected the mixed cost outturns of producers. Whereas the average AISC of
producers in Mexico and Guyana dropped from US$ 901 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 849 per ounce in
2021 and from US$ 1,812 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 835 per ounce in 2021 respectively, the
corresponding parameter for Nicaragua and the Dominican Republic increased from US$ 1,086 per
ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,178 per ounce in 2021 and from US$ 779 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 983 per
ounce in 2021 respectively.

With respect to Africa, the increase in production cost of producers in South Africa (from US$ 1,377
per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,589 per ounce in 2021), Ghana (US$ 1,190 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,481
per ounce in 2021), and Cote d’Ivoire (US$ 863 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 954 per ounce in 2021) offset
the reduction in the cost of their counterparts in countries such as Senegal (US$ 1,036 per ounce in
2020 to US$ 830 per ounce in 2021), Burkina Faso (from US$ 1,002 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 991 per
ounce in 2021) and Guinea (from US$ 1,399 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,267 per ounce in 2021). As a
result, the continent’s AISC rose from US$ 1,062 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,162 per ounce in 2021,
representing a growth rate of 9.40 per cent. The 2021 AISC level of US$ 1,162 per ounce was the
highest in the various mining regions.

Similarly, the AISC of producers in the Middle East and Europe expanded by 7.13 per cent to US$ 811
per ounce in 2021 and 6.93 per cent to US$ 1,065 per ounce in 2021 respectively. The rise in the per
ounce cost of gold production was occasioned by broad-based growth in the output cost of producers
in the respective regions. As well, producers in South America reported a 2.46 per cent growth in their
AISC, from US$ 1,098 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,125 per ounce in 2021. The rise in production cost
was due to the increase in AISC of Brazil (from US$ 1,037 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,240 per ounce in
2021) and Argentina (US$ 1,276 per ounce in 2022 to US$ 1,318 per ounce in 2021) which outweighed
the fall in production cost of Chile (from US$ 1,350 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,053 per ounce in 2021)
and Peru (US$ 1,060 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,027 per ounce in 2021).

On the upside, North America’s AISC declined from US$ 1,097 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,068 per
ounce in 2021 due primarily to the moderating influence of the downturn in Canada’s AISC on the
growth of the United States’ AISC. The cost of producing an ounce of gold in Canada decreased by 7.12
per cent to US$ 1,096 per ounce in 2021 while that of the United States increased by 4.47 per cent to
US$ 1,144 per ounce in 2021. Overall, the region’s AISC fell by 2.65 per cent on a year-over-year basis.

Producers in East Asia and Indian Sub-continent recorded the largest year-over-year fall in AISC,
from US$ 1,037 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 981 per ounce in 2021. The 5.51 per cent reduction in
production cost was largely attributed to the drop in Indonesia’s AISC from US$ 966 per ounce
in 2020 to US$ 811 per ounce in 2021, which counterbalanced the growth in cost of producers in
Mongolia and China. The former’s AISC increased from US$ 779 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 994 per
ounce in 2021 while China’s ASIC rose from US$ 1,222 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,320 per ounce in
2021.

Outlook of Production Cost in 2022
The global cost of production is projected to decrease by a marginal rate of 2.69 per cent, from
US$ 1,068 per ounce in 2021 to US$ 1,039 per ounce in 202220. The downside optimism is anchored on
the expectation that the relaxation of COVID-19 measures would reduce the supply chain-induced
market frictions that drove the cost of inputs upward. Further, the increase in AISC of most mining
jurisdictions was partly explained by the fall in their respective output. With the anticipation that the
output of these mining regions would rebound, the AISC is also likely to fall since it is a function of
production.

20 Based on forecast from Metals Focus (2022)
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Trends in Global Gold Exploration in 202121

The expenditure on gold exploration across the world’s mining jurisdictions, as measured by company
budgetary allocation, increased by 41.88 per cent to US$ 6.196 billion in 2021 from US$ 4.367 billion in
2020. The significant improvement in funding for global gold exploration projects was reflective of
concurrent growth in budgetary allocation to the various mining regions in 2021 as shown in figure
11.0.

Figure 11.0: Global Gold Exploration Expenditure

Source: Based on data from S&P Capital IQ (2022)

Although Australia’s purse for exploration capital increased year-over-year, its rate of growth was
slower than that of Canada. As a result, Canada displaced Australia as the largest recipient of
exploration capital for gold projects in 2021. The budget for exploration activities in Canada increased
from US$ 789 million in 2020 to US$ 1.459 billion in 2021, which translates into an expansion of 84.97
per cent. This also connotes that Canada’s share of the global exploration budget grew from 18.06 per
cent in 2020 to 23.55 per cent in 2021. On the other hand, mining firms’ expenditure on gold
exploration projects in Australia improved by 46.50 per cent, from US$ 842 million in 2020 to
US$ 1.234 billion in 2021. On account of the deceleration in its exploration expenditure, Australia’s
share of the gold exploration budget increased slightly from 19.29 per cent in 2020 to 19.92 in 2021.
The earmarked funds for gold exploration projects in the United States increased from US$ 471 million
in 2020 to US$ 699 million in 2021, representing an improvement of 48.34 per cent. Its share of the
global gold exploration budget was equivalent to 11.28 per cent in 2021 (as shown in figure 12.0),
which was an improvement over the outturn of 10.79 per cent in 2020.

21 Unless otherwise stated, the data used in this section was sourced from S&P Capital IQ
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Figure 12.0: Distribution of Exploration Budget in 2021

Source: Source: Based on data from S&P Capital IQ (2022)

In Southeast Asia and the Pacific region, the amount of capital earmarked for gold exploration projects
grew from US$ 190 million in 2020 to US$ 221 million in 2021. The 16.54 per cent increase in
budgetary expenditure was primarily due to a general increase in funding for projects in the region. For
instance, Indonesia’s budget increased from US$ 75.8 million in 2020 to US$ 88.6 million in 2021, an
improvement of 16.9 per cent. Nonetheless, the region’s contribution to exploration spending
decreased from 4.35 per cent in 2020 to 3.57 per cent in 2021. In a similar vein, Latin America’s share
of exploration budget declined from 19.68 per cent in 2020 to 17.35 per cent in 2021 even though the
nominal allocation to projects in the region improved from US$ 859.4 million in 2020 to US$ 1,074
billion in 2021. The reduction in its share of funding is explained by the relatively slow pace of growth
in budgetary allocation.

The total expenditure on gold exploration projects in Africa improved from US$ 590 million in 2020 to
US$ 689 million in 2021, representing an increment of 16.85 per cent. On a year-over-year basis, the
continent’s share of earmarked exploration expenditure declined from 13.51 per cent in 2020 to 11.31
per cent in 2021, which reflected the deceleration in spending on specific portfolios on the continent.
At the country level, Mali was the largest recipient of funding for exploration projects, with a share of
18.41 per cent of the total budget for the continent in 2021. On the back of an increase in earmarked
exploration funds from US$ 95 million in 2020 to US$ 127 million in 2021, Mali surpassed Cote d’Ivoire
as the continent’s leading destination for gold exploration projects. Burkina Faso retained its position
as the second-largest recipient of exploration capital, and this was followed by Ghana. While Burkina
Faso’s exploration purse increased by 34.14 per cent to US$ 124 million in 2021, that of Ghana
expanded by 22.58 per cent to US$ 104 million over the same period. The analogous outturns in the
preceding year (2020) were US$ 100 million and US$ 84 million respectively.

In terms of contribution to the continent’s budget, Burkina Faso’s share improved marginally from
17.01 per cent in 2020 to 17.99 per cent in 2021 while Ghana’s increased from 14.33 per cent in 2020
to 15.04 per cent in 2021. Cote d’Ivoire’s exploration budgetary allocation fell by 18.86 per cent, from
US$ 105 million in 2020 to US$ 85 million in 2021. Consequently, its share of the continent’s planned
exploration funds dwindled from 17.80 per cent in 2020 to 12.36 per cent in 2021. Table 3.0 presents a
summary of the exploration budget for Africa in 2021.
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Table 3.0: Distribution of Budget for Gold Exploration Projects in Africa in 2021

Country Amount (US$ Million) Share in Africa's Budget Rank on the Continent
Mali 127 18.41% 1st
Burkina Faso 124 17.99% 2nd
Ghana 104 15.04% 3rd
Cote d'Ivoire 85 12.36% 4th
Tanzania 39 5.60% 5th
Guinea 36 5.22% 6th
Senegal 32 4.64% 7th
South Africa 26 3.76% 8th
Namibia 21 3.08% 9th
Egypt 20 2.84% 10th
Rest of Africa 76 11.07%
Total 689

Source: Based on data from S&P Capital IQ (2022)

The Performance of Ghana’s Mining Industry in 2021
In 2021, Ghana recorded a string of steep declines in the outturns of production and purchases of its
traditional minerals, with manganese and diamond being the outliers. A combination of concurrent
reductions in the output of both large and small-scale gold producers led to a 29.92 per cent fall in the
production of the country’s dominant mineral, gold. The volume of gold attributable to producers in
Ghana declined from 4.022 million ounces in 2020 to 2.818 million ounces in 2021, which is the lowest
level of output since 2008.

The large-scale sub-sector’s contribution to national gold production decreased from 2.847 million
ounces in 2020 to 2.720 million ounces in 2021, representing a downturn of 4.44 per cent. The descent
in the sub-sector’s output was primarily explained by a broad decline in the output of most mines, with
the output of Asanko Gold Mines, AngloGold Ashanti’s Obuasi, and Iduapriem Mines, as well as
Adamus Resources Ltd, contracting by more than 10 per cent relative to their respective production
outturns in 2020. The drop in production, which was moderated by the significant expansion in output
from Abosso Goldfields Ltd, was mainly due to operation-related challenges.

Similarly, the output of small-scale gold producers, which is proxied by exports of Licensed Gold
Exporting Companies (LGECs), plummeted by 91.66 per cent to 0.098 million ounces in 2021 from
1.175 million ounces in 2020. The near-collapse in the sub-sector’s output was principally a reflection
of the producers’ response to the imposition of a 3 per cent withholding tax on their output by the
government in 2019. Although anecdotal evidence suggests that the impost did not culminate in the
cessation of operations, it is believed that it induced the small-scale miners and LGECs to export their
output through non-official channels. Since the informality of the sub-sector has made it onerous to
collate data on actual production, exports through the national assayer, Precious Minerals Marketing
Company (PMMC), are used as a surrogate for the sub-sector’s contribution to national gold production.
Thus, the nosedive in the volume of gold exports through PMMC is equated to a decline in the output of
small-scale producers22.

On account of the dissimilar production outturns, the large-scale producers’ share in national gold
production increased from 70.78 per cent in 2020 to 96.52 per cent in 2021, with the remaining 3.48

22 This assumption may not be necessarily true
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per cent attributable to the small-scale sub-sector. However, in terms of the large-scale gold sub-
sector, the output of the producing member companies of the Chamber was equivalent to 99.65 per
cent in 2021. At the national level, the producing member companies of the Chamber accounted for
96.52 per cent of total gold output in 2021 as shown in figure 13.0. In the previous year, the equivalent
outturns were 99.93 per cent and 70.73 per cent with respect to the large-scale sector and national
gold production.

Figure 13.0: Contribution to National Gold Production by Producer

Sources: Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022), Minerals Commission (2022), PMMC (2022)

In a similar vein, the output of the sole producer of bauxite, Ghana Bauxite Company, departed from
the growth path observed in recent years. The firm’s output fell from 1.162 million tonnes in 2020 to
0.839 million tonnes in 2021. The cutback in production was partly an outcome of the uncertainty
regarding the renewal of the lease of the operator of the mine, Bosai Minerals Group23.

On the upside, the exports of diamonds recorded growth for the first time since 2014. The quantum of
diamonds exported through the implementer of the Kimberly Process, PMMC, improved by 114.20 per
cent. The increase in exports from 25,292 carats in 2020 to 54,174 carats in 2021 was primarily a
consequence of high recoveries by artisanal winners, who have been the sole producers of the mineral
since the only large-scale producer (Great Consolidated Diamond Company) was put “under care and
maintenance”.

Likewise, the attributable production of manganese by Ghana Manganese Company, which is the
mineral’s sole producer, expanded from 2.357 million tonnes in 2020 to 3.336 million tonnes in 2021.
The 41.52 per cent upturn in production was reflective of a full year’s production. In the preceding
year, the company’s output was adversely impacted by a series of “stop and start” orders by the
government. Table 4.0 juxtaposes the production outturns of the country’s main exported minerals in
2021 with that of the preceding year.

23 The government has since awarded the lease to a consortium of local firms.
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Table 4.0: Production and Exports of Minerals in Ghana
Producer 2020 2021 Year-Over-Year Change

Gold (Ounces)
Large-Scale (Members of the
Ghana Chamber of Mines

2,845,115 2,711,203 -4.71%

Other Large-Scale (Non-Member
Companies of the Chamber)

2,068 9,631 365.71%

Total (Large-Scale) 2,847,183 2,720,834 -4.44%
Licensed Gold Buying
Companies/Small-Scale

1,175,318 98,001 -91.66%

Total (National) 4,022,502 2,818,834 -29.92%
Manganese (Tonnes)

Ghana Manganese Company 2,357,515 3,336,273 41.52%
Bauxite (Tonnes)

Ghana Bauxite Company 1,162,086 839,465 -27.76%
Diamond (Carats)

Precious Minerals Marketing
Company

25,292 54,174 114.20%

Sources: Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022), Minerals Commission (2022), Precious Minerals Marketing
Company (2022)

Macroeconomic Performance of the Minerals Sector in 2021
Fiscal Revenue Performance in 202124

The total direct domestic fiscal contributions of the producing member companies of the Chamber
increased from GH₵ 3.973 billion in 2020 to GH₵ 4.611 billion in 2021. The 16.05 per cent expansion in
fiscal payments was driven primarily by an upturn in all the direct fiscal streams, corporate income tax,
mineral royalties, and employee income tax, as shown in table 5.0.

Table 5.0: Fiscal Revenue Contributions of the Producing Member Companies (GH₵)

Tax Type 2020 2021 Year-Over-Year Change (%)
Corporate Income tax 2,333,706,188 2,547,302,894 9.15%
Minerals Royalties 1,116,470,062 1,535,914,578 37.57%
Personal Income Tax 523,034,456 527,501,915 0.85%
Total 3,973,210,706 4,610,719,388 16.05%

Source: Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022)

The taxes paid on the profits of producing member companies, which is also described as corporate
income tax, increased from GH₵ 2.333 billion in 2020 to GH₵ 2.547 billion in 2021. The 9.15 per cent
rise in corporate income tax receipts was largely occasioned by the growth in payments by Ghana
Manganese Company, Newmont’s Ahafo and Akyem mines, Golden Star Resources’ Akyempim mine,
and Gold Fields’ Damang mine. The moderating influence on the improvement in company profit tax
was the decline in payments by Chirano Gold Mines, AngloGold Ashanti’s Iduapriem Mine, and the
Tarkwa Mine of Gold Fields. In 2021, the corporate income tax payments by the producing member
companies of the Chamber represented 55.25 per cent of aggregate fiscal payments and 19.50 per
cent of total corporate income tax receipts mobilized by the Ghana Revenue Authority (GRA).

24 In the previous editions of this report, we reported on the fiscal contributions of the mining sector as a whole. However, this year’s data is in
reference to only the producing member companies of the Chamber and is not representative of the larger mining industry. This has been
necessitated by challenges in sourcing data from Ghana Revenue Authority (GRA)
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Similarly, the value of mineral royalties attributable to the producing member companies of the
Chamber rose by 37.57 per cent to GH₵ 1.536 billion in 2021 from GH₵ 1,116 billion in 2020. The
upswing in mineral royalty, which is an impost on gross mineral revenue, was mainly due to the
expansion in mineral revenue of most producing member companies. In turn, the increase in mineral
revenue was a function of growth in the price of gold and output. As illustrated in figure 14.0, mineral
royalty payments accounted for 33.31 per cent of gross fiscal receipts of the producing member
companies of the Chamber in 2021.

Figure 14.0: Composition of Direct Domestic Fiscal Payments by Producing Member Companies in
2021

Source: Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022)

The residual fiscal stream, personal income tax, or pay-as-you-earn (PAYE), improved by a marginal
0.85 per cent to GH₵ 0.528 billion in 2021 from GH₵ 0.523 billion in 2020. The subdued growth of
PAYE was partly a reflection of the ebb and flow of employment in the mining sector.

Despite the expansion in fiscal payments, the contribution of producing member companies to total
direct domestic revenue declined from 18.1 per cent in 2020 to 16.48 per cent in 2021. This could be
explained by the fact that the growth rate of government revenue exceeded that of the fiscal payments
of member companies. Further, the members’ fiscal payments represented 6.69 per cent of domestic
revenue and 6.58 per cent of aggregate government revenue in 2021. The corresponding outturns in
2020 were 7.7 per cent and 7.5 per cent respectively as shown in figure 15.0.
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Figure 15.0: Share of Fiscal Payments by Producing Members in Government Revenue Streams

Sources: Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022), Ministry of Finance (2022)

Merchandise Exports and Balance of Payments
For a relatively small and open economy, such as that of Ghana, the availability of foreign currency is
not only fundamental to the balance of payments (BOP) but also has important implications on the
standard of living through its effect on the exchange rate and the general price level. More so, a liquid
forex market facilitates the intermediation role of the country’s financial institutions. This is
particularly germane in the context of the country’s heavy reliance on imports. In that regard, the
proceeds from the export of minerals, which are typically received in US dollars, are crucial to the
stability of the financial system and livelihoods.

According to the country’s lender of last resort, the Bank of Ghana, gross receipts from the export of
minerals waned from US$ 6.998 billion in 2020 to US$ 5.241 billion in 2021. The 25 per cent downturn
in mineral export receipts was attributable to the concurrent declines in proceeds from the offshore
sale of gold, manganese, and bauxite, which was partly offset by the increase in revenue from the
export of diamonds. The revenue realized from the export of gold declined from US$ 6.779 billion in
2020 to US$ 5.083 billion in 2021 due to the contraction in gold production, particularly the near-
collapse in the volume of gold exports by the small-scale sub-sector. The central bank’s data suggests
that the gold exports declined from 3.854 million ounces in 2020 to 2.820 million ounces in 2021,
which is analogous to a downturn of 26.83 per cent. Against this backdrop, the share of gold proceeds
in mineral export revenue decreased marginally from 97.15 per cent in 2020 to 96.98 per cent in 2021.

As well, revenue from the export of manganese and bauxite plummeted by 16 per cent and 42 per cent
respectively. The contraction in export receipts of manganese from US$ 160.95 million in 2020 to
US$ 134.81 million in 2021 was a consequence of lower export prices, which was moderated by an
increase in the volume of exports. Conversely, the reduction in gross export receipts of bauxite from
US$ 37.72 in 2020 to US$ 22.04 million in 2021 was attributable to a simultaneous decline in export
volume and price. Notwithstanding the decline in receipts from the export of manganese, its share in
total revenue rose from 2.30 per cent in 2020 to 2.57 per cent in 2022. However, the comparable share
for bauxite softened to 0.42 per cent in 2021 relative to 0.54 per cent in 2020.

As an outlier growth pattern, the revenue realized from the sale of diamonds increased by 144 per cent,
from US$ 0.66 million in 2020 to US$ 1.613 million in 2021. The expansion in receipts, which was
explained by higher output and realized price, triggered an increase in diamond’s contribution to total
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mineral revenue. Its share of mineral revenue rose from 0.01 per cent in 2020 to 0.03 per cent in 2021
as evinced in figure 16.0.

Figure 16.0: Composition of Mineral Revenue in 2021

Source: Based on data from the Bank of Ghana (2022)

In the light of the fall in mineral revenue, the proportion of aggregate merchandise receipts
attributable to the minerals sector reduced from 48.36 per cent in 2020 to 35.60 per cent in 2021.
Nonetheless, the mining sector retained its position as the leading source of export revenue since its
share in the merchandise trade account was higher than that of crude oil and cocoa, which are the
other main export commodities. As shown in figure 17.0, crude oil and cocoa accounted for 26.81 per
cent and 19.28 per cent of total export revenue in 2021 respectively.

Figure 17.0: Distribution of Merchandise Trade Account in 2021

Source: Based on data from the Bank of Ghana (2022)

The diminution in mineral export revenue was partially offset by the growth in receipts from the
upstream petroleum and cocoa sectors. As a result, the merchandise trade account improved from
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US$ 14.471 billion in 2020 to US$ 14.736 billion in 2021, an upturn of 1.83 per cent25. However, the
relatively high growth in imports (9.66 per cent) reduced the trade balance from US$ 2.043 billion in
2020 to US$ 1.108 billion in 2021. Coupled with unfavourable developments in the services and
investment account, the current account’s deficit widened from US$ 2.135 billion in 2020 to US$ 2.497
billion in 2021. An upturn in the capital and financial account balance improved the country’s BOP from
US$ 377.5 million in 2020 to US$ 510.1 million in 2021, an increment of 35.13 per cent. The expansion
of the surplus BOP contributed to increasing the country’s gross international reserves by 12 per cent,
from US$ 8.624 billion in 2020 to US$ 9.695 billion in 2021. In terms of import cover, the growth in the
country’s gross international reserves was equivalent to a rise from 4 months to 4.4 months. The
relatively large gross international reserves was partly responsible for the reduced depreciatory
pressure on the local currency with its accompanying pass-through effect on the general price level.

Local Impacts of Mining in 2021
Repatriation of Mineral Export Proceeds to Ghana by Producing Member Companies
While the stock of forex is important in bolstering the BOP, it is the flow of forex that facilitates the
functioning of the financial intermediation system. In that regard, the proportion of export receipts
returned to the country through the commercial banks provides liquidity and stability to the forex
market.

In 2021, the producing member companies of the Chamber returned US$ 4.075 billion of their realized
mineral revenue of US$ 4.994 billion to the country. This amounts to 81.6 per cent of their gross
mineral revenue and represents an improvement over the outturn of 71 per cent in 2020. It is worthy
of note that the proportion of mineral export revenue repatriated into the country exceeds the
thresholds stipulated in the disparate investment agreements and the Minerals and Mining Act, 2006
(Act 703).

Expenditure of Mineral Revenue of Producing Member Companies
In addition to liquidity purposes, the retention and spending of forex in-country strengthen the means
through which the minerals and mining sector influences shared development. One of the proven value
creation pathways is the interaction between the mining firms and their suppliers, who are usually
classified under the non-minerals sector. The gains elicited by such commercial relationships are not
limited to only the suppliers but extend to other local firms who benefit from the indirect and induced
benefits engendered by the interaction between mining firms and suppliers.

In 2021, the producing member companies of the Chamber spent US$ 5.897 billion on sourcing a
variety of physical and intangible inputs, compensation to employees, honouring fiscal obligations,
financing debts, and capital expenditure as well as corporate social investment projects26. The
proportion of their total expenditure that accrued to in-country entities was 67.56 per cent, which
translates into a nominal amount of US$ 3.984 billion. The remnant, US$ 1.913 billion (32.44 per cent)
was expended on non-resident beneficiaries.

Regarding the in-country expenditure streams, the producing member companies expended
US$ 1.887 billion on the procurement of non-energy goods and services from local manufacturers and
suppliers in 2021. This translates into 37.78 per cent of their mineral revenue, which was lower than
the outturn of 51.93 per cent recorded in 2020. Further, US$ 286.21 million was spent on electricity
and US$ 316.72 million on diesel in 2021. The expenditure on electricity and diesel translates into 5.73

25 Based on data from the Bank of Ghana (2022). Available at: https://www.bog.gov.gh/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/Summary-of-Economic-
and-Financial-Data-January-2022.pdf
26 The actual expenditure exceeds the mineral revenue as some companies were in a loss-making position.
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and 6.34 per cent of mineral revenue in 2021 and their analogous outturns in 2020 were 3.5 per cent
and 3.9 per cent respectively.

As well, the state received US$ 922.241 million in both direct and indirect taxes, representing 18.47
per cent of mineral revenue. In the preceding year, the state’s share of mineral revenue was 16.2 per
cent of mineral proceeds. Likewise, compensation to employees amounted to 10.93 per cent of mineral
revenue, which was higher than the outcome of 9.3 per cent recorded in 2020. The nominal
equivalence was US$ 545.939 million in 2021 and US$ 479.677 million in 2020. To support the
accelerated development of their host communities, the producing member companies expended
US$ 25.740 million on several corporate social investment (CSI) projects in 2021, which was lower
than US$ 27.839 million spent in 2020. In proportionate terms, the allocation to CSI corresponded to
0.52 per cent of mineral revenue, which was identical to the outturn in 2020. The sectors that were
supported by the producing member companies in 2021 are shown in figure 18.0

Figure 18.0: Sectoral Expenditure of CSI Projects by Producing Members in 2021

Source: Based on data from Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022)

With respect to offshore expenditures, US$ 831.283 million was spent on CAPEX, US$ 128.863 million
on debt amortization, US$ 224.443 million on imported consumables, and US$ 728.543 million as
payments to other shareholders in 2021. These payments correspond to 16.66 per cent, 2.58 per cent,
4.50 per cent and 14.60 per cent of mineral revenue in 2021 respectively. In 2020, CAPEX constituted
8.8 per cent of mineral revenue while the analogous shares of debt amortization, imported
consumables, and payments to other shareholders were 0.46 per cent, 3.78 per cent, and 1.19 per cent
respectively. The distribution of mineral revenue in 2021 is summarized in figure 19.0
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Figure 19.0 Distribution of Mineral Revenue in 2021 (USD)

Source: Based on data from the Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022)

The Workforce of the Producing Member Companies of the Chamber
At the end of 2021, the total number of persons employed directly by the producing member
companies stood at 12,236. This comprised 12,138 local employees and ninety-eight (98) expatriates.
The latter represents 0.8 per cent of the industry’s direct employees with the remaining 99.2 per cent
being Ghanaians as shown in figure 20.0.

Figure 20.0: Distribution of Employment by Nationality in 2021

Source: Based on data from the Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022)
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Revenue and Output Performance of the Producing Member Companies in 2021

The gross mineral production revenue of the producing members declined from US$ 5.141 billion in
2020 to US$ 4.994 billion in 2021. The 2.93 per cent downturn in revenue was attributable to the
reduction in gold revenue, which was moderated by the uplift in proceeds from the export of
manganese. In turn, the 3.58 per cent decrease in gold revenue, from US$ 4.999 billion in 2020 to
US$ 4.820 billion, mirrored the descent in aggregate production. Conversely, the increase in proceeds
from the sale of manganese from US$ 141.801 million in 2020 to US$ 170.440 million in 2021 was
partly due to the growth in output. The upturn in proceeds of manganese was equivalent to 20.20 per
cent as could be inferred from figure 21.0.

Figure 21.0: Mineral Production Revenue of Member Companies of the Chamber

Source: Based on data from the Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022)

A string of synchronized declines in the gold output of most member companies culminated in a
reduction of production from 2.845 million ounces in 2020 to 2.711 million ounces in 2021. The impact
of the 4.7 per cent recession in output on revenue was palliated mainly by the modest rise in the gold
price and expansion in the production of Abosso Goldfields Ltd, and FGR Bogoso Prestea Ltd.

The output of the Gold Fields’ operated Tarkwa Mine waned from 526,256 ounces in 2020 to 521,688
ounces in 2021, representing a decline of 0.87 per cent. The marginal drop in the mine’s output was
occasioned by lower tonnes processed. In contrast, the Damang Mine of Gold Fields recorded a 14.11
per cent expansion in production. The increase in output from 222,953 ounces in 2020 to 254,409
ounces in 2021 was explained by the relatively high grade produced from the Damang pit cutback
(DPCB). In the year under review, the mine’s mining activities were predominantly concentrated at the
base of the DPCB. Despite the ebb in its output, the share of Tarkwa Mine in the gross output of the
producing mines of the Chamber improved from 18.50 per cent in 2020 to 19.24 per cent in 2021. Thus,
Tarkwa Mine consolidated its position as the largest mine in the country. As well, the Damang Mine’s
contribution to production attributable to producing members of the Chamber rose from 7.84 per cent
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in 2020 to 9.38 per cent in 2021. This implies that the Gold Fields accounted for 28.63 per cent of the
Chamber’s gold output in 202127.

At the Akyem Mine of Newmont, production increased by 2.70 per cent to 381,494 ounces in 2021 from
371,476 ounces in 2020. The improvement in output was primarily a consequence of milling higher ore
grade, which was partially offset by lower mill throughput, low recovery, and build-up of in-circuit
inventory. The outturn of the mine’s output in 2021 represents 14.07 per cent of the gold output of
member companies of the Chamber, which is a marginal improvement over the outturn of 13.06 per
cent in 2020. With respect to Newmont’s Ahafo mine, production inched up from 480,247 ounces in
2020 to 480,708 ounces in 2021. This translates into 0.10 per cent increase in output, which was
largely in line with the mine’s planned production. Consequently, the contribution of Ahafo Mine to the
gross output of member companies of the Chamber grew from 13.06 per cent in 2020 to 14.07 per
cent in 2021. Overall, Newmont accounted for 31.80 per cent of production.

The AngloGold Ashanti-operated Iduapriem Mine’s output fell from 274,537 ounces in 2020 to 201,669
ounces in 2020 due to lower grades from the depletion of ore in Cut one (1), delayed waste stripping at
Cut two (2) of the Teberebie pit, and the impact of a drawdown on stockpiles. The 26.54 per cent
nosedive in production led to a reduction in its share of the gold output of member companies of the
Chamber, from 9.65 per cent in 2020 to 7.44 per cent in 2021. In the same vein, a failure of a sill pillar
at the Obuasi Mine of AngloGold Ashanti Ltd occasioned the voluntary suspension of mining activities
between 18th May and 15th October 2021. Consequently, the mine’s output plunged by 15.08 per cent
to 108,015 ounces in 2021 from 127,195 ounces in 2021. Unsurprisingly, its share of the gold
production ascribed to the Chamber fell from 4.47 per cent in 2020 to 3.98 per cent in 2021. The
combined output of Obuasi and Iduapriem mines amounted to 11.42 per cent of the Chamber’s gold
output in 2021.

The deferral of the development of secondary stopes due to paste-fill constraints and the slower than
planned development rates combined to reduce the volume of ore mined from the underground pit of
the Akyempim Mine of Golden Star Wassa Ltd28. Although the challenge was partly offset by the
processing of higher volumes of a low-grade stockpile, the mine’s output declined from 167,648
ounces in 2020 to 153,941 ounces in 2021. This translates into a downturn of 8.18 per cent.
Consequently, the contribution of Golden Star Wassa to the gold output of the Chamber declined
slightly from 5.89 per cent in 2020 to 5.68 per cent in 2021.
With respect to Asanko Gold Mines, which is jointly owned by Gold Fields and Galiano, production
declined from 249,904 ounces in 2020 to 210,421 ounces in 2021. The 15.80 per cent downturn in
output was ascribed to lower than anticipated ore grade. In the light of this development, its share in
the total gold output attributable to the producing members of the Chamber fell to 7.76 per cent in
2021 from 8.78 per cent in 2020.

The output of the Kinross-owned mine, Chirano Gold Mines, declined by 7.12 per cent to 154,430
ounces in 2021 from 166,276 ounces in 2020. The plunge in production was primarily due to a 12 per
cent decrease in ore grade, which was partially counterbalanced by an increase in mill throughput. In
turn, the rise in mill throughput was occasioned by an increase in mill availability. Owing to the
contraction in its output, the contribution of Chirano Gold Mines to total gold production of the
producing members of the Chamber ebbed marginally from 5.84 per cent in 2020 to 5.70 per cent in
2021.

27 This excludes its attributable production from the operations of Asanko Mines. If this is considered, the share of Gold Fields in the total gold
output of the Chamber would be 32.5 per cent in 2021.
28 Golden Star Resources announced the sale of the Wassa Mine to the Chinese mining conglomerate, Chifeng Jilong, in 2021 and concluded the
deal in early 2022.



89

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Similarly, the gold output attributable to the Edikan Mine of Perseus Mining Ltd shrank from 158,090
ounces in 2020 to 150,330 ounces in 2021. The 4.91 per cent fall in production was mainly explained
by the lower head grade of processed ore and a slight reduction in the volume of ore milled. However,
the improvement in the mine’s recovery rate partly offset the impact of the previously cited
constraints. Against this backdrop, the mine’s share of aggregate gold output of the producing
members of the Chamber reduced marginally from 5.56 per cent in 2020 to 5.54 per cent in 2021 as
illustrated in figure 22.0.

Figure 22.0: Share of Gold Production of the Producing Member Companies of the Chamber in 2021

Source: Based on data from the Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022)

At the FGR Bogoso Prestea Mine, which is owned by Blue International Group, production improved
from 29,833 ounces in 2020 to 32,725 ounces in 2021, representing a growth rate of 9.70 per cent. The
upturn in production, which translated into an expansion in its share of the Chamber’s gold output from
1.05 per cent in 2020 to 1.21 per cent in 2021, was largely a function of an increase in the volume of
ore mined and milled.

The gold output of the Nzema Mine of Adamus Resources Limited fell by 13.19 per cent, from 70,701
ounces in 2020 to 61,372 ounces in 2021 due to a decline in the ore grade and mill recovery rate. The
moderating influences on the mine’s production outturn were the growth in the quantum of ore mined
and milled. Owing to the reduction in its output, the contribution of Adamus Resource Ltd to the total
gold output of the Chamber dropped from 2.48 per cent in 2020 to 2.26 per cent in 2021. Figures 23.0
and 24.0 depict the production and associated revenue of the gold-producing member companies of the
Chamber in 2020 and 2021.
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Figure 23.0: Gold Production of Member Companies of the Chamber

Source: Based on data from the Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022)

Figure 24.0: Gold Production Revenue of Member Companies of the Chamber

Source: Based on data from the Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022)

The production of manganese by Ghana Manganese Company Ltd rose from 2.358 million tonnes in
2020 to 3.336 million tonnes in 2021. The 41.52 per cent growth in production was largely due to an
expansion in the volume of ore mined, which reflects a full year’s output. In the previous year, a series
of regulatory “stop and start” directives constrained the mine from producing in the first quarter.
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Outlook of Production in 2022
In 2022, we expect most of the mines to operate at a steady-state level and thereby address the
challenges that confronted their operations in 2021. In that regard, we project an increase in gold
output of the producing member companies to a range of 2.9 million ounces to 3 million ounces in 2022.
Likewise, Ghana Manganese Company is expected to produce about 5 million tonnes in 2022.

Production Cost Profile of Gold Producing Member Companies
In tandem with best practices in the mining industry, the Chamber uses the all-in sustaining cost
(AISC) per ounce as the parameter for measuring the cost of gold production. The AISC, which is a
proprietary metric of the World Gold Council, measures production and other costs related to
sustaining current gold production and capital expenditure29. The average AISC per ounce of the
Chamber’s producing member companies increased from US$ 1,190 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,418
per ounce in 2021, which was higher than the global average of US$ 1,068 per ounce. The 24.39 per
cent increase in production cost was attributable to a broad increase in the AISC of member
companies, which was partially balanced by the decline in the production cost of Abosso Goldfields Ltd.

The AISC per ounce of Newmont’s Ahafo and Akyem mines increased by 10.61 per cent and 20.61 per
cent respectively. The growth in Ahafo Mine’s AISC from US$ 980 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,084 per
ounce in 2021 was largely occasioned by an increase in cost applicable to sales, exploration
expenditure, and COVID-19-related costs. The upturn in cost applicable to sales stemmed from
unfavourable strip ratio and increased diesel and electricity prices, which was moderated by the
reduction in expenditure on mining consumables. At the Akyem mine, the rise in AISC from US$ 757
per ounce in 2020 to US$ 913 per ounce in 2021 was due to a combination of a rise in the cost
applicable to sales, sustaining capital costs as well as reclamation expenditure. In turn, the elevation
in cost applicable to sales was attributed to higher royalty payments arising from the modest increase
in the price of gold as well as an increase in the costs of diesel and maintenance.

With respect to the Tarkwa Mine of Gold Fields, AISC rose from US$ 1,017 per ounce in 2020 to
US$ 1,155 per ounce in 2021. The 13.57 per cent increment in production cost was driven by an
increase in capital expenditure and cost applicable to sales as well as a reduction in gold production.
Conversely, the AISC of Damang Mine, also owned by Gold Fields, fell from US$ 1,008 per ounce in
2020 to US$ 802 per ounce in 2021 due to the higher volume of gold sold, lower cost of sales (before
amortization and depreciation). The moderating factor on the 20.41 per cent reduction in cost was an
increase in capital expenditure.

Likewise, the AISC of the Iduapriem Mine of AngloGold Ashanti increased from US$ 985 per ounce in
2020 to US$ 1,619 per ounce in 2021, representing a growth of 64.37 per cent. The expansion in the
mine’s AISC was ascribed to an increase in cash cost, reduced production, and stockpile movements.
These cost-enhancing pressures were somewhat offset by reduced royalty payments and
capitalization of a significant amount of waste stripping costs. Regarding the Obuasi Mine of AngloGold
Ashanti, its AISC expanded from US$ 1,316 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,653 per ounce in 2021. The
25.61 per cent increase in AISC was basically a consequence of the temporary suspension of mining
activities following the sill pillar failure incident.

Further, the AISC of Asanko Gold Mine, the joint venture mine of Galiano and Gold Fields, rose from
US$ 1,115 per ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,431 per ounce in 2021. The 28.34 per cent upturn in cost was
attributable to an increase in cash cost, non-sustaining capital, and exploration expenditure. In turn,

29 See appendix four (4) for an in-depth description of the AISC
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the growth in the cash cost was due to the elevation in expenditure on fuel and mining costs, with the
offsetting factor being the reduction in royalty payments arising from the decline in production.
At the Wassa Mine of Golden Star Resources, the rise in AISC from US$ 1,003 per ounce in 2020 to
US$ 1,170 per ounce in 2021 was explained by lower production volumes, as well as higher cash
operating cost, and sustaining capital expenditure. The 16.2 per cent growth in AISC was partly
compensated by the production-induced reduction in royalty payments.

As well, the AISC of the Edikan Mine of Perseus Mining Limited, grew by 14.44 per cent to US$ 1,324
per ounce in 2021 from US$ 1,157 per ounce in 2020. The increase in production cost was primarily
caused by the reduction in output as well as an increase in processing cost and sustaining capital
expenditure.

Penultimately, Kinross’ Chirano Gold Mines recorded an expansion in its AISC from US$ 1,326 per
ounce in 2020 to US$ 1,490 per ounce in 2021. The 12.39 per cent upturn in cost was ascribed to an
increase in energy cost and contractor-induced rise in cost applicable to sales, which was partially
offset by the decline in the quantum of gold sold (equivalent ounces).

Finally, the AISC of FGR Bogoso Prestea Ltd and Adamus Resources Ltd rose from US$ 2,393 per
ounce in 2020 to US$ 3,355 per ounce in 2021and from US$ 1,226 per ounce to US$ 1,770 per ounce in
the same period respectively. The 40.21 per cent growth in FGR Bogoso Prestea Mine’s AISC as well
as the 44.37 per cent increase in that of Adamus was primarily due to increased cash cost and
sustaining capital expenditure. Figure 25.0 compares the AISC per ounce of member companies with
the cumulative average gold price in 2021.

Figure 25.0: All-In Sustaining Cost of Producing Member Companies and Average Gold Price in 2021

Sources: Based on data from the Ghana Chamber of Mines (2020), and Kitco (2022)
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Challenges Confronting Operations of Member Companies in 2021
In this section, we highlight the challenges that confronted our member companies’ activities in 2021.
These issues will be discussed in three broad themes: fiscal, advocacy, and operational issues.

Fiscal Issues
Price Build-Up of Petroleum Products
The Chamber is of the view that some of the elements in the price build-up of diesel supplied to the
mines have little or no bearing on the cost of supplying the fuel to the mines. The specific elements are
as follows:

� Ex-Refinery Price
Unlike the retail market, the ex-refinery price of diesel supplied to the mines is largely
determined by the National Petroleum Authority (NPA). In a sense, the mining industry and
other consumers in the export segment of the petroleum market do not benefit from the gains
associated with deregulation. Clearly, a decision to extend the government’s deregulation
policy to the export market would not only enhance competition but could exert downward
pressure on prices and improve the service delivery of the suppliers of diesel to the mines. The
Chamber, therefore, proposes that the government should allow market forces to
autonomously determine the ex-refinery price of diesel supplied to the mines.

� Taxes, Levies and Margins
� Energy Debt Recovery Levy

The Chamber acknowledges the debilitating impact of the legacy debts on the
sustainability and viability of the energy sector as well as commends the
government for its efforts to retire them through the Energy Sector Levy Act, 2015
(Act 899). However, the mining sector has historically paid a fair market tariff for
electricity supplied to it by the Volta River Authority (VRA) or Electricity Company
of Ghana (ECG). Indeed, the tariffs are typically above the fair value in the case of
the latter as the Public Utilities Regulatory Commission (PURC) pricing formula for
the mining industry is based on ability-to-pay rather than the cost of service. The
spread between the cost of service and the tariff paid by the mines, which could
aptly be described as a premium, is used in cross-subsidizing the consumption of
electricity by other consumers.

It is therefore patent that the mining industry was not a beneficiary of the
subsidies that led to the accumulation of debts in the energy sector. Accordingly, it
is unfair to impose a levy on mining companies to recover debts that they were
neither beneficiaries of nor a contributing party to. Accordingly, the Chamber
recommends the exclusion of the Energy Debt Recovery Levy from the price build-
up of diesel supplies to the mines as it obviously weighs heavily on the price
competitiveness of diesel to the mines, which can hardly be justified.

� Price Stabilization and Recovery Levy
The inclusion of Price Stabilization and Recovery Levy (PSRL) in the price build-up
of petroleum products serves the purpose of neutralizing the adverse effects of
movements in the exchange rate on the price of fuel. In the retail market, where
the ex-refinery price of the imported diesel is quoted in the local currency, the levy
fulfils its function of offsetting shocks induced by volatility in the exchange rate.

ChallengesConfronting Operationsof MemberCompaniesin 2021
In this section, we highlight the challenges that confronted our member companies’ activities in 2021.
Theseissueswill be discussedin three broad themes: fiscal, advocacy,andoperational issues.

Fiscal Issues
Price Build-Up of Petroleum Products
The Chamber is of the view that some of the elements in the price build-up of diesel supplied to the
mines have little or no bearing on the cost of supplying the fuel to the mines.Thespecific elements are
as follows:

l Ex-Refinery Price
Unlike the retail market, the ex-refinery price of diesel supplied to the mines is largely
determined by the National Petroleum Authority (NPA). In a sense, the mining industry and
other consumers in the export segment of the petroleum market do not benefit from the gains
associated with deregulation. Clearly, a decision to extend the government’s deregulation
policy to the export market would not only enhance competition but could exert downward
pressure on prices and improve the service delivery of the suppliers of diesel to the mines. The
Chamber, therefore, proposes that the government should allow market forces to
autonomously determine the ex-refinery price of diesel supplied to the mines.

l Taxes, Levies and Margins
v Energy Debt Recovery Levy

The Chamber acknowledges the debilitating impact of the legacy debts on the
sustainability and viability of the energy sector as well as commends the government
for its efforts to retire them through the Energy Sector Levy Act, 2015 (Act 899).
However, the mining sector has historically paid a fair market tariff for electricity
supplied to it by the Volta RiverAuthority (VRA)or Electricity Companyof Ghana(ECG).
Indeed, the tariffs are typically above the fair value in the case of the latter as the
Public Utilities Regulatory Commission(PURC)pricing formula for the mining industry
is basedon ability-to-pay rather than the cost of service. The spread between the cost
of service and the tariff paid by the mines, which could aptly be described as a
premium, is used in cross-subsidizing the consumption of electricity by other
consumers.

It is therefore patent that the mining industry was not a beneficiary of the subsidies
that led to the accumulation of debts in the energy sector. Accordingly, it is unfair to
impose a levy on mining companies to recover debts that they were neither
beneficiaries of nor a contributing party to. Accordingly, the Chamber recommends the
exclusion of the Energy Debt RecoveryLevy from the price build-up of diesel supplies
to the mines as it obviouslyweighs heavily on the price competitiveness of diesel to the
mines,which can hardly be justified.

v Price Stabilization and Recovery Levy
The inclusion of Price Stabilization and RecoveryLevy (PSRL) in the price build-up of
petroleum products serves the purpose of neutralizing the adverse effects of
movements in the exchangerate on the price of fuel. In the retail market, where the
ex-refinery price of the imported diesel is quoted in the local currency, the levy fulfils
its function of offsetting shocks inducedby volatility in the exchangerate.

On the other hand, the ex-refinery price of diesel supplied to the mines is quoted in
United States Dollars at the full parity price and companies pay their suppliers in the
aforementioned currency. This pricing regime and mode of payment imply that mining
companies and other consumers in the export market have inherently insulated the



94

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021

On the other hand, the ex-refinery price of diesel supplied to the mines is quoted in
United States Dollars at the full parity price and companies pay their suppliers in
the aforementioned currency. This pricing regime and mode of payment imply that
mining companies and other consumers in the export market have inherently
insulated the state from the currency-induced movements in the price of diesel.
Hence, the inclusion of another levy, PSRL, in the price build-up of diesel supplied
to the mines is not only superfluous but also analogous to double taxation. In that
regard, it would be apt for the government to expunge PSRL from the price build-
up of diesel supplied to the mines.

� Primary Distribution Margin
The Primary Distribution Margin (PDM) compensates operators in the primary
market of fuel products for their investments in infrastructure in that segment of
the market. Basically, these investors provide depots for holding fuel discharged
from vessels before they are transported to their final destination or facilities of
Bulk Oil Storage and Transportation Company (BOST). In the retail market, the
inclusion of the PDM in the price build-up of diesel has an economic justification as
the fuel is stored in such facilities before being transferred to the various outlets.
However, the process for handling diesel destined to the mines does not mimic that
of the retail market. The various Oil Marketing Companies (OMCs) that supply
diesel to the mines have their own storage facilities and reflect such investments
in their prices to the mines. It is therefore inappropriate to request the mining
companies to pay twice for the same service. Accordingly, the PDM should be
removed from the price build-up of diesel supplied to the mines.

� Bulk Oil Storage and Transportation Company Margin
The Bulk Oil Storage and Transportation (BOST) Company was set up to among
others, provide infrastructure for holding strategic fuel reserves for the country as
well as depots for storing fuel. In most cases, fuel supplied to the retail market
would have been stored in a BOST facility prior to being transferred to the final
destination. It is however instructive to note that fuel supplied to the mines is not
commingled with that of the retail market, which is stored in a BOST facility.
Indeed, the higher fuel specifications of the mining companies make it impossible
for their suppliers to mix their products with that destined for the retail market. It
would therefore be unfair to request an entity to pay for a service that it does not
consume or demand. Accordingly, we appeal for the exclusion of the BOST Margin
from the price build-up of diesel supplied to the mines.

� Fuel Marking Margin
On account of some historical antecedents, including a mechanism to avoid the
adulteration of petroleum products, the Government of Ghana decided to mark the
various fuels that are supplied to the retail market. Since this procedure was
necessarily associated with cost, it was apposite that the state recovered its
expenditure by introducing a margin in the price build-up of fuel supplied to the
generic market. In the export market, however, diesel supplied to the mines is not
marked. Thus, the need to include a dedicated margin to recoup costs associated
with the marking of diesel supplied to the mines would not be warranted. It is in
that regard that we kindly request for the removal of the fuel marking margin from
the price build-up of diesel consumed by mining companies.

state from the currency-inducedmovements in the price of diesel. Hence,the inclusion
of another levy, PSRL,in the price build-up of diesel supplied to the mines is not only
superfluous but also analogous to double taxation. In that regard, it would be apt for
the government to expunge PSRL from the price build-up of diesel supplied to the
mines.

v Primary Distribution Margin
The Primary Distribution Margin (PDM) compensates operators in the primary market
of fuel products for their investments in infrastructure in that segment of the market.
Basically, these investors provide depots for holding fuel discharged from vessels
before they are transported to their final destination or facilities of Bulk Oil Storage
and Transportation Company(BOST).In the retail market, the inclusion of the PDMin
the price build-up of diesel has an economic justification as the fuel is stored in such
facilities before being transferred to the various outlets. However, the process for
handling diesel destined to the mines does not mimic that of the retail market. The
various Oil Marketing Companies (OMCs) that supply diesel to the mines have their
own storage facilities and reflect such investments in their prices to the mines. It is
therefore inappropriate to request the mining companies to pay twice for the same
service. Accordingly, the PDM should be removed from the price build-up of diesel
supplied to the mines.

v Bulk Oil Storage and Transportation Company Margin
TheBulk Oil Storage andTransportation (BOST)Companywas set up to amongothers,
provide infrastructure for holding strategic fuel reserves for the country as well as
depots for storing fuel. In most cases, fuel supplied to the retail market would have
been stored in a BOSTfacility prior to being transferred to the final destination. It is
however instructive to note that fuel supplied to the mines is not commingled with that
of the retail market, which is stored in a BOST facility. Indeed, the higher fuel
specifications of the mining companies make it impossible for their suppliers to mix
their products with that destined for the retail market. It would therefore be unfair to
request an entity to pay for a service that it doesnot consumeor demand.Accordingly,
we appeal for the exclusion of the BOSTMargin from the price build-up of diesel
supplied to the mines.

v Fuel Marking Margin
On account of some historical antecedents, including a mechanism to avoid the
adulteration of petroleum products, the Government of Ghana decided to mark the
various fuels that are supplied to the retail market. Since this procedure was
necessarily associated with cost, it was apposite that the state recovered its
expenditure by introducing a margin in the price build-up of fuel supplied to the generic
market. In the export market, however, diesel supplied to the mines is not marked.
Thus, the need to include a dedicated margin to recoup costs associated with the
marking of diesel supplied to the mines would not be warranted. It is in that regard
that we kindly request for the removal of the fuel marking margin from the price build-
up of diesel consumedby mining companies.

It is obvious that the mining industry straddles the pure export market and the commercial retail
market. The Chamber suggests that rather than merely layering its ex-refinery price in US$ and
passing on all retail price elements to the mining industry, the government should reconsider the
elements of the price build-up of diesel to the mines to ensure that it reflects relevant cost elements
only. It is our consideredview that this approachwould not only improve the businessenvironment for
mining firms but also position them to operate more competitively for the benefit of all stakeholders,
including government and community members.



It is obvious that the mining industry straddles the pure export market and the commercial retail market. 
The Chamber suggests that rather than merely layering its ex-refinery price in US$ and passing on all 
retail price elements to the mining industry, the government should reconsider the elements of the price 
build-up of diesel to the mines to ensure that it reflects relevant cost elements only. It is our considered 
view that this approach would not only improve the business environment for mining firms but also 
position them to operate more competitively for the benefit of all stakeholders, including government and 
community members.

Issues with Income Tax Act, 2015 (Act 896)
The government passed the Income Tax Act, 2015 (Act 896) with the overriding objective of expanding its 
tax base and enhancing tax payments as well as revenue collection. Following the passage of the Act, the 
Chamber identified a number of concerns and raised them directly with the Minister of Finance. The 
specific concerns of the Chamber are as follows:

Ÿ Ring Fencing
Ring-fencing is one of the major and fundamental concepts underlying the entire Act 896. In addition to 
the general provisions on ring-fencing in the Act, there are specific provisions pertaining to the mining 
industry. Section 78 (1) provides that subject to this section, the following shall constitute a separate 
mineral operation:
Ÿ A mineral operation pertaining to each mine, and
Ÿ A mineral operation with a shared processing facility.

Key to the provisions on ring fencing is the concept of “Shared Processing Facility”. In 2013, the Chamber, 
the Ghana Revenue Authority and the Minerals Commission had a workshop to discuss the 
implementation of the ring-fencing provisions contained in the Internal Revenue (Amendment) Act, 2012 
(Act 839). The Chamber outlined key operational reasons why the concept of ring-fencing as contained in 
Act 592 was not practicable. The concept of “Shared Processing Facility” was introduced and it was 
defined to mean “a cluster of processing plants in close proximity”. This was the consensus reached at the 
workshop subject to holding subsequent discussions to fine-tune its implementation.

Based on the current wording of Act 896, however, it appears that if a single mine has two processing 
facilities, each processing facility shall be ring fenced separately. This raises difficulties on the ground 
where ore from different pits is trucked to these facilities. The provision in the Act is not consistent with 
the consensus reached at the afore-mentioned workshop. Further, the current wording of the law 
artificially creates separate mineral operations and makes it difficult for mining companies to comply with 
it from a cost allocation perspective. The law suggests that the mining firm should separately account for 
income and expenses for its unnaturally segregated business. 

Another key challenge in respect of the ring-fencing provisions under Act 839 is the requirement that each 
“mining area” be treated as a separate mineral operation and the definition of “mining area” as “the area 
designated from time to time by the holder of a mining lease with the approval of the Minerals 
Commission,” which is consistent with the definition of mining area in the Minerals & Mining Act, 2006 (Act 
703). This Mining Act definition envisages the routine practice of progressively declaring mining areas 
within the mining lease as part of the ongoing plan to develop a single mining operation. In essence, it 
recognizes that areas within a mine can be developed over time, but it does not follow that they should be 
treated as artificial separate mining operations for tax purposes as required by section 78 (3). To do so is 
an impractical and completely uncommercial imposition on mining companies.

For instance, how will ground rent be determined for the various mining areas within the mining lease? 
Assuming the determination of the rent is based on an area of operation, then a deduction will only be 
available for the small proportion of the fees relating to the declared active mining area. The firm will not 
be able to offset the ex-mining area costs since there is no income attributable to those areas. More so, tax 
deductions could be lost in some declared mining areas if those areas are unprofitable. Of more 
importance is the requirement in section 77(5) that “arm’s length transaction” pricing rules be applied 
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Issues with Income Tax Act, 2015 (Act 896)
Thegovernment passedthe Income Tax Act, 2015 (Act 896) with the overriding objective of expanding
its tax base and enhancing tax payments as well as revenue collection. Following the passageof the
Act, the Chamberidentified a number of concerns and raised them directly with the Minister of Finance.
Thespecific concerns of the Chamberare as follows:

v Ring Fencing
Ring-fencing is one of the major and fundamental concepts underlying the entire Act 896. In
addition to the general provisions on ring-fencing in the Act, there are specific provisions
pertaining to the mining industry. Section 78 (1) provides that subject to this section, the
following shall constitute a separatemineral operation:

A mineral operation pertaining to eachmine, and
A mineral operation with a sharedprocessingfacility.

Key to the provisions on ring fencing is the concept of “Shared Processing Facility”. In 2013,
the Chamber, the GhanaRevenueAuthority and the Minerals Commission had a workshop to
discuss the implementation of the ring-fencing provisions contained in the Internal Revenue
(Amendment) Act, 2012 (Act 839). The Chamber outlined key operational reasons why the
concept of ring-fencing as contained in Act 592 was not practicable. The concept of “Shared
ProcessingFacility” was introduced and it was defined to mean “a cluster of processingplants
in close proximity”. This was the consensus reached at the workshop subject to holding
subsequentdiscussionsto fine-tune its implementation.

Based on the current wording of Act 896, however, it appears that if a single mine has two
processing facilities, each processing facility shall be ring fenced separately. This raises
difficulties on the ground where ore from different pits is trucked to these facilities. The
provision in the Act is not consistent with the consensus reached at the afore-mentioned
workshop. Further, the current wording of the law artificially creates separate mineral
operations andmakes it difficult for mining companiesto comply with it from a cost allocation
perspective. The law suggests that the mining firm should separately account for income and
expensesfor its unnaturally segregatedbusiness.

Another key challenge in respect of the ring-fencing provisions under Act 839 is the
requirement that each “mining area” be treated as a separate mineral operation and the
definition of “mining area” as “the area designated from time to time by the holder of a mining
lease with the approval of the Minerals Commission,” which is consistent with the definition of
mining area in the Minerals & Mining Act, 2006 (Act 703). This Mining Act definition envisages
the routine practice of progressively declaring mining areas within the mining lease as part of
the ongoing plan to develop a single mining operation. In essence, it recognizes that areas
within a mine can be developedover time, but it doesnot follow that they should be treated as
artificial separate mining operations for tax purposesas required by section 78 (3). To do so is
an impractical and completely uncommercial imposition onmining companies.

For instance, how will ground rent be determined for the various mining areas within the
mining lease?Assuming the determination of the rent is basedon an area of operation, then a
deduction will only be available for the small proportion of the fees relating to the declared
active mining area.Thefirm will not be able to offset the ex-mining area costs since there is no
income attributable to those areas. More so, tax deductions could be lost in some declared
mining areas if those areas are unprofitable. Of more importance is the requirement in section
77(5) that “arm’s length transaction” pricing rules be applied between each artificial “mineral
operation” will create serious tax anomalies. In most cases the “arm’s length” price for toll
treating ore is much higher than what could be sustained in an integrated mining operation



between each artificial “mineral operation” will create serious tax anomalies. In most cases the “arm’s 
length” price for toll treating ore is much higher than what could be sustained in an integrated mining 
operation comprising multiple pits. For most mines, the feasibility of the entire operation is dependent on 
ore from a number of pits being processed through a central processing facility.  An “arm’s length” 
processing price will likely result in losses being recorded by each of the artificial “mineral operations” 
containing pits and a profit and tax being payable by the “mineral operation” which contains the processing 
plant.  That scenario is not sustainable.

In the light of the serious and hopefully unintended commercial implications resulting from the definition 
of “mining area” and the requirement to treat each mining area as a separate operation for tax purposes, 
together with the practical challenges with the concept of ring-fencing, we propose that the GRA suspend 
the enforcement of these provisions as it dialogues with the Chamber to find a common position. In the 
petroleum industry, it is comparatively easier to ring-fence on a well-by-well basis. However, the same 
practice cannot practically be transferred to the mining industry, especially surface mines, where there is 
transferability of ore from different pits.

Ÿ Limitations on Deductibility of Payment for Services to Non- Residents
Under the erstwhile tax laws, non-resident persons were effectively taxed under the withholding tax 
system. However, the new income tax appears to deny a deduction for expenditure where the income for 
the service provider is not sourced from Ghana. Specifically, section 81 (2) (b) (ii) provides that “the 
Commissioner-General shall not allow a deduction for an amount unless that amount is wholly, 
exclusively and necessarily incurred in acquiring services or facilities for the mineral operation and is the 
income of the recipient which has a source in Ghana”. Section 105 (i) also defines an income to have a 
source in Ghana “if it relates to payments for or attributable to employment, service rendered or 
forbearance from exercising employment or rendering a service in the country, regardless of the place of 
payment”.
These are the unintended consequences of the current wording of the law which the Chamber believes 
should not be the case. In its current state, the law is acutely detrimental to the mining industry, which is 
also the taxpayer. 

It is also unclear whether the restrictions in section 81 (2) have the effect of denying deductions for 
expenditure such as:
Ÿ Consumables such as fuel or chemicals acquired for use in the mining process (which is the case 

unless their purchase is accepted as the acquisition of a valuable asset)
Ÿ Wages of employees (unless they are classified as services of mining operation)
Ÿ Electricity costs, rent, telephone, among others.
In view of the nebulousness of the law, we request the GRA to take a second look at the wording of the law 

30and address the concerns raised .

96

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021

comprising multiple pits. For most mines, the feasibility of the entire operation is dependenton
ore from a number of pits being processed through a central processing facility. An “arm’s
length” processing price will likely result in losses being recorded by each of the artificial
“mineral operations” containing pits and a profit and tax being payable by the “mineral
operation” which contains the processingplant. That scenario is not sustainable.

In the light of the serious and hopefully unintended commercial implications resulting from
the definition of “mining area” and the requirement to treat each mining area as a separate
operation for tax purposes, together with the practical challenges with the concept of ring-
fencing, we propose that the GRAsuspendthe enforcement of these provisions as it dialogues
with the Chamber to find a common position. In the petroleum industry, it is comparatively
easier to ring-fence on a well-by-well basis.However, the same practice cannot practically be
transferred to the mining industry, especially surface mines, where there is transferability of
ore from different pits.

Limitations on Deductibility of Payment for Services to Non- Residents
Under the erstwhile tax laws, non-resident persons were effectively taxed under the
withholding tax system. However, the new income tax appears to deny a deduction for
expenditure where the income for the service provider is not sourced from Ghana.Specifically,
section 81 (2) (b) (ii) provides that “the Commissioner-Generalshall not allow a deduction for
an amount unless that amount is wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in acquiring
services or facilities for the mineral operation and is the income of the recipient which has a
source in Ghana”. Section 105 (i) also defines an income to havea source in Ghana“if it relates
to payments for or attributable to employment, service rendered or forbearance from
exercising employment or rendering a service in the country, regardless of the place of
payment”.
Theseare the unintended consequencesof the current wording of the law which the Chamber
believes should not be the case. In its current state, the law is acutely detrimental to the
mining industry, which is also the taxpayer.

It is also unclear whether the restrictions in section 81 (2) have the effect of denying
deductions for expenditure such as:

Consumablessuch as fuel or chemicals acquired for use in the mining process (which
is the caseunless their purchase is acceptedas the acquisition of a valuable asset)
Wagesof employees(unless they are classified as servicesof mining operation)
Electricity costs, rent, telephone,amongothers.

In view of the nebulousness of the law, we request the GRA to take a second look at the
wording of the law andaddress the concerns raised30.

v Thin Capitalisationt
The new income tax Act extends thin capitalisation provisions to restriction of deductions for
interest and foreign exchangelosses incurred by a foreign controlled company to all debt from
any source. This is a clear departure from the familiar practice of associating thin
capitalisation with related party transactions. In its current form, the Act raises a number of
practical questions:

What constitutes debt since debt has not beendefined?
At what point during the year of assessment should reference be made to in
determining debt for thin capitalization purposes?
What is the make-up of exempt equity? Act 896 is silent on retained earningsand other
reserves in determining what constitutes equity for thin capitalization purposes.

30
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� Thin Capitalisation
The new income tax Act extends thin capitalisation provisions to restriction of deductions for
interest and foreign exchange losses incurred by a foreign controlled company to all debt from
any source. This is a clear departure from the familiar practice of associating thin
capitalisation with related party transactions. In its current form, the Act raises a number of
practical questions:

� What constitutes debt since debt has not been defined?
� At what point during the year of assessment should reference be made to in

determining debt for thin capitalization purposes?
� What is the make-up of exempt equity? Act 896 is silent on retained earnings and other

reserves in determining what constitutes equity for thin capitalization purposes.
� At what point during the year of assessment should reference be made to in

determining equity for thin capitalization purposes?

The effect of the legislation is to stifle the development of new mines or expansion of existing
mines since the non-deductibility of interest and foreign exchange losses will be built into
financial models used in the bank’s credit decisions. We therefore request the GRA to provide
clarity on the interpretation and application of the provisions of thin capitalisation.

� Artificial deemed Profits or Loss of deductions on change in shareholdings
Shares held directly or indirectly in a mining company by publicly listed companies should be
exempted from the “look-through” provisions in sections 81 (8) and 62. This is on account of
the fact that publicly listed companies have no control over the sale of their shares and may
not be able to trace the beneficial owners of those shares. In most cases, the Ghanaian mining
company, which is the subject of these provisions may not have the requisite information to
comply with the Act.

We recommend that shareholders of a firm listed on a recognized stock exchange should be
treated as an individual rather than attempting to look through to its individual shareholders.
In fact, this “look-through” provision will stifle exploration and development in the Ghanaian
mining industry if not removed entirely, since it has the effect of creating an artificially
determined tax profit for, or denying tax deductions to, a Ghanaian company when the company
inevitably has to source new funds for exploration or development of a mine.

Surely it is not intended that if a foreign shareholder of a Ghanaian mining or exploration
company issues shares to a new shareholder to raise exploration funds for the Ghanaian
company in which it has invested, it will either create a taxable profit or deny future deductions
under the market value provisions of section 83 (2)? There is no disposal of an asset and no
profit made by any entity, so how can the Ghanaian exploration or mining company be taxed on
the transaction? Keep in mind that these provisions seek to create a deemed disposal for the
Ghanaian company even where the investment in that company is only a minor part of the
investment portfolio of the international investor which has a change of shareholding. Any
investors investing in Ghana would be looking at a perceived triple layer of tax which would
have to be factored into purchase prices, thereby increasing transactional costs.

If the aim of Section 83 is to tax benefits received by the sale of shares in non-Ghanaian
entities which hold indirect interests in Ghanaian mineral assets as their major investment,
consider replacing Section 83 with a provision that specifically taxes the sale of those indirect
shareholdings. Keeping in mind that if Section 83 is replaced by such a provision, the tax should

At what point during the year of assessment should reference be made to in
determining equity for thin capitalization purposes?

The effect of the legislation is to stifle the development of new mines or expansionof existing
mines since the non-deductibility of interest and foreign exchange losses will be built into
financial models used in the bank’s credit decisions.We therefore request the GRAto provide
clarity on the interpretation andapplication of the provisionsof thin capitalisation.

Artificial deemed Profits or Loss of deductions on change in shareholdings
Shares held directly or indirectly in a mining company by publicly listed companies should be
exempted from the “look-through” provisions in sections 81 (8) and 62. This is on account of
the fact that publicly listed companies have no control over the sale of their shares and may
not be able to trace the beneficial owners of those shares. In most cases,the Ghanaianmining
company, which is the subject of these provisions may not have the requisite information to
comply with the Act.

We recommend that shareholders of a firm listed on a recognized stock exchangeshould be
treated as an individual rather than attempting to look through to its individual shareholders.
In fact, this “look-through” provision will stifle exploration and development in the Ghanaian
mining industry if not removed entirely, since it has the effect of creating an artificially
determined tax profit for, or denyingtax deductions to, a Ghanaiancompanywhen the company
inevitably has to source new funds for exploration or development of a mine.

Surely it is not intended that if a foreign shareholder of a Ghanaianmining or exploration
company issues shares to a new shareholder to raise exploration funds for the Ghanaian
company in which it has invested, it will either create a taxable profit or deny future deductions
under the market value provisions of section 83 (2)? There is no disposal of an asset and no
profit made by any entity, so how can the Ghanaianexploration or mining companybe taxed on
the transaction? Keep in mind that these provisions seek to create a deemeddisposal for the
Ghanaiancompany even where the investment in that company is only a minor part of the
investment portfolio of the international investor which has a change of shareholding. Any
investors investing in Ghanawould be looking at a perceived triple layer of tax which would
haveto be factored into purchaseprices, thereby increasing transactional costs.

If the aim of Section 83 is to tax benefits received by the sale of shares in non-Ghanaian
entities which hold indirect interests in Ghanaianmineral assets as their major investment,
consider replacing Section 83 with a provision that specifically taxes the sale of those indirect
shareholdings.Keepingin mind that if Section 83 is replaced by such a provision, the tax should
only apply where the investment in the Ghanaianmining company forms a major part of the
underlying assets of the non-resident enterprise whose shares are sold and should not apply to
the sale of shareswhich are listed on a recognizedstock exchange.

Taxation of Dividends
Section 85(1) excludes Ghanaiancompany shareholders of mining companies from receiving
dividends tax free under section 59 (3) where they own at least one-quarter of the shares in
the company. This provision has the potential of creating double taxation, particularly, in the
event that the dividendpaid by the mining companywill be taxed by its immediate shareholder
and then again when that shareholder pays a dividend to its shareholder(s). Against this
background, we request the GRA to provide clarity on the appropriate interpretation of this
provision.
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 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021 only apply where the investment in the Ghanaian mining company forms a major part of the
underlying assets of the non-resident enterprise whose shares are sold and should not apply to
the sale of shares which are listed on a recognized stock exchange.

� Taxation of Dividends
Section 85(1) excludes Ghanaian company shareholders of mining companies from receiving
dividends tax free under section 59 (3) where they own at least one-quarter of the shares in
the company. This provision has the potential of creating double taxation, particularly, in the
event that the dividend paid by the mining company will be taxed by its immediate shareholder
and then again when that shareholder pays a dividend to its shareholder(s). Against this
background, we request the GRA to provide clarity on the appropriate interpretation of this
provision.

� Guidelines for Approved Rehabilitation Funds
In in line with section 84 of Act 896, mining companies are eligible for upfront deductions for
rehabilitation payments into an approved rehabilitation fund. The upfront deduction is
especially relevant for cash flow and sustainability of mining operations. However, the GRA
disallows the provisional rehabilitation payments. With this practice, there will be no profits to
offset the payments against them by the time a mine approaches its end of life. The Chamber
urges GRA to develop the relevant guidelines to make the provision effective.

� Repairs and Improvement Section 12 Act 2015 Act 896
The income of a person is calculated by deducting from that income, any expense that is
incurred by that person for the repair or improvement of a depreciable asset of that person,
where the repair or improvement cost:

1. Is for a depreciable asset of that person,
2. Must be wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the production of

income from investment or business in satisfaction of the requirement
3. Maybe of a capital nature

However, a deduction granted for a year of assessment with respect to a depreciable asset in a
particular pool of depreciable assets of a person should not exceed 5% of the written down
value of the pool at the end of the year. Any excess for which a deduction is not allowed as a
result of the limitation shall be added to the depreciation basis of the pool to which it relates.

The Implication of the S.12 of Act 896 is basically asking taxpayers to pay more taxes now by
restricting the deductible amount for repairs and improvement cost of depreciable assets by
carrying forward any excess of 5 per cent on the written down value of the pool at the end of
the year to which the repairs and improvement cost relates to. Thus, restricting costs in a
particular year and carrying forward any excess will result in a huge amount in tax liability that
members’ cash flows cannot sustain.

Value Added Tax (VAT) Flat Rate Scheme

Unlike the earlier Value Added Tax (VAT) policy, which was applicable to suppliers within a defined 
threshold, the new 3% VAT flat rate scheme applies to all suppliers, including companies within the Large 
Taxpayers Unit. Since all suppliers to the mining companies have been classified as wholesalers or 
retailers, the law will impact the mining sector directly. 

Most of the companies that supply products to the mining companies import more than 97% of their wares 
and consumables. Already, these companies pay duties and 17.5% VAT paid on the imported items. With the 
passage of the new VAT law, companies cannot claw back the 17.5% import VAT as input VAT. Consequently, 
the mining companies will bear the 3% VAT in addition to the 17.5% VAT which cannot be reclaimed and 
would be treated as output VAT without any input VAT.

v Guidelines for Approved Rehabilitation Funds
In in line with section 84 of Act 896, mining companiesare eligible for upfront deductions for
rehabilitation payments into an approved rehabilitation fund. The upfront deduction is
especially relevant for cash flow and sustainability of mining operations. However, the GRA
disallows the provisional rehabilitation payments.With this practice, there will be no profits to
offset the payments against them by the time a mine approaches its end of life. TheChamber
urgesGRAto developthe relevant guidelines to make the provision effective.

v Repairs and Improvement Section 12 Act 2015 Act 896
The income of a person is calculated by deducting from that income, any expense that is
incurred by that person for the repair or improvement of a depreciable asset of that person,
where the repair or improvement cost:

1. Is for a depreciableasset of that person,
2. Must be wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the production of

income from investment or businessin satisfaction of the requirement
3. Maybeof a capital nature

However, a deduction granted for a year of assessmentwith respect to a depreciableasset in a
particular pool of depreciable assets of a person should not exceed 5% of the written down
value of the pool at the end of the year. Any excess for which a deduction is not allowed as a
result of the limitation shall be addedto the depreciation basisof the pool to which it relates.

The Implication of the S.12 of Act 896 is basically asking taxpayers to pay more taxes now by
restricting the deductible amount for repairs and improvement cost of depreciable assets by
carrying forward any excessof 5 per cent on the written down value of the pool at the end of
the year to which the repairs and improvement cost relates to. Thus, restricting costs in a
particular year and carrying forward any excesswill result in a hugeamount in tax liability that
members’ cash flows cannot sustain.

Value Added Tax (VAT) Flat Rate Scheme
Unlike the earlier Value Added Tax (VAT) policy, which was applicable to suppliers within a defined
threshold, the new 3% VAT flat rate scheme applies to all suppliers, including companies within the
Large Taxpayers Unit. Sinceall suppliers to the mining companieshavebeenclassified as wholesalers
or retailers, the law will impact the mining sector directly.

Most of the companies that supply products to the mining companies import more than 97% of their
wares and consumables. Already, these companies pay duties and 17.5% VAT paid on the imported
items. With the passageof the new VAT law, companies cannot claw back the 17.5% import VAT as
input VAT. Consequently, the mining companies will bear the 3% VAT in addition to the 17.5% VAT
which cannot be reclaimed andwould be treated as output VAT without any input VAT.

We, therefore, request that companies should be given the opportunity to claim input VAT suffered
regardless of whether or not they fall within the 3% VAT scheme or alternatively revert to the
historical basiswhere revenuelevels determined the applicability or otherwise of the 3%VAT scheme.

Value Added Tax (VAT) on Mining Companies for the Supply of Power
The VAT Act, 2013 (Act 870) stipulates in section 27 that the supply of any form of power heat,
refrigeration or ventilation is a supply of goods.This provision also existed in the now repealedVAT Act,
1998, Act 546.

TheGRAsuggests that, as our member companiesmake their mining facilities/operations available to
service providers, to the extent that these service providers consumeelectricity on the mine site, that
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For instance, how will ground rent be determined for the various mining areas within the
mining lease? Assuming the determination of the rent is based on an area of operation, then a
deduction will only be available for the small proportion of the fees relating to the declared
active mining area. The firm will not be able to offset the ex-mining area costs since there is no
income attributable to those areas. More so, tax deductions could be lost in some declared
mining areas if those areas are unprofitable. Of more importance is the requirement in section
77(5) that “arm’s length transaction” pricing rules be applied between each artificial “mineral
operation” will create serious tax anomalies. In most cases the “arm’s length” price for toll
treating ore is much higher than what could be sustained in an integrated mining operation
comprising multiple pits. For most mines, the feasibility of the entire operation is dependent on
ore from a number of pits being processed through a central processing facility. An “arm’s
length” processing price will likely result in losses being recorded by each of the artificial
“mineral operations” containing pits and a profit and tax being payable by the “mineral
operation” which contains the processing plant. That scenario is not sustainable.

In the light of the serious and hopefully unintended commercial implications resulting from
the definition of “mining area” and the requirement to treat each mining area as a separate
operation for tax purposes, together with the practical challenges with the concept of ring-
fencing, we propose that the GRA suspend the enforcement of these provisions as it dialogues
with the Chamber to find a common position. In the petroleum industry, it is comparatively
easier to ring-fence on a well-by-well basis. However, the same practice cannot practically be
transferred to the mining industry, especially surface mines, where there is transferability of
ore from different pits.

� Limitations on Deductibility of Payment for Services to Non- Residents
Under the erstwhile tax laws, non-resident persons were effectively taxed under the
withholding tax system. However, the new income tax appears to deny a deduction for
expenditure where the income for the service provider is not sourced from Ghana. Specifically,
section 81 (2) (b) (ii) provides that “the Commissioner-General shall not allow a deduction for
an amount unless that amount is wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in acquiring
services or facilities for the mineral operation and is the income of the recipient which has a
source in Ghana”. Section 105 (i) also defines an income to have a source in Ghana “if it relates
to payments for or attributable to employment, service rendered or forbearance from
exercising employment or rendering a service in the country, regardless of the place of
payment”.
These are the unintended consequences of the current wording of the law which the Chamber
believes should not be the case. In its current state, the law is acutely detrimental to the
mining industry, which is also the taxpayer.

It is also unclear whether the restrictions in section 81 (2) have the effect of denying
deductions for expenditure such as:

� Consumables such as fuel or chemicals acquired for use in the mining process (which
is the case unless their purchase is accepted as the acquisition of a valuable asset)

� Wages of employees (unless they are classified as services of mining operation)
� Electricity costs, rent, telephone, among others.

In view of the nebulousness of the law, we request the GRA to take a second look at the
wording of the law and address the concerns raised.

consumption of electricity should be regarded as a supply of power and should be subject to VAT
accordingly.

We believe that the supply of power issue should be looked at in various applicable contexts depending
on the arrangements entered into between the member mining company and its service provider. This
is on account of the following reasons:

1) Usage of the mine’s electricity supply available to all stakeholders
Giventhe nature of mining (remote location, size of equipment etc.), certain technical and other service
providers must transfer their equipment and specialist staff to the mine site to facilitate service
delivery. In return, the mine makes available to them its facilities, supervisory staff and dedicated
space amongst others. This is a recognised industry practice and the service providers’ contractual
arrangements and invoices to the mine take cognizant of this.

As the mine does not generate or supply electricity, all mine staff, contractors, and service providers
make use of the same electricity supply and there is no additional charge for electricity consumption.
In such an instance, there has not been a separate supply of power. All service providers (caterers,
transportation services, leisure services) make use of the same electricity supply and the amount that
is billed to the mine takes cognizanceof this.

As stated earlier, this is a business-wide practice that is prevalent in other industries such as
manufacturing, and fabrication, amongothers.

2) Additional Contractual Chargefor electricity consumedby stakeholders
As in the earlier example, service providers transfer their equipment and specialist staff to the mine
site however the mine also makes available to them, a dedicated electricity supply. Such a dedicated
electricity supply is contractually agreed to and chargeableas such andso should be subject to VAT.

In this instance, we would not disagreewith the GRA’s position that a supply of power has taken place
in accordance with Act 870. We are of the view that the contractual arrangements underpinning
dealings between a mine and its service providers should be thoroughly reviewed in order to determine
whether a supply of power has indeedtaken place.
For example:

i. Does the service provider needa certain quantum of uninterrupted power in order to operate?
ii. Does the contract stipulate that there will be an additional charge for electricity consumed?
iii. Does the mine make the sameelectricity available to all of its service providers to enable them

deliver on their obligations?
iv. Doesthe mine profit from there beinga separate charge for electricity?

Whilst these are not exhaustive,they do attempt to distinguish whether electricity is available to all or
whether indeed a separate supply of power has taken place. In the case of the former, VAT is not
applicable. For the latter, VAT is duly applicable.

Exclusion of Consumables from Mining List
In the year under review, the Ministry of Finance apprised the Chamber of its intention to exclude
consumables from the Mining List. According to the Ministry of Finance, the statutes governing the
exemptions regime in the mining sector do not provide for the inclusion of consumables on the Mining
List. In that regard, it intends to disallow exemptions on consumable items imported by mining
companies. This plan, which is premised on a strict interpretation of the law, would invariably
culminate in an additional cost for the mines and service providers. It is a well-known fact that
expenditure on consumables constitutes a major outgoing in the mining industry. For such reasons,
consumables have traditionally been considered part of the Mining List. More so, expenditure on
consumables havebeen factored into the economic viability of the mines. A variation in the exemption



100

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021 items. With the passage of the new VAT law, companies cannot claw back the 17.5% import VAT as
input VAT. Consequently, the mining companies will bear the 3% VAT in addition to the 17.5% VAT
which cannot be reclaimed and would be treated as output VAT without any input VAT.

We, therefore, request that companies should be given the opportunity to claim input VAT suffered
regardless of whether or not they fall within the 3% VAT scheme or alternatively revert to the
historical basis where revenue levels determined the applicability or otherwise of the 3% VAT scheme.

Value Added Tax (VAT) on Mining Companies for the Supply of Power
The VAT Act, 2013 (Act 870) stipulates in section 27 that the supply of any form of power heat,
refrigeration or ventilation is a supply of goods. This provision also existed in the now repealed VAT Act,
1998, Act 546.

The GRA suggests that, as our member companies make their mining facilities/operations available to
service providers, to the extent that these service providers consume electricity on the mine site, that
consumption of electricity should be regarded as a supply of power and should be subject to VAT
accordingly.

We believe that the supply of power issue should be looked at in various applicable contexts depending
on the arrangements entered into between the member mining company and its service provider. This
is on account of the following reasons:

1) Usage of the mine’s electricity supply available to all stakeholders
Given the nature of mining (remote location, size of equipment etc.), certain technical and other service
providers must transfer their equipment and specialist staff to the mine site to facilitate service
delivery. In return, the mine makes available to them its facilities, supervisory staff and dedicated
space amongst others. This is a recognised industry practice and the service providers’ contractual
arrangements and invoices to the mine take cognizant of this.

As the mine does not generate or supply electricity, all mine staff, contractors, and service providers
make use of the same electricity supply and there is no additional charge for electricity consumption.
In such an instance, there has not been a separate supply of power. All service providers (caterers,
transportation services, leisure services) make use of the same electricity supply and the amount that
is billed to the mine takes cognizance of this.

As stated earlier, this is a business-wide practice that is prevalent in other industries such as
manufacturing, and fabrication, among others.

2) Additional Contractual Charge for electricity consumed by stakeholders
As in the earlier example, service providers transfer their equipment and specialist staff to the mine
site however the mine also makes available to them, a dedicated electricity supply. Such a dedicated
electricity supply is contractually agreed to and chargeable as such and so should be subject to VAT.

In this instance, we would not disagree with the GRAs position that a supply of power has taken place
in accordance with Act 870. We are of the view that the contractual arrangements underpinning
dealings between a mine and its service providers should be thoroughly reviewed in order to determine
whether a supply of power has indeed taken place.
For example:

I. Does the service provider need a certain quantum of uninterrupted power in order to operate?
II. Does the contract stipulate that there will be an additional charge for electricity consumed?

regime will therefore impact on the life of mine. TheChamberurges the Ministry of Financeto rescind
its plan to removeconsumablesfrom the MiningList

AdvocacyIssues
Incentives for Exploration Companies
Therelevance of exploration in ensuring a pipeline of future viable projects cannot be over-emphasized.
It is the single most critical activity that guarantees continuous production of mineral and discovery of
new mineral resources to supplement production from existing mines or replace output of mines
whose economic ore body is exhausted. However, exploration investment in Ghana has declined
significantly in recent years. This is alarming for a country to which mining is critical for forex and
fiscal revenuegeneration.

It is also worth noting that the preponderant share of exploration licenses issued by the Ministry of
Lands and Natural Resources is held by Ghanaianswho are usually constrained in raising capital to
finance the high-risk business of exploration. Given that Ghanaianshold a large share of exploration
mineral rights, they stand to benefit if the hurdles of exploration in terms of upfront costs are reduced
to facilitate effective exploration and consequentcommercial finds.

In other words, it is crucial to put in place an incentive scheme that will reduce the cost associated
with exploration and therefore attract the required critical investments into this high-risk business of
mineral exploration. As a first step, we request the government to exempt exploration companiesfrom
payment of VAT on big-ticket cost items such as Drilling and Laboratory Services. In Ghana,VAT is
payable on exploration expenditure, and it cannot be recovered by the exploration companies unless
they make a commercial find and commence production. This implies that where exploration is
unsuccessful, VAT would not be recoverable. Effectively, the extent of actual exploration activity is
diminished by upfront costs such as VAT on inputs. Thus, relieving the usually illiquid exploration
companies from the payment of VAT would not only improve their cash flow and reduce their
operational costs but also enhance the country’s image as a competitive destination for exploration
investment. In the long run, this will guarantee continuous mineral production and flow of fiscal and
forex receipts aswell as other benefits from the minerals sector.

Harmonization of Royalty Regime
Following consultations with stakeholders of the mining industry, section 25 of the Minerals and
Mining Act, 2006 (Act 703) was amended by the repeal of Act 794 and substituted with a provision
that givesdiscretionary powers to the Minister responsible for mining to prescribe the rate andmanner
for payment of royalty to the Republic. Theseamendments are contained in the Minerals and Mining
(Amendment) Act, 2015 (Act 900). Although, the Minister is yet to publish regulations on the rate and
manner for the payment of royalty almost two years after the passage of Act 900, some mining
companiescontinue to pay an amount equivalent to 5%of mineral revenueas required in the amended
Act31 while others are required to pay a variable royalty rate as shown in Table 1.0. The latter are
mines that have investment agreementswith the state andare relatively large gold producers.

Table 6.0: RenegotiatedRoyalty Rates in Investment andDevelopmentAgreements

Royalty Rate (%) Gold Price (USD per ounce)
3.0 Less than $1,300

3.5 $1,300- $1,449.99

4.0 $1,450- $2,299.99
5.0 $2,300 andabove

Source:JSE,2016

31 Section6(2) of the amendedAct stipulates that “despite the repeal of Act 794, the rate of royalty in force immediately before the
commencementof this Act shall continue in force until the rate is altered”.
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III. Does the mine make the same electricity available to all of its service providers to enable them
deliver on their obligations?

IV. Does the mine profit from there being a separate charge for electricity?

Whilst these are not exhaustive, they do attempt to distinguish whether electricity is available to all or
whether indeed a separate supply of power has taken place. In the case of the former, VAT is not
applicable. For the latter, VAT is duly applicable.

Exclusion of Consumables from Mining List
In the year under review, the Ministry of Finance apprised the Chamber of its intention to exclude
consumables from the Mining List. According to the Ministry of Finance, the statutes governing the
exemptions regime in the mining sector do not provide for the inclusion of consumables on the Mining
List. In that regard, it intends to disallow exemptions on consumable items imported by mining
companies. This plan, which is premised on a strict interpretation of the law, would invariably
culminate in an additional cost for the mines and service providers. It is a well-known fact that
expenditure on consumables constitutes a major outgoing in the mining industry. For such reasons,
consumables have traditionally been considered part of the Mining List. More so, expenditure on
consumables have been factored into the economic viability of the mines. A variation in the exemption
regime will therefore impact on the life of mine. The Chamber urges the Ministry of Finance to rescind
its plan to remove consumables from the Mining List

Advocacy Issues
Incentives for Exploration Companies
The relevance of exploration in ensuring a pipeline of future viable projects cannot be over-emphasized.
It is the single most critical activity that guarantees continuous production of mineral and discovery of
new mineral resources to supplement production from existing mines or replace output of mines
whose economic ore body is exhausted. However, exploration investment in Ghana has declined
significantly in recent years. This is alarming for a country to which mining is critical for forex and
fiscal revenue generation.

It is also worth noting that the preponderant share of exploration licenses issued by the Ministry of
Lands and Natural Resources is held by Ghanaians who are usually constrained in raising capital to
finance the high-risk business of exploration. Given that Ghanaians hold a large share of exploration
mineral rights, they stand to benefit if the hurdles of exploration in terms of upfront costs are reduced
to facilitate effective exploration and consequent commercial finds.

In other words, it is crucial to put in place an incentive scheme that will reduce the cost associated
with exploration and therefore attract the required critical investments into this high-risk business of
mineral exploration. As a first step, we request the government to exempt exploration companies from
payment of VAT on big-ticket cost items such as Drilling and Laboratory Services. In Ghana, VAT is
payable on exploration expenditure, and it cannot be recovered by the exploration companies unless
they make a commercial find and commence production. This implies that where exploration is
unsuccessful, VAT would not be recoverable. Effectively, the extent of actual exploration activity is
diminished by upfront costs such as VAT on inputs. Thus, relieving the usually illiquid exploration
companies from the payment of VAT would not only improve their cash flow and reduce their
operational costs but also enhance the country’s image as a competitive destination for exploration
investment. In the long run, this will guarantee continuous mineral production and flow of fiscal and
forex receipts as well as other benefits from the minerals sector.

In the considered view of the Chamber, the adoption of a sliding scale royalty regime based on the
price of minerals is commendableas it enhancespredictability in the fiscal regime and accommodates
the volatile mood swings of the minerals market, especially the price of gold, the preponderantmineral
mined in Ghana.

On the downside, however, the selective application of the variable royalty regime culminates in a
situation where mid-tier mines are heavily taxed. The current situation does not encouragemarginal
andmid-tier mines to increase investment andmay reducemine development,which could be inimical
to the sustainability of the mining industry. It may also result in high-grademining and the associated
sub-optimal development and harnessing of the country’s mineral endowment. High-grademining is a
form of mining that focuses on the extraction of high-grade ore to the exclusion of lower grade,
potentially profitable ore, which will not allow the government to realize the full potential mineral
revenue,including multipliers.

Furthermore, the state involuntarily penalizes the medium and marginal mines during periods of
sluggish commodity prices. In the long run, the critical investments which are neededto supplement
or extend the life of existing mines may not materialize since the companiesmay invest the capital in
other mining jurisdictions with competitive royalty rates. Naturally, this will shrink Government
revenueandweaken the State’s ability to grow the economyon the back of the minerals industry.

TheChamber, therefore, requests the government to adopt a common sliding-scale royalty regime for
the mining industry.

Mineral Revenue Retention Policy
The Ministry of Finance has informed the Chamber of its intention to standardize mineral revenue
retention regimes in the mining industry. It is contemplating a three-tiered retention regime where a
defined proportion of mineral export proceedswill be retained in an offshore or local account (at the
company’s discretion), local account, and the remaining sold to commercial banks under the
mandatory surrender requirement.

TheChamber’s preferred model is to retain the existing general practice where mining companieshave
binding retention agreements basedon their forex requirements. This arrangement allows the mining
companies to honour their external and internal obligations which are usually denominated in foreign
currency. More so, mining companieseffectively repatriate foreign currency when they transfer funds
from offshore accounts to settle liabilities to in-country suppliers andmanufacturers of inputs. In the
last five years, the share of mineral revenuereturned by the Chamberaveraged70 per cent. Obviously,
this is far in excess of the statutory maximum of 25 per cent of realized mineral revenue anticipated
under the Minerals andMiningAct, 2006 (Act 703).

Apart from disrupting the commercial arrangements between the mines and their suppliers, a variation
in the mineral revenue retention regime will also saddle them with additional transaction costs and
potential delays. Most mines are already operating forex accounts in offshore jurisdictions to meet
their operational and in some cases, debt raising and general financing requirements. It would
therefore be duplicative if a company is required to openandmaintain another forex account in-country.
Moreover, the bureaucracy associatedwith transfers from the local forex account will delay payments
to vendors and result in a tardy supply of critical spares and equipment. This could ultimately result in
the unplannedcessation of mining operations.

Furthermore, the proposal to vary the mineral revenueretention regime could lead to a situation where
the mining companieswill queue to access forex to honour their obligations. This will particularly be
the case if mineral receipts from the mining companies are not sequestered but added to the pool of
forex reserves. The ensuingglut in demandmay hamper the ability of financial intermediaries to meet
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Harmonization of Royalty Regime
Following consultations with stakeholders of the mining industry, section 25 of the Minerals and
Mining Act, 2006 (Act 703) was amended by the repeal of Act 794 and substituted with a provision
that gives discretionary powers to the Minister responsible for mining to prescribe the rate and manner
for payment of royalty to the Republic. These amendments are contained in the Minerals and Mining
(Amendment) Act, 2015 (Act 900). Although, the Minister is yet to publish regulations on the rate and
manner for the payment of royalty almost two years after the passage of Act 900, some mining
companies continue to pay an amount equivalent to 5% of mineral revenue as required in the amended
Act30 while others are required to pay a variable royalty rate as shown in Table 1.0. The latter are
mines that have investment agreements with the state and are relatively large gold producers.

Table 6.0: Renegotiated Royalty Rates in Investment and Development Agreements
Royalty Rate (%) Gold Price (USD per ounce)
3.0 Less than $1,300
3.5 $1,300- $1,449.99
4.0 $1,450- $2,299.99
5.0 $2,300 and above

Source: JSE, 2016

In the considered view of the Chamber, the adoption of a sliding scale royalty regime based on the
price of minerals is commendable as it enhances predictability in the fiscal regime and accommodates
the volatile mood swings of the minerals market, especially the price of gold, the preponderant mineral
mined in Ghana.

On the downside, however, the selective application of the variable royalty regime culminates in a
situation where mid-tier mines are heavily taxed. The current situation does not encourage marginal
and mid-tier mines to increase investment and may reduce mine development, which could be inimical
to the sustainability of the mining industry. It may also result in high-grade mining and the associated
sub-optimal development and harnessing of the country’s mineral endowment. High-grade mining is a
form of mining that focuses on the extraction of high-grade ore to the exclusion of lower grade,
potentially profitable ore, which will not allow the government to realize the full potential mineral
revenue, including multipliers.

Furthermore, the state involuntarily penalizes the medium and marginal mines during periods of
sluggish commodity prices. In the long run, the critical investments which are needed to supplement
or extend the life of existing mines may not materialize since the companies may invest the capital in
other mining jurisdictions with competitive royalty rates. Naturally, this will shrink Government
revenue and weaken the State’s ability to grow the economy on the back of the minerals industry.

The Chamber, therefore, requests the government to adopt a common sliding-scale royalty regime for
the mining industry.

Mineral Revenue Retention Policy
The Ministry of Finance has informed the Chamber of its intention to standardize mineral revenue
retention regimes in the mining industry. It is contemplating a three-tiered retention regime where a
defined proportion of mineral export proceeds will be retained in an offshore or local account (at the

30 Section 6(2) of the amended Act stipulates that “despite the repeal of Act 794, the rate of royalty in force immediately before the
commencement of this Act shall continue in force until the rate is altered”.

the large forex requirements of the mining industry in a timely manner. More so, the additional demand
from the mining industry may exert depreciative pressure on the local currency. In other words, the
proposal to vary the current mineral revenue retention agreement may have the unintended
consequence of triggering a loss in the value of the country’s currency relative to other external
currencies.

Since the existing regime allows for seamless and cost-effective transactions, the Chamber requests
the Ministry of Financeto retain same.This would not only allow the companiesto operate efficiently,
and cost competitively but also guaranteea steady supply of forex to the local financial intermediaries.

Operational Issues
Delays in Issuance of Environmental Permits
The lack of adequate personnel at the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to review permit
applications causes lengthy delays in approval of same. The unpredictable lead times for issuing
permits by the EPA adversely affect project planning and execution. It also impacts negatively on the
raising of investment capital for projects since it creates uncertainty regarding cash flows and other
project metrics. A survey by the Fraser Institute in 2020 showed that most investors were concerned
about the long lead time for the approval of environmental permits for both mining and exploration
firms. We, therefore, urge the government to improve the human resource capacity of EPA.

Deplorable State of Railway Infrastructure
TheWestern railway line, which was the primary mode of hauling bulk minerals to the Takoradi Port,
has deteriorated over the years becauseof obsolescenceand limited investments. Consequently, the
bulk mining companies,like the other producers of bulk export commodities, have had to make use of
the more expensiveroad system. For instance, the GhanaManganeseCompanyhauled 15.6 per cent of
its shipment via the western railway line and the remnant by road. It is estimated that the cost of road
haulage is 50 per cent more expensivethan the alternative of using the railway lines. This erodes the
bottom line of the bulk mineral producers and could compel them to fold up prematurely if a solution is
not found sooner.

Successive Budget Statements and Economic Policies point out the intention of the government to
rehabilitate the western rail network. Unfortunately, this is yet to happen,even though the benefits of
a well-functioning railway system will not be a preserve of the mining industry but the entire economy.
It could also serve as an alternative means of transporting life, foodstuff, and other commodities
across the country.

The Chamber is therefore pleased with the government’s efforts to rehabilitate the country’s railway
network, particularly, the western railway line. We urge the government to expedite action in that
regard since it has the inherent potential to generate revenueto pay back the initial investment cost.



103

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021

Statistical Appendix

Appendix One (1): Mineral Production of Member Companies of the Chamber

Source: Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022)

Appendix Two (2): Mineral Revenue of Producing Member Companies (USD)
Company 2020 2021 Y-O-Y % Change
Gold Fields Ghana Limited 927,742,233 936,879,994 0.98%
Newmont Ghana Gold Limited 859,811,831 864,720,119 0.57%
Newmont Golden Ridge Limited 660,412,008 686,327,413 3.92%
Abosso Goldfields Limited 400,796,046 457,508,881 14.15%
Asanko Gold Mine Limited 418,130,426 372,024,382 -11.03%
AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem Mine 485,448,023 361,004,679 -25.63%
Golden Star Wassa Limited 297,471,686 275,938,934 -7.24%
Chirano Gold Mines Limited 295,101,472 267,036,214 -9.51%
Perseus Mining (Ghana) Limited 247,554,013 241,176,298 -2.58%
AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Mine 229,976,665 194,527,189 -15.41%
Ghana Manganese Company Ltd 141,801,025 170,439,747 20.20%
Adamus Resources Limited 123,375,468 111,078,686 -9.97%
FGR Bogoso Prestea Limited 52,849,521 55,737,306 5.46%
Total 5,140,470,417 4,994,399,843 -36.08%
Source: Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022)

Company 2020 2021 Y-O-Y % Change
Gold (Ounces)

Gold Fields Ghana Ltd- Tarkwa Mine 526,256 521,688 -0.87%
Newmont Ghana Gold Ltd- Ahafo Mine 480,247 480,708 0.10%
Newmont Golden Ridge Ltd- Akyem Mine 371,476 381,494 2.70%
Abosso Goldfields Ltd 222,953 254,409 14.11%
Asanko Gold Limited 249,904 210,421 -15.80%
AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem Ltd 274,537 201,669 -26.54%
Chirano Gold Mines 166,276 154,430 -7.12%
Golden Star Wassa Ltd 167,648 153,941 -8.18%
Perseus Mining (Ghana) Ltd 158,090 150,330 -4.91%
AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Ltd 127,195 108,015 -15.08%
Adamus Resources Ltd 70,701 61,372 -13.19%
FGR Bogoso Prestea Ltd 29,833 32,725 9.70%
Total 2,845,115 2,711,203 -4.71%

Manganese (Ounces)

Ghana Manganese Company Ltd 2,357,515.00 3,336,273.00 41.52%
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Appendix Three (3): All-In Sustaining Cost (USD per Ounce)
Company 2020 2021 Y-O-Y % Change
FGR Bogoso Prestea Ltd 2,393 3,355 40.21%
Adamus Resources Ltd 1,226 1,770 44.37%
AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Ltd 1,316 1,653 25.61%
AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem Ltd 985 1,619 64.37%
Chirano Gold Mines 1,326 1,490 12.39%
Asanko Gold Limited 1,115 1,431 28.34%
Perseus Mining (Ghana) Ltd 1,157 1,324 14.44%
Golden Star Wassa Ltd 1,003 1,170 16.62%
Gold Fields Ghana Ltd- Tarkwa Mine 1,017 1,155 13.57%
Newmont Ghana Gold Ltd- Ahafo Mine 980 1,084 10.61%
Newmont Golden Ridge Ltd- Akyem Mine 757 913 20.61%
Abosso Goldfields Ltd 1,008 802 -20.41%
Source: Ghana Chamber of Mines (2022)

Appendix Four (4): Composition of All-In Sustaining Cost

Source: Based on the formula of the World Gold Council (2022)
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Appendix Five (5): Volume of Gold Purchased by Licensed Gold Exporting Companies (Ounces)
Name of Company 2020 2021 Y-O-Y% Change
A.G.B COMPANY LIMITED 10,101 -100.0%
AISIBCO LIMITED 15 -
AMPSEL COMMODITIES LIMITED 36,532 -100.0%
ARIMA INTRA GHANA LIMITED 23,878 4,419 -81.5%
ASANSKA JEWELLERY LIMITED 47,824 10,606 -77.8%
ASAP VASA COMPANY LIMITED 630 -100.0%
AU MINERAL RESOURCES LIMITED 2,831 5,845 106.5%
BH MINERALS 6,087 2,526 -58.5%
BLAZE METALS 33,156 10,014 -69.8%
BRENLEY QUARTZ COMPANY LTD 325,952 185 -99.9%
BULLION CITY LIMITED 86,012 589 -99.3%
COSMOS EDGE COMPANY LIMITED 48,017 7,956 -83.4%
DE-APIDAGO COMPANY LIMITED 110,129 245 -99.8%
DUNAMIS PLAST 110 -100.0%
FAVDAZ GOLD 64 -
FIORE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 3,918 312 -92.0%
GHG GHANA LIMITED 204 -
GOLD COAST REFINERY LIMITED 305 -100.0%
GOLD CREST REFINERY LIMITED 7,481 2,583 -65.5%
GOLD EMPIRE RESOURCES LIMITED 52 -
GOLD RECOVERY GHANA LIMITED 2,348 1,710 -27.2%
GOLDEN EMPIRE LEGACY LIMITED 101,528 871 -99.1%
GOLDRIDGE GHANA LIMITED 3,945 4,058 2.9%
H.A EXPLOITS 51,088 182 -99.6%
HELVENT INVESTMENT LIMITED 151 17 -88.7%
IVEX MINERALS 1,768 -
JORLY MINERALS LIMITED 9,883 484 -95.1%
JRG REFINERY 1,882 -100.0%
KARLS GROUP 9,172 -100.0%
KOANTWI COMPANY LIMITED 3,893 -
KYEI & AMANKWA CONSULTING LTD 76,388 -100.0%
LAUS MINERALS 2,041 15,629 665.6%
M&C LOGISTICS AND TRADING LIMITED 2,187 1,285 -41.2%
MAGNATE PRECIOUS METALS 1,707 -100.0%
OAR GHANA LIMITED 3,265 -100.0%
PRESTIGE METAL LOGISTICS GHANA LTD 18,416 12,337 -33.0%
QUANTUM GOLD LIMITED 1,495 -
RAFMOH GOLD LIMITED 51,592 2,197 -95.7%
SABOO'S FORWARDERS 16 30 83.4%
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SEWIA MINING 60 -
STELNA SOLUTIONS LTD 1,405 691 -50.8%
SWB4 COMPANY LIMITED 8,402 -100.0%
TRUST INTERGRITY INTERNATIONAL 771 -
VAIPRA IMPEX 9,815 899 -90.8%
VIMSTAR COMPANY LIMITED 77,094 1,091 -98.6%
YH COMPANY LIMITED 31 2,919 9354.8%
Total 1,175,318 98,001 -91.7%
Source: Precious Minerals Marketing Company (2022)

Appendix Six (6): Value of Gold Purchased by Licensed Gold Exporting Companies (US$)
Name of Company 2020 2021 Y-O-Y % Change
A.G.B COMPANY LIMITED 17,081 -100.00%
AISIBCO LIMITED 26,493 -
AMPSEL COMMODITIES LIMITED 68,030,732 -100.00%
ARIMA INTRA GHANA LIMITED 44,519,920 8,105,136 -81.79%
ASANSKA JEWELLERY LIMITED 83,091,048 18,932,699 -77.21%
ASAP VASA COMPANY LIMITED 1,088,791 -100.00%
AU MINERAL RESOURCES LIMITED 5,263,924 10,413,611 97.83%
BH MINERALS 11,379,350 4,496,056 -60.49%
BLAZE METALS 53,642,410 18,057,442 -66.34%
BRENLEY QUARTZ COMPANY LTD 562,824,572 331,372 -99.94%
BULLION CITY LIMITED 157,396,192 1,060,160 -99.33%
COSMOS EDGE COMPANY LIMITED 14,695,295 -
COSMOS EDGE INVESTMENT 89,911,742 -100.00%
DE-APIDAGO COMPANY LIMITED 188,997,382 449,165 -99.76%
DUNAMIS PLAST 202,365 -100.00%
FAVDAZ GOLD 117,993 -
FIORE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 6,795,050 571,705 -91.59%
GHG GHANA LIMITED 360,568 #DIV/0!
GOLD COAST REFINERY LIMITED 482,562 -100.00%
GOLD CREST REFINERY LIMITED 13,321,471 4,660,105 -65.02%
GOLD EMPIRE RESOURCES LIMITED 94,549 -
GOLD RECOVERY GHANA LIMITED 4,262,903 3,050,064 -28.45%
GOLDEN EMPIRE LEGACY LIMITED 167,906,118 1,571,328 -99.06%
GOLDRIDGE GHANA LIMITED 7,211,372 7,217,736 0.09%
H.A EXPLOITS 84,578,162 320,171 -99.62%
HELVENT INVESTMENT LIMITED 266,734 30,921 -88.41%
IVEX MINERALS 3,228,681 -
JORLY MINERALS LIMITED 16,398,417 904,222 -94.49%
JRG REFINERY 3,258,961 -100.00%
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KARLS GROUP 17,465,515 -100.00%
KOANTWI COMPANY LIMITED 7,171,403 -
KYEI & AMANKWA CONSULTING LTD 128,554,190 -100.00%
LAUS MINERALS 3,802,346 28,252,747 643.03%
M&C LOGISTICS AND TRADING LIMITED 3,601,246 2,313,166 -35.77%
MAGNATE PRECIOUS METALS 3,158,737 -100.00%
OAR GHANA LIMITED 6,125,859 -100.00%
PRESTIGE METAL LOGISTICS GHANA LTD 34,842,889 22,169,799 -36.37%
QUANTUM GOLD LIMITED 2,721,251 -
RAFMOH GOLD LIMITED 90,548,289 3,935,357 -95.65%
SABOO'S FORWARDERS 31,623 53,097 67.91%
SEWIA MINING 106,837 -
STELNA SOLUTIONS LTD 2,353,090 1,219,512 -48.17%
SWB4 COMPANY LIMITED 15,763,741 -100.00%
TRUST INTEGRITY INTERNATIONAL 1,381,396 -
VAIPRA IMPEX 18,588,751 1,699,665 -90.86%
VIMSTAR COMPANY LIMITED 131,723,925 1,920,274 -98.54%
YH COMPANY LIMITED 58,902 5,273,900 8853.71%
Total 2,027,466,360 176,913,874 -91.27%

Source: Precious Minerals Marketing Company (2022)
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GALLERY OF MEMBERS’ ACTVITIES
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GOLDFIELDS: COCOA INPUT SUPPORT PROGRAMME - DAMANG MINE

DAMANG COMMISSIONS FATIGUE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 
- FATIGUE CONTROL ROOM AT DAMANG MINE

DAMANG MINE LAUNCHES INTER-DEPARTMENTAL SAFETY AWARDS
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GOLD FIELDS TARKWA MINE SUPPORTS UMAT ARBORETUM PROJECT

MEDICAL OUTREACH AT DAMANG_GFG FOUNDATION 
& ROTARY CLUBS OF TARKWA, ANAJI, ACCRA (3)
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ROAD SAFETY CAMPAIGN & SENSITISATION FOR SCHOOL CHILDREN IN TARKWA

ROAD SAFETY CAMPAIGN & SENSITISATION 
FOR SCHOOL CHILDREN IN TARKWA



In line with its commitment to promote quality 
education in its host communities, AngloGold 
Ashanti Iduapriem Mine, commissioned a two-
unit two-bedroom and four-unit one-bedroom 
semi-detached teachers’ quarters for the 
Abompuniso Basic School to alleviate the plight 
of teachers, who had to walk for long hours to 
s c h o o l  d a i l y  a s  a  r e s u l t  o f  l a c k  o f 
accommodation. 

The project, which was funded by the AngloGold 
Ashanti Iduapriem Community Trust Fund at 
the cost of GHS 669,111, is expected to not only 
improve the regularity and punctuality of 
teachers but also enhance teaching and 
learning in the area in line with the Mine’s Basic 
Education Improvement Programme. 

AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem Mine Commissions 
Teachers’ Quarters for Abompuniso Basic School    
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Iduapriem Mine handed over a six-unit classroom block 
each for use by pupils and staff of Awudua Methodist 
Basic School and New Tokunaso Basic Schools in the 
Prestea Huni Valley Municipality of the Western Region. 
The gesture forms part of the Mine’s Basic Education 
Improvement Programmes aimed at improving access 
to  qual i t y  basic  educat ion in  i ts  catchment 
communities.

IDUAPRIEM MINE HANDS OVER 2 NEW CLASSROOM BLOCKS 
TO TWO HOST COMMUNITY SCHOOLS

AngloGold Ashanti Iduapriem Mine in has 
commissioned a 20-bed fully resourced 
Communicable Diseases Unit for the Tarkwa 
Nsuaem Municipality at the Apinto Government 
Hospital. 

The facility was refurbished at a cost of 
GH?300,000 and serves as an isolation centre for 
management of  COVID-19 cases in  the 
municipality.

The project covered the provision of washrooms, 
improvement in ventilation within the block to 
prevent cross-infection, and expansion of rooms 

for the comfort of patients and healthcare 
workers.

The Mine further used the occasion to present 
assorted essential medical supplies valued at 
about GH?1.2 million to help in the fight against 
COVID-19 in the municipality. The items included: 
100 beds, 30 monitors, 80 drip stands, 3 
ventilators, 30 infra-red thermometers, 20 air 
c o n d i t i o n e r s ,  H y d r o x y c h l o r o q u i n e , 
Dexamethasone, Anticoagulants, Antibiotics 
(intravenous) and Immune boosters, among 
others.

Iduapriem Commissions 20-bed Communicable Diseases Unit 
for Tarkwa-Nsuaem Municipality
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 AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Mine in collaboration with Solidaridad West Africa, launched the Climate 
Resilient Oil Palm Project (CROPP) in October 2021. This is part of the mine’s efforts to reclaim 
degraded land, contribute to the global climate change mitigation activities and creating sustainable 
jobs for residents in our host communities. 

AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Mine in collaboration with Ghana Enterprise Agency and other 
stakeholders, organised the 2021 Obuasi Trade Show as part of the mines’ efforts to diversify 
Obuasi’s economy through trade promotion.

2021 OBUASI TRADE SHOW

CLIMATE RESILIENT OIL PALM PROJECT
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AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Community Trust Fund constructed, commissioned, and handed over 
a 16-bed maternity block to the Obuasi Municipal Government Hospital as part of its community 
development initiatives. 

AGA OBUASI COMMUNITY TRUST FUND COMMISSIONS 
AND HANDS OVER MATERNITY BLOCK 

AngloGold Ashanti Obuasi Mine commissioned an Enterprise and Skills Development 
Center (ESDC) as part of its Obuasi Economic Diversification programme.

OBUASI ENTERPRISE AND SKILLS DEVELOPMENT 
CENTER COMMISSIONING
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Social and Governance

In January 2022, Golden Star Resources (GSR) 
was acquired by Chifeng Gold Ltd

73.6 million dollars in total government 
payments for 2021.

In 2021, GSR continued to abide by the details of 
the Memoranda of Understanding (MOU), which 
was signed with the host communities in 2019. 
The MOU addresses relationship and sustainable 
livelihoods, local employment, and contract, as 
well as the Golden Star Development Foundation. 
The purpose of the MOU was to provide a 
formalised framework for communication and 
foster a proactive and peaceful community 
relationship.

Community Health and COVID -19 support to 
our communities

As a major employer and therefore catalyst for 
rural economic development in our host 
communities, we share the dual burden of 
knowing that our continued operations are also 
critical to the health and wellbeing of our 
workforce and the thousands of people that they 
support both directly and indirectly.  In 
recognition of these responsibilities, our COVID-
19 management was highly prevention-focused 
and proactive. We also worked closely with our 
partners in the Ghana Health Services for 
purposes of integrated management

Projects to enhance production

Ventilation Shaft Projects

GSR continue to sink shafts to enhance the 
ventilation of our underground operations.  The 
upgrade project includes a return airshaft with 
exhaust fans installed underground.  

Power Plant Secures Reliable Energy Supply

Golden Star contracted Genser Energy Ghana 
Limited (Genser) to construct a natural gas power 

plant to reduce Golden Star's dependency on the 
National grid and ensure consistent flow of power. 
As a result, Wassa operations became fully 
dependent on Genser power in 2021. This change 
has provided a reliable power supply and lowered 
the power tariff – delivering cost savings of more 
than US$8 million over the next five years.  

The natural gas power station has removed stress 
on the national grid power supply, improving 
power availability for other users. Securing 
energy supply continuity is a key step to improving 
our sustainability.  

ACTIVITIES OF GOLDEN STAR RESOURCES 
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Paste Backfill Plant

Currently, Golden Star operates an underground 
mine where Mined out stopes are by legislation 
to be backfilled. In 2020, we achieved our 
milestone by completing a Paste Backfill Plant. 
The facility, constructed with the expertise of 
local staff in the Civil Engineering, Processing 
and Underground departments, is the first of its 
kind in Ghana. With the use of ceramic filters to 
improve safety, it is set to become the first of its 
kind in Africa.  

The benefits of the Paste Backfill plant go beyond 
environmental benefits to provide Structural, 
Safety and Economic gains for Golden Star and its 
stakeholders. 

It enables the storage of tailings underground and 
a better option to mitigate the risk of Tailings 
failures. In addition, it saves green fields, which 
are used to construct more Tailings Storage 
Facilities as mining operations continue. 

Structurally, our underground mine becomes more 
fortified with the filling of mined stopes. This 
reduces rock bursts, and roof falls and improves 
safe work conditions. 

Economically, the structural integrity provided by 
filled mine stopes gives Golden Star access to high-
grade pillars, leading to higher recovery and higher 
returns.

In November 2021, Newmont Ghana finalized the updated social responsibility agreements with the 10 
communities near Ahafo after nearly three years of reviews and stakeholder engagements. Enhancement 
of the agreements include: Relationship Agreement, Employment Agreement and Foundation Agreement.

AHAFO SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AGREEMENT



Improved soil hydro-
physicochemical properties
supporting plant growth

Low heavy metals levels (Igeo):

As, Hg, Ni etc.

Yield Performance:
5.8 tons/ha

Yield Performance: 13.0
tons/ha
MOFA (2014) Farmer Avg:
13.9 tons/ha

On –site compost
preparation

BRINGING THE ASANKO NKRAN PIT WASTE DUMP BACK 
TO LIFE FOR FOOD CROP PRODUCTION

Land Preparation
Battered slope: 20-30 degrees
Growth medium: oxide+topsoil 

Nutritional Content

Parameters Cassava Plantain

As (g/kg) <0.0001 <0.0001

Fe (%) 0.016 0.03

Crude
protein (%)

3.91 3.85

Energy (%) 367.65 367.13

GHANA MANGANESE COMPANY LTD LAUNCHES  YOUTH 
APPRETICESHIP PROGRAM FOR ITS CATCHMENT COMMUNITIES

Ghana Manganese Company Ltd Unveiled Community Youth Apprenticeship Program to 
empower the youth within its host communities to acquire employable skills.
The first batch of 27 apprentices were enrolled in April 2021 in various sections and 
departments on the mine for skills acquisition.
The total cost of the one year apprenticeship program was GHC 388,800.00
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Newmont Ghana has a  Memorandum of 
Understanding with the Forestry Commission 
(FC) for a biodiversity offset programme at the 
Atewa Extension Forest Reserve. This program 
aims to mitigate impacts to Key Biodiversity 
Values (KBVs) created by the mine’s operations in 
the Ajenjua Bepo Forest Reserve, and the FC has 
allocated 2,640 hectares in the reserve. A 
steering committee involving the FC, EPA, 
Minerals Commission and IUCN oversees the 
biodiversity offset work activities. In 2021, 
Newmont advanced pre-feasibility studies on 
biodiversity offset calculations, vegetation 
mapping and the biological and socio-economic 
baseline studies. A validation workshop was held 
in June. Optional evaluations were completed 
with a single option identified to move forward 

with management and rehabilitation and progress 
the project toward feasibility during 2022.

AKYEM BIODIVERSITY OFFSET PROGRAMME

In line with Newmont Africa’s artisanal and 
small-scale mining (ASM) and Local Economic 
Development and Skills Improvement strategies 
and the long-term goal of providing alternative 
livelihood opportunities for ASM operators, 
Newmont engaged consultants to conduct a 
training needs assessment and design relevant 
programs for ASM operators near our operations 
in Ghana. The company also began the planning 
and design phase for a fabrication and welding 
training program for select ASM operators. 

In April 2022, Newmont launched the Artisanal 
Small-Scale Mining (ASM) Alternative Livelihood 

Pilot Programme. The 24 participants pioneer 
trainees were selected from our ten host 
communities for the pilot phase. They were also 
chosen based on their desire to opt out of illegal 
min ing  and engage in  a lternat ive  work 
opportunities. 

Out of the 24 participants, 19 are from Ahafo 
South and five (5) from Ahafo North. They will be 
tra ined in  Welding & Fabr icat ion by an 
Internationally Certified Training Institution – 
CPI in Tema for 12 weeks. 

ARTISANAL AND SMALL-SCALE MINING LIVELIHOODS
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As part of efforts to drive its Inclusion and Diversity strategy, Newmont Ghana established the 
Female Top-Up Training Program that seeks to assist females from its host communities to build their 
capacity and increase their competitive advantage in employment opportunities - not just for 
Newmont but for other companies with job opportunities. 
In November, 2021, 15 local girls who enrolled in the Newmont Akyem Mine Top Up Programme 
graduated from the four-month programme. Also, in December, 2021, 15 local females from 
Newmont Ghana’s Ahafo 10 host communities graduated from the Newmont Ahafo Mine Top Up 
Programme. 
By investing in programmes such as the Top Up Training Program, Newmont Ghana is demonstrating 
its commitment to creating value and improve lives through sustainable and responsible mining.

MORE FEMALES GRADUATE FROM NEWMONT’S TOP UP PROGRAMME

Under the Gold for Gold Program, a reading literacy initiative by Newmont Ghana in partnership with 
United Way Ghana and the Ghana Library Authority, reading clinics and competitions were organized 
for the Nima Cluster of Schools and Al-Waleed Basic Schools in Accra. To mark International Literacy 
Day, employee volunteers held a virtual reading program for students from the two schools. About 80 
pupils benefited from these reading sessions. 

GOLD FOR GOLD PROGRAM
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Newmont Ghana sponsored the Best Female Graduating Student in Mining Engineering at the 
University of Mines and Technology as part of a three-year MOU with the University. The package 
includes a cash prize of $1,000, a laptop computer and a one-year national service opportunity with 
Newmont. Ellen Essien is the honoree of the 2021 award. This award is in line with our support 
towards the SDG 5 – Gender Equality, as well as our strategy of developing a robust and diverse talent 
pipeline within the mining industry.

NEWMONT GHANA SPONSORS BEST FEMALE GRADUATE 
IN MINING ENGINEERING AT UMAT

Newmont Ghana funded the construction of isolation wards, provided a vehicle and PPE, and 
partnered with the Ghana Health Service (GHS) and the Kumasi Centre for Collaborative Research in 
Tropical Medicine to commission two PCR labs. Newmont further trained personnel to build the 
capacity of community clinics to test for COVID-19 and other infectious diseases. In collaboration 
with the GHS and the American Chamber of Commerce, Newmont Ghana purchased 90,000 vaccine 
doses and administered them to employees, family members and contractors

NEWMONT FUNDS CONSTRUCTION OF ISOLATION WARD, DONATES OTHER ITEMS
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DONATION TO GOVERNMENT INSTITUTIONS IN THE MINE OPERATIONAL AREA

As part of its Corporate Social Responsibilities, Edikan Mine donated items such as Air Condition; and 
Desk top computer, printer and tabletop refrigerator to the Wassa Amenfi East Municipal Education 
Directorate and the Upper Denkyira West Secretariat of Ghana National Ambulance Service 
respectively.

Women in Mining (WIM) - PMGL Chapter, in collaboration with Pentecost Hospital at Ayanfuri and the 
Social Development Department commemorated “Breast Cancer Day” at Abenabena community. 
Queen Mothers and women from Abenabena were invited to grace the occasion. Activities at the 
event included breast screening for all women, and donation of 2 deep freezer refrigerators and 3 
“Fufu” pounding machines to 5 underprivileged widows from each of the five Catchment 
Communities

BREAST CANCER DAY CELEBRATION BY WOMEN IN MINING
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PERSEUS MINING (GHANA) LIMTED (PMGL) 
ENVIRONMENTAL, SUSTAINABILITY AND 

CORPORATE SOCIAL INITIATIVE ACTIVITIES

2021 WORLD ENVIRONMENT DAY/GREENING GHANA PROJECT

As par t  of  i ts  Corporate  Soc ia l 
Responsibility, PMGL joined the Western 
Region House of Chiefs and various 
MMDAs in the Western Region of Ghana 
to commemorate the 6th annual Inter-
Distr ict  Independence Day Quiz 
Competition at Wassa Akropong. PMGL 
was one  of  the  companies  that 
sponsored the program with a donation 
of GHS 25,000.
Donation of laptop by the General 
Manager, Dr. Stephen Kofi Ndede

Employees of PMGL led by the General Manager, Dr Stephen Kofi Ndede together with the 
communities’ leaders spearheaded the planting of trees in the Catchment Communities as part of 
PMGL’s commitment to Environmental Sustainability. 

As part of PMGL’S commitment to environmental sustainability, the company donated ten thousand 
10,000 seedlings to the Dunkwa Area office of Forestry Commission on behalf of the two districts 
within the operational area. Also, employees of PMGL and Partners, Suppliers, and PMGL donated 
GHS 100,000.00 to the “5 million Green Ghana Project” Secretariat to support the Green Ghana 
Project.

6TH ANNUAL WESTERN REGION INTER-DISTRICT 
INDEPENDENCE DAY QUIZ COMPETITION
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The facility has a 100m3 water storage tank, a pump house and 6 standpipes with numerous 
distribution chambers for connection to individual homes.

Prior to the completion of the project, the school didn’t have any facility to provide catering services. 
With the facility in place, the caterer who provides one square meal as part of the Free SHS policy for 
the students now has a decent place to cook for the students and once Edikan Mine provided dining 
chairs and tables, it makes it comfortable for the students to eat whiles at school.
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WATER EXTENSION PROJECT AT ASIKAFOAMANTEM, AYANFURI

EDIKAN MINES PROVIDES KITCHEN WITH 
DINING TABLES AND CHAIRS FOR AYANFURI S.H.S



This facility has 3 offices, 1 storeroom and 4 toilet facilities and has capacity of accommodating 1,200 
people.

EDIKAN TRUST FUND PROJECTS 2021

The facility has 6 classrooms, staff common rooms, Headteacher’s office, library, and computer 
laboratory.
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NANA NTIE BEDIAKO II COMMUNITY CENTRE AT ABENABENA

ROMAN CATHOLIC PRIMARY SCHOOL, AYANFURI



The Facility Comprises of OPD, Consulting Rooms, Maternity Ward, Antenatal Care, Dispensary, 
Children’s Ward, Male & Female Wards and Reproductive and Child Health Unit. A mechanized 
borehole is also provided at the facility. 

The facility can supply 20,000 liters of water with 6 standpipes at vantage points in the community. 
Prior to the mechanization, the community was using borehole with hand pumps where school 
children had to queue before accessing water.
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PMGL PROVIDES GYAMAN WITH HEALTH CENTRE

PMGL PROVIDES FOBINSI WITH WATER 
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STATEMENT OF COUNCIL'S RESPONSIBILITIES

The Council is responsible for preparing financial statements for each financial period which give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of The Ghana Chamber of Mines ("the Chamber") at the end of the 
financial year and of the excess of income over expenditure of the Chamber for that period. In preparing 
those financial statements, the Council is required to:       
       
 • Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently     
       
 • Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent     
       
 • State whether the applicable accounting standards have been followed     
       
 • Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it  is inappropriate to 
presume that the Chamber will continue in business     
       
The Council is responsible for ensuring that the Chamber keeps accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy the financial position of the Chamber and which enable them to ensure that the 
financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. They are responsible for 
taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Chamber, and to prevent 
and detect fraud and other irregularities.       
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Opinion        
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Ghana Chamber of Mines on pages 134 to 
158 which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021, the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended, the notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory disclosures.       
       
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the  Chamber  
as at 31 December 2021 and the financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the 
Companies Act, 2019 (Act 992).        
       
Basis of opinion       
"We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Chamber in accordance with 
the requirements of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ (IESBA) International 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA 
code) and other independence requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in 
Ghana. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code and other 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of financial statements in Ghana. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. "       
       
Other Information       
The Council is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Report of the 
Council, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report. The other information does not include 
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.       
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.        
       
In connection with our audit of the  financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.        
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.       
       
Responsibilities of the Council's for the Financial Statements       
The Council is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies 
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Act, 2019 (Act 992) and for such internal control as the Council determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.     

In preparing the financial statements, the Council is responsible for assessing the Chamber's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Council either intend to liquidate the Chamber or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.       
       
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements       
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements.
       
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:       

Ÿ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.        

Ÿ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Chamber's internal control.        

Ÿ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Council.        

Ÿ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Chamber’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Chamber to cease to continue as a 
going concern.       
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.       
We communicate with the Finance and Budget Committee and the Council regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit 
       
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements        
In accordance with the Seventh Schedule of the Companies Act, 2019 (Act 992) we expressly state that:       
1.  We have obtained the information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and belief 

were necessary for the purpose of the audit.       

2.  In our opinion:       
•  Proper books of accounts have been kept by the Chamber, so far as appears from our 

examination of those books. 
•  The information and explanations or provided to us, is in the manner required by Act 992 and give 

a true and fair view of the:
  a.  Statement of financial position of the Chamber at the end of the financial year, and 
  b.  Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the financial year."       

3.  The Chamber's statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income are in agreement with the accounting records and returns.       

4.  We are independent of the Chamber, pursuant to section 143 of Act 992.       
       
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Charlotte Forson-
Abbey (ICAG/P/1509) 
      
       
       
       
       
For and on behalf of Deloitte & Touche (ICAG/F/2022/1509)       
Chartered Accountants       
The Deloitte Place       
Plot No.71, Off George Walker Bush Highway       
North Dzorwulu       
Accra Ghana 
      
       
       
……………………….………………………..................... 2022       
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31  DECEMBER 2021
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1 Corporate information      
The Chamber is the main minerals industry 
association in Ghana. The Chamber represents 
the collective interests of its member companies 
involved in mineral exploration, production and 
processing in Ghana.      

Its activities are entirely funded by its member 
companies, which produce over 60 percent of 
Ghana's mineral output.      

The Chamber has represented the industry's 
interests since 1928. The Chamber is registered 
as a company limited by guarantee      

The registered office of the Chamber is Gulf 
Street, South Legon, Adjacent Wild Gecko 
Handicraft,P.O. Box 991, Accra – Ghana.      

       
2.1 Basis of preparation      
The financial statements of the Chamber have 
been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB).      

      
Basis of measurement      
The financial statements have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis. The financial statements are 
presented in Ghana Cedis[GH¢]. 
     
stimates and assumptions      
In the process of applying the Chamber 
accounting policies, the most significant 
judgements made by management relate to the 
following:       

Provision for bad and doubtful debt      
The Chamber reviews its  receivables individually 
at each statement of financial position date to 
assess whether an impairment loss should be 
recorded in the income statement. In particular, 
management’s judgement is required in the 
estimation of the amount and timing of future 
cash flows when determining the impairment 
loss. These estimates are based on assumptions 
about a number of factors and actual results may 
differ, resulting in future changes to the 
allowance.      

Other long term employee benefits obligation      
The cost of the other long term employee benefits 
is determined based on assumptions about 
discount rates and future salary increases. Due to 
the long–term nature of these plans, such 
estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.      

       
2       .2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
The following are the significant accounting 
policies applied by the Chamber in preparing its 
financial statements:      
      
2.2.1 Revenue recognition      
Revenue represents contributions from all 
members. Contributions are recognised when 
invoiced and consist of contributions for operating 
costs and image building fund collected in-line 
with the yearly approved budget. There are no 
exclusions in this regard.       

2.2.2 Property, plant and equipment       
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, 
excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing, less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Replacement or major 
inspection costs are capitalised when incurred 
and if it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the entity 
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis 
over the useful lives of the following classes of 
assets:       

Office furniture   - 5 years  

Computer   - 5 years  

Equipment   - 5 years  

Motor vehicle   - 4 years  

Leasehold land 
and building Lease period  -  50 years  

The assets residual values, and useful lives and 
method of depreciation are reviewed and 
adjusted, if appropriate, at each financial year end 
and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.      
Impairment reviews are performed when there 
are indications that the carrying value may not be 
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recoverable. Impairment losses are recognised in 
the income statement as an expense.      
An item of property, plant and equipment is 
derecognised upon disposal or when no further 
future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset) is included in 
the income statement in the year the asset is 
derecognised.      
       
2.2.5 Cash and cash equivalents      
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank 
and in hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less in the 
statement of financial position.      
For the purpose of the statement cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash 
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding 
bank overdraft.      
       
2.2.6 Impairment      
An annual impairment review of assets is carried 
out by comparing the net book value of the assets 
with their recoverable amount. Recoverable 
amounts are based on the higher of the value in 
use and the fair value less costs to sell. Value in 
use is determined by applying a discount rate to 
the anticipated pre tax cash flow for the 
remaining useful life of the asset.      
Where the recoverable amount is less than the net 
book value, the impairment is charged against 
income to reduce the carrying amount of the 
affected assets to recoverable amounts. The 
revised carrying amounts are amortised on a 
systematic basis over the remaining useful life of 
such affected assets.
      
2.2.7 Provisions      
Provisions are recognised where the Chamber has 
a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, a reliable estimate of the 
obligation can be made and it is probable that an 
overflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate.
      

2.2.8 New and revised IFRS Standards in 
issue but not yet effective      
At the date of authorisation of these financial 
statements, the Chamber has not applied the 
following new and revised IFRS Standards that 
have been issued but are not yet effective.

· Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-current- 
Amendments to IFRS 3  Reference to the 
Conceptual Framework

· Amendments to IAS 16  Property, Plant and 
Equipment—Proceeds before Intended Use

· Amendments to IAS 37  O n e r o u s 
C o n t r a c t s — C o s t  o f  F u l fi l l i n g  a 
ContractAnnual Improvements to IFRS 
Standards 2018-2020 Cycle 

· Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards, 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 
Leases, and IAS 41 Agriculture- Amendments 
to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

· Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting 
Estimates

· Amendments to IAS 12   Deferred Tax related 
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction "      

The Council does not expect that the adoption of 
the Standards listed above will have a material 
impact on the financial statements of the 
Chamber in future periods, except as noted below:      

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements—Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Noncurrent      
The amendments to IAS 1 affect only the 
presentation of liabilities as current or non-
current in the statement of financial position and 
not the amount or timing of recognition of any 
asset, liability, income or expenses, or the 
information disclosed about those items.The 
amendments clarify that the classification of 
liabilities as current or non-current is based on 
rights that are in existence at the end of the 
reporting period, specify that classification is 
unaffected by expectations about whether an 
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entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of 
a liability, explain that rights are in existence if 
covenants are complied with at the end of the 
reporting period, and introduce a definition of 
‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers 
to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity 
instruments, other assets or services.The 
amendments are applied retrospectively for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2023, with early application permitted." 
     
Amendments to IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations—Reference to the Conceptual 
Framework      
The amendments update IFRS 3 so that it refers 
to the 2018 Conceptual Framework instead of the 
1989 Framework. They also add to IFRS 3 a 
requirement that, for obligations within the scope 
of IAS 37, an acquirer applies IAS 37 to determine 
whether at the acquisition date a present 
obligation exists as a result of past events. For a 
levy that would be within the scope of IFRIC 21 
Levies, the acquirer applies IFRIC 21 to 
determine whether the obligating event that gives 
rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred by the 
acquisition date.Finally, the amendments add an 
explicit statement that an acquirer does not 
recognize contingent assets acquired in a 
business combination. The amendments are 
effective for business combinations for which the 
date of acquisition is on or after the beginning of 
the first annual period beginning on or after 1 
January 2022."      
       
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and 
Equipment—Proceeds before Intended Use      
The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost 
of an item of property, plant and equipment any 
proceeds from selling items produced before that 
asset is available for use, i.e. proceeds while 
bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the 
manner intended by management. Consequently, 
an entity recognises such sales proceeds and 
related costs in profit or loss. The entity measures 
the cost of those items in accordance with IAS 2 
Inventories.The amendments also clarify the 
meaning of ‘testing whether an asset is 
functioning properly’. IAS 16 now specifies this as 
assessing whether the technical and physical 

performance of the asset is such that it is capable 
of being used in the production or supply of goods 
or ser vices,  for rental  to others,  or for 
administrative purposes.If not presented 
separately in the statement of comprehensive 
income, the financial statements shall disclose 
the amounts of proceeds and cost included in 
profit or loss that relate to items produced that 
are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities, 
and which line item(s) in the statement of 
comprehensive income include(s) such proceeds 
a n d  c o s t . T h e  a m e n d m e n t s  a r e  a p p l i e d 
retrospectively, but only to items of property, 
plant and equipment that are brought to the 
location and condition necessary for them to be 
capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management on or after the beginning of the 
earliest period presented in the financial 
statements in which the entity first applies the 
amendments.The entity shall recognise the 
cumulative effect of initially applying the 
amendments as an adjustment to the opening 
balance of retained earnings (or other component 
of equity, as appropriate) at the beginning of that 
earliest period presented.The amendments are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2022, with early application permitted."      
      
Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets—Onerous 
Contracts—Cost of Fulfilling a Contract      
The amendments specify that the ‘cost of 
fulfilling’ a contract comprises the ‘costs that 
relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate 
directly to a contract consist of both the 
incremental costs of fulfilling that contract 
(examples would be direct labour or materials) 
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly 
to fulfilling contracts (an example would be the 
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of 
property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling 
the contract).The amendments apply to contracts 
for which the entity has not yet fulfilled all its 
obligations at the beginning of the annual 
reporting period in which the entity first applies 
the amendments. Comparatives are not restated. 
Instead, the entity shall recognise the cumulative 
effect of initially applying the amendments as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of retained 
earnings or other component of equity, as 
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appropriate, at the date of initial application."      
The amendments are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022, with early 
application permitted.      
       
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 
2018-2020—Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time 
Adoption of International Financial Reporting 
Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, 
IFRS 16 Leases, and IAS 41 Agriculture      

The Annual Improvements include amendments 
to four Standards:       
       
· IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 

Financial Reporting Standards
 The amendment provides additional relief to a 

subsidiary which becomes a first-time adopter 
later than its parent in respect of accounting 
for cumulative translation differences. As a 
result of the amendment, a subsidiary that 
uses the exemption in IFRS 1:D16(a) can now 
also elect to measure cumulative translation 
differences for all foreign operations at the 
carrying amount that would be included in the 
parent’s consolidated financial statements, 
based on the parent’s date of transition to 
IFRS Standards, if no adjustments were made 
for consolidation procedures and for the 
effects of the business combination in which 
the parent acquired the subsidiary. A similar 
election is available to an associate or joint 
venture that uses the exemption in IFRS 
1:D16(a).The amendment is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2022, with early application permitted.

· IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The amendment clarifies that in applying the 
’10 per cent’ test to assess whether to 
recognize a financial liability, an entity 
includes only fees paid or received between 
the entity (the borrower) and the lender, 
including fees paid or received by either the 
entity or the lender on the other’s behalf.The 
amendment is applied prospectively to 
modifications and exchanges that occur on or 
after the date the entity first applies the 
amendment.The amendment is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2022, with early application permitted. "      

· IFRS 16 Leases
 The amendment removes the illustration of 

t h e  r e i m b u r s e m e n t  o f  l e a s e h o l d 
improvements.As the amendment to IFRS 16 
only regards an illustrative example, no 
effective date is stated."      

       
· IAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment removes the requirement in 
IAS 41 for entities to exclude cash flows for 
taxation when measuring fair value. This 
aligns the fair value measurement in IAS 41 
with the requirements of IFRS 13 Fair Value 
Measurement to use internally consistent 
cash flows and discount rates and enables 
preparers to determine whether to use pretax 
or post-tax cash flows and discount rates for 
t h e  m o s t  a p p r o p r i a t e  f a i r  v a l u e 
measurement.The amendment is applied 
prospectively, i.e. for fair value measurements 
on or after the date an entity initially applies 
the amendment."      

       
· The amendment is effective for annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2022, with earlier application 
permitted.      

       
· Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of 

Financial Statements and IFRS Practice 
Statement 2 Making Materiality 
Judgements—Disclosure of Accounting 
Policies
The amendments change the requirements in 
IAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting 
policies. The amendments replace all 
instances of the term ‘significant accounting 
policies’ with ‘material accounting policy 
information’. Accounting policy information is 
material if, when considered together with 
other information included in an entity’s 
financial statements, it can reasonably be 
expected to influence decisions that the 
primary users of general purpose financial 
statements make on the basis of those 
financ ia l  statements .The  suppor t ing 
paragraphs in IAS 1 are also amended to 
clarify that accounting policy information that 
relates to immaterial transactions, other 
events or conditions is immaterial and need 
not  be  d isc losed .  Account ing  pol icy 
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information may be material because of the 
nature of the related transactions, other 
events or conditions, even if the amounts are 
immaterial. However, not all accounting policy 
information relating to material transactions, 
o t h e r  e v e n t s  o r  c o n d i t i o n s  i s  i t s e l f 
material.The amendments to IAS 1 are 
effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2023, with earlier application 
permitted and are applied prospectively. The 
amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 do 
not contain an effective date or transition 
requirements."      

       
· Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors—Definition of Accounting Estimates

 The amendments replace the definition of a 
change in accounting estimates with a 
definition of accounting estimates. Under the 
new definition, accounting estimates are 
“monetary amounts in financial statements 
t h a t  a r e  s u b j e c t  t o  m e a s u r e m e n t 
uncertainty”.The definition of a change in 
accounting estimates was deleted. However, 
the Board retained the concept of changes in 
accounting estimates in the Standard with the 
following clarifications:

· A change in accounting estimate that results 
from new information or new developments is 
not the correction of an error

· The effects of a change in an input or a 
measurement technique used to develop an 
account ing  est imate  are  changes  in 
accounting estimates if they do not result from 
the correction of prior period errors

 The Board added two examples (Examples 4-
5) to the Guidance on implementing IAS 8, 
which accompanies the Standard. The Board 
has deleted one example (Example 3) as it 
could cause confusion in l ight of the 
amendments.

 The amendments are effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 
to changes in accounting policies and changes 
in accounting estimates that occur on or after 
the beginning of that period, with earlier 
application permitted."      

Amendments to IAS 12 Income 
Taxes—Deferred Tax related to Assets and 
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction      
The amendments introduce a further exception 
from the initial recognition exemption. Under the 
amendments, an entity does not apply the initial 
recognition exemption for transactions that give 
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 
differences. Depending on the applicable tax law, 
equal taxable and deductible temporary 
differences may arise on initial recognition of an 
asset and liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit. For example, this 
may arise upon recognition of a lease liability and 
the corresponding right-of-use asset applying 
IFRS 16 at the commencement date of a lease. 

The amendments apply to transactions that occur 
on or after the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period presented. In addition, at the 
beginning of the earliest comparative period an 
entity recognises: Following the amendments to 
IAS 12, an entity is required to recognise the 
related deferred tax asset and liability, with the 
recognition of any deferred tax asset being 
subject to the recoverability criteria in IAS 12. 
The Board also adds an illustrative example to 
IAS 12 that explains how the amendments are 
applied.The amendments apply to transactions 
that occur on or after the beginning of the earliest 
comparative period presented. In addition, at the 
beginning of the earliest comparative period an 
entity recognises: 
• A deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is 
probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary 
difference can be utilised) and a deferred tax 
liability for all deductible and taxable temporary 
differences associated with:– Right-of-use assets 
and lease l iabi l i t ies– Decommissioning, 
restoration and similar liabilities and the 
corresponding amounts recognised as part of the 
cost of the related asset
• The cumulative effect of initially applying the 
amendments as an adjustment to the opening 
balance of retained earnings (or other component 
of equity, as appropriate) at that date.The 
amendments are effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with 
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earlier application permitted."      
      
3  Use of estimates and assumptions      
The key assumptions concerning the future and 
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below.      
       
a)     Deferred tax assets and liabilities      
Uncertaint ies exist  with respect to the 
interpretation of complex tax regulations and the 
amount and timing of future taxable income. 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the losses can be utilised. 
Significant management judgement is required to 
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that 
can be recognised, based on the likely timing and 
the level of future taxable profits together with 
future tax planning strategies.      
       
b)   Useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment      
The Chamber reviews the estimated useful lives 
of property, plant and equipment at the end of 
each reporting period.       
       
c)   Fair value measurement and valuation 
processes      
In estimating the fair value of an asset or liability, 
the Chamber uses market-observable data to the 
extent that it is available. Where Level 1 inputs are 
not available, the Chamber engages third party 
qualified valuers to perform the valuation.      
d)   Contingencies       
By their nature, contingencies will be resolved 
only when one or more uncertain future events 
occur or fail to occur. The assessment of the 
e x i s t e n c e ,  a n d  p o t e n t i a l  q u a n t u m ,  o f 
contingencies inherently involves the exercise of 
significant judgement and the use of estimates 
regarding the outcome of future events.      
       
e)     Financial instruments      
Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised in the Chamber's statement of 
financial position when the Chamber becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument.      
 Financial assets and financial liabilities 
are initially measured at fair value. Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair 
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, 
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction 
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss.      
      
Financial assets      
All regular way purchases or sales of financial 
assets are recognised and derecognised on a 
trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales 
are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time frame 
established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace.      
All recognised financial assets are measured 
subsequently in their entirety at either amortised 
cost or fair value, depending on the classification 
of the financial assets.      
       
Classification of financial assets      
Debt instruments that meet the following 
conditions are measured subsequently at 
amortised cost:      

· The financial asset is held within a business 
model whose objective is to hold financial 
assets in order to collect contractual cash 
flows; and      

· The contractual terms of the financial asset 
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.      

Debt instruments that meet the following 
conditions are measured subsequently at fair 
value through other comprehensive income 
(FVTOCI):      

· The financial asset is held within a business 
model whose objective is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
the financial assets; and      
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· The contractual terms of the financial asset 
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.      

· By default, all other financial assets are 
measured subsequently at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVTPL).      

· Despite the foregoing, the Chamber may make 
the following irrevocable election/designation 
at initial recognition of a financial asset:      

· The Chamber may irrevocably elect to present 
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity 
investment in other comprehensive income if 
certain criteria are met and      

· The Chamber may irrevocably designate a debt 
investment that meets the amortised cost or 
FVTOCI criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing 
so eliminates or significantly reduces an 
accounting mismatch.      

       

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method      

The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a debt 
instrument and of allocating interest income over 
the relevant period.      

For financial assets other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. 
assets that are credit-impaired on initial 
recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts (including all fees and points paid or 
received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit 
losses, through the expected life of the debt 
instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt 
instrument on initial recognition.  For purchased 
or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a 
credit-adjusted effective interest rate is 
calculated by discounting the estimated future 
cash flows, including expected credit losses, to 
the amortised cost of the debt instrument on 
initial recognition
      
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the 
amount at which the financial asset is measured 

at initial recognition minus the principal 
repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation 
using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the 
maturity amount,  adjusted for any loss 
allowance.  
     
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is 
the amortised cost of a financial asset before 
adjusting for any loss allowance. Interest income 
is recognised using the effective interest method 
for debt instruments measured subsequently at 
amortised cost and at FVTOCI.
      
For financial assets other than purchased or 
originated credit-impaired financial assets, 
interest income is calculated by applying the 
effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset, except for financial 
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired.
      
For financial assets that have subsequently 
become credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate 
to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in 
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on 
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves 
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset. 
     
ii)    Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI      
The corporate bonds held by the Chamber are 
classified as at FVTOCI. The corporate bonds are 
initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs. Subsequently, changes in the carrying 
amount of these corporate bonds as a result of 
foreign exchange gains and losses, impairment 
gains or losses and interest income calculated 
using the effective interest method are 
recognised in profit or loss. The amounts that are 
recognised in profit or loss are the same as the 
amounts that would have been recognised in 
profit or loss if these corporate bonds had been 
measured at amortised cost. All other changes in 
the carrying amount of these corporate bonds are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated under the heading of investments 
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revaluation reserve.  
     
When these corporate bonds are derecognised, 
the cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss.      
       
(iii)   Equity instruments designated as at 
FVTOCI      
On initial recognition, the Chamber may make an 
irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-
instrument basis) to designate investments in 
equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at 
FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment 
is held for trading or if  it  is contingent 
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a 
business combination. A financial asset is held for 
trading if:      

· It has been acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling it in the near term; or      

· On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of 
identified financial instruments that the 
Chamber manages together and has evidence 
of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or      

· It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is 
a financial guarantee contract or a designated 
and effective hedging instrument).      

 
Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are 
initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs.       

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value 
with gains and losses arising from changes in fair 
value recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in the investments revaluation 
reserve. The cumulative gain or loss is not be 
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the 
equity investments, instead, it is transferred to 
retained earnings.      

Dividends on these investments in equity 
instruments are recognised in profit or loss in 
accordance with IFRS 9, unless the dividends 
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of 
the investment. Dividends are included in the 
‘finance income’ line item in profit or loss.      

The Chamber has designated all investments in 
equity instruments that are not held for trading as 
at FVTOCI on initial application of IFRS 9.      
       
(iv)  Financial assets at FVTPL      
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for 
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI  are 
measured at FVTPL. Specifically:      

· Investments in equity instruments are 
classified as at FVTPL, unless the Chamber 
designates an equity investment that is neither 
held for trading nor a contingent consideration 
arising from a business combination as at 
FVTOCI on initial recognition (see (iii) above).      

· Debt instruments that do not meet the 
amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria 
(see (i) and (ii) above) are classified as at 
FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that 
meet either the amortised cost criteria or the 
FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at 
FVTPL upon initial recognition if such 
designation eliminates or significantly reduces 
a measurement or recognition inconsistency 
(so called ‘accounting mismatch’) that would 
arise from measuring assets or liabilities or 
recognising the gains and losses on them on 
different bases. The Chamber has not 
designated any debt instruments as at FVTPL.      

 
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair 
value at the end of each reporting period, with any 
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or 
loss to the extent they are not part of a designated 
hedging relationship (see hedge accounting 
policy). The net gain or loss recognised in profit or 
loss includes any dividend or interest earned on 
the financial asset and is included in the ‘other 
gains and losses’ line item.       
      
Impairment of financial assets      
The Chamber recognises a loss allowance for 
expected credit losses on investments in debt 
instruments that are measured at amortised cost 
or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade receivables 
and contract assets, as well as on financial 
guarantee contracts. The amount of expected 
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to 
reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
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recognition of the respective financial instrument.      

The Chamber always recognises lifetime 
Expected Credit Loss (ECL) for trade receivables, 
contract assets and lease receivables. The 
expected credit losses on these financial assets 
are estimated using a provision matrix based on 
the Chamber's historical credit loss experience, 
adjusted for factors that are specific to the 
debtors, general economic conditions and an 
assessment of both the current as well as the 
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting 
date, including time value of money where 
appropriate.      

For all other financial instruments, the Chamber 
recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial 
recognition. However, if the credit risk on the 
financial  instrument  has  not  increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the Chamber 
measures the loss allowance for that financial 
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.      

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit 
losses that will result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of a financial 
instrument.  In contrast,  12-month ECL 
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is 
expected to result from default events on a 
financial instrument that are possible within 12 
months after the reporting date.      
       
(i) Significant increase in credit risk      
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, the Chamber compares the risk 
of a default occurring on the financial instrument 
at the reporting date with the risk of a default 
occurring on the financial instrument at the date 
of initial recognition.       

In making this assessment, the Chamber 
considers both quantitative and qualitative 
information that is reasonable and supportable, 
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without 
undue cost or effort. Forward-looking information 
considered includes the future prospects of the 
industries in which the Chamber's debtors 
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, 

financial analysts, governmental bodies, relevant 
think-tanks and other similar organisations, as 
well as consideration of various external sources 
of actual and forecast economic information that 
relate to the Chamber's core operations.      
            

· In particular, the following information is 
taken into account when assessing whether 
credit risk has increased significantly since 
initial recognition, an actual or expected 
significant deterioration in the financial 
instrument’s external (if available) or internal 
credit rating;      

· Significant deterioration in external market 
indicators of credit risk for a particular 
financial instrument, e.g. a significant increase 
in the credit spread, the credit default swap 
prices for the debtor, or the length of time or 
the extent to which the fair value of a financial 
asset has been less than its amortised cost;      

· Existing or forecast adverse changes in 
business, financial or economic conditions that 
are expected to cause a significant decrease in 
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;      

· An actual or expected significant deterioration 
in the operating results of the debtor;      

· Significant increases in credit risk on other 
financial instruments of the same debtor;      

· An actual or expected significant adverse 
change in the regulatory, economic, or 
technological environment of the debtor that 
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s 
ability to meet its debt obligations.      

Irrespective of the outcome of the above 
assessment, the Chamber presumes that the 
credit risk on a financial asset has increased 
significantly since initial recognition when 
contractual payments are more than 30 days past 
due, unless the Chamber has reasonable and 
supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise.
      
Despite the foregoing, the Chamber assumes that 
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not 
increased significantly since initial recognition if 
the financial instrument is determined to have low 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021



145

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021

credit risk at the reporting date.       

A financial instrument is determined to have low 
credit risk if:      
(1)  The financial instrument has a low risk of 

default,      
(2)  The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its 

contractual cash flow obligations in the near 
term, and      

(3)  Adverse changes in economic and business 
conditions in the longer term may, but will not 
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower 
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.      

 
(i) The Chamber considers a financial asset to 

have low credit risk when the asset has 
external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in 
accordance with the globally understood 
definition or if an external rating is not 
available, the asset has an internal rating of 
‘performing’. Performing means that the 
counterparty has a strong financial position 
and there is no past due amounts.      

     
Measurement and recognition of expected 
credit losses      
The measurement of expected credit losses is a 
function of the probability of default, loss given 
default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a 
default) and the exposure at default. The 
assessment of the probability of default and loss 
given default is based on historical data adjusted 
by forward-looking information as described 
above.      

As for the exposure at default, for financial 
assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross 
carrying amount at the reporting date; for 
financial guarantee contracts, the exposure 
includes the amount drawn down as at the 
reporting date, together with any additional 
amounts expected to be drawn down in the future 
by default date determined based on historical 
trend, the Chamber's understanding of the 
specific future financing needs of the debtors, and 
other relevant forward-looking information.      

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is 
estimated as the difference between all 
contractual cash flows that are due to the 

Chamber in accordance with the contract and all 
the cash flows that the Chamber expects to 
receive, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate.      

If the Chamber has measured the loss allowance 
for a financial instrument at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but 
determines at the current reporting date that the 
conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the 
Chamber measures the loss allowance at an 
amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current 
reporting date, except for assets for which 
simplified approach was used.      

The Chamber recognises an impairment gain or 
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments 
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying 
amount through a loss allowance account, except 
for investments in debt instruments that are 
measured at FVTOCI, for which the loss 
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the investment 
revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the 
carrying amount of the financial asset in the 
statement of financial position.      
       
Derecognition of financial assets      
The Chamber derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the asset expire, or when it transfers the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
entity. If the Chamber neither transfers nor 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Chamber recognises its 
retained interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the 
Chamber retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Chamber continues to recognise the 
fi n a n c i a l  a s s e t  a n d  a l s o  r e c o g n i s e s  a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 
received.
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Membership subscription

Image Building
 

Fund
 

(IBF)

Income

 

from

 

fixed deposits

Interest

 

on

 

savings

 

and

 

deposits

Interest

 

on

 

staff

 

loans

Hiringof

 

conference

 

room

Exhibition

 

income

4 Revenue

5 Investment

 

income

6 Other income

7 Tertiary

 

Education

 

Fund

 

Levy

Impaired

 

investments

Contributions

 2020 

 GH¢ 

    8,608,504 

    
1,522,731

 

   
10,131,235

 

 

2020

 

 

GH¢

 

    

1,250,425

 

2020
 

GH¢

 

        

36,232

 

          

7,372

 

        

26,755

 

       

429,114

 

    

1,350,000

 

    

1,849,473

 

 

2020

 

 

GH¢

 

    

2,482,509

 

 2021

 GH¢

       8,493,084
       

1,390,287

       
9,883,371

 

2021 

GH¢

       

1,349,989

2021
 

GH¢             

71,701
               

3,126
             

24,248

          

670,412

          

297,300       

1,066,787
 

2021

 

GH¢
       

2,550,221
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The Tertiary Education Fund Levy represents contributions by members to support University of Mines and 
Technology (UMaT) with a building, learning eqiupment and student scholarships.      
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2020

 

 

GH¢

 

         

5,415,993

 

         

1,329,662

 

            

141,592

 

             

85,832

 

            

343,865

 

               

8,750

 

443,991

                    

-

 

        

7,769,685

 

 

2020

 

 

GH¢

 

            

421,845

 

            

570,706

 

             

67,520

 
                     

-

 
-

145,000

1,205,071

 
2020

 

 
GH¢

 

            
133,298

 

                     
-

 
-

            133,298 

9,108,054

8 General

 

&

 

administrative

 

expenses

Image

 

building fund

 

expenses

Human resource

 

and

 

training

Office management

International

 

travels

Audit fees

Depreciation

GHEITI

Exchange

 

loss

Tax

 

review

Donation

Publicity

 

and

 

advertising

Protocol
Exhibition
Stakeholder

 

engagement

UMaT -

 

Environmental

 

Sciences

 

Chair

UMaT student
 

bursaries

Research
 

&
 

Smart
 

classroom

GCM building

Tertiary
 

education
 

fund
 

expenses

Total

 

2021

 

 

GH¢

 

           

6,243,086

 

           

1,687,116

 

                           

-

 

                 

88,975

 

              

324,526

 

                   

2,523

 

    

79,982

              

604,339

 

      

9,030,547

 

 

2021

 

 

GH¢

 

          

365,324

 

      

1,090,030

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

            

93,295

 
          

195,761

 
41,702

155,000

1,941,112

 
2021
 

 
GH¢
 

              
550,604

 

              
176,872

 

   
2,558,214

           3,285,690 

   14,257,349
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Year of assessment

2020

2021

9 Current tax payable

       312,607                -              (312,607)

              -           337,497                     -   

312,607 337,497 (312,607)

 Balance  Charge for  Balance  

 1/1/21  the year  Payments   31/12/21  

                          -   

               337,497  

337,497

Profit before tax

Tax computed at applicable tax rate of 25%

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Tax effect of non-deductible expense

Total tax expense

Effective tax rate (%)

Leasehold land and buildings

Motor vehicles

Furniture, fittings & equipment

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

10. Property & equipment

2021

Cost

Depreciation

Work in progress

Leasehold land and buildings

Motor vehicles

Furniture, fittings & equipment

Net book value

At 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2020

 2020 

 GH¢ 

          6,605,588 

          1,651,397 

         (3,615,804)

          2,277,014 

312,607

5

      6,627,368                     -   

        445,395                     -   

 

 2021 

 GH¢ 

              593,019 

              148,255 

        (3,375,095)

           3,395,207 

168,367

28

At At

1 Jan. Additions 31 Dec.

GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

            6,627,368  

               445,395  

               826,489  

               455,017  

            8,354,269  

At Charge for At

1 Jan. the year

       798,915               27,574 

          -             455,017 

7,871,678             482,591 

        302,982             132,547 

        382,280               50,156 

        382,011             141,823 

31 Dec.

GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

               435,529  

               432,436  

               523,834  

1,391,799

6,962,470

1,067,273 324,526

6,804,405 
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Leasehold land

Motor vehicles

Furniture, fittings & equipment

Leasehold land 

Motor vehicles

Furniture, fittings & equipment

10. Property  & equipment  - continued

2020

Cost

Depreciation

Net  book  value

At  31 December  2020

11 Receivables

Members receivables

Provision for bad and doubtful debt

Staff  Receivables

Prepayment

Other receivables

At At

1 Jan. Additions 31 Dec.

GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

6,627,368             -   6,627,368 

        445,395              -         445,395 

        763,196        35,719       798,915 

      7,835,959       35,719     7,871,678 

At Charge for At

1 Jan. the year 31 Dec.

GH¢ GH¢ GH¢

170,435      132,547 302,982 

        312,124        70,156       382,280 

        240,849      141,162       382,011 

        723,408      343,865     1,067,273 

 2021  

 GH¢ 

 1,105,050  

(1,105,050)

                   

       79,058  

     528,581  

       15,347  

     622,986  

6,804,405 

 2020 

 GH¢ 

      569,881 

     

                 

      140,804 

        31,568 

      375,958 

      548,330 
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Fixed Deposits

Current account  balances

Petty  cash account

Members Companies

Sundry creditors

Accrued  charges

Audit fee

Long term benefits accrued

12 Held  to  maturity  investments

13 Cash  and  bank  balances

14 Payables

15 Accruals

16 Other  long  term  employee  benefits

 2020 

 GH¢ 

7,200,000

 2020 

 GH¢ 

132,362 

35

132,397 

 2020 

 GH¢ 

74,125 

910,204 

984,329 

 2020 

 GH¢ 

149,575 

87,000 

236,575

 2020 

 GH¢ 

             480,560 

 2021

 GH¢

8,406,740

 2021

 GH¢

1,978,669

3

1,978,672

 2021

 GH¢

2,578,944

1,314,087

3,893,031

 2021

 GH¢

168,015

93,000

261,015

 2021

 GH¢

              552,742  

 2021  

13.0%

7.0%

 2020  2019 

Discount rate 13.5% 14.7%

Salary increase 7.0% 6.0%

The policy on other long term employee benefits for junior staff is to enjoy  one month salary for every five 
years spent. Management and senior staff are given benefits  in kind and 10 days for every year served  at 
the time of retirement.       
The range of actuarial assumptions applied in calculating the liabilities for other long-term employee 
benefits is as follows:      
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17 Financial risk management      
The Chamber's activities expose it to a variety of 
risks, including, financial risk, credit risk, foreign 
currency exchange rates and interest rates. The 
Chamber's overall risk management programme 
focuses on the identification and management of 
risks and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on its financial performance, Investment 
policies are in place which help manage liquidity, 
and seek to maximise return within an acceptable 
level of interest rate risk.      

This section summarises the way the Chamber 
manages key risks:      
· The Chamber controls and manages the 

financial risks connected to the business 
segments with the objective of limiting these 
risks.      

       
· The identification, analysis and valuation of 

financial risks as well as the decision 
concerning the application of financial 
instruments to manage these risks are carried 

out essentially by the Chamber's Management  
and the Finance and Budget Committee.      

       
· The Chamber's activities expose it to a variety 

of financial risks: Market risk (including 
currency risk and  interest rate risk), credit risk 
and liquidity risk. The Chamber's overall risk 
management programme focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks 
to minimise potential adverse effects on its 
financial performance, but the Chamber does 
not hedge any risks.      

 
Market risk      
       
Foreign exchange risk      
"The Chamber operates locally and is exposed to 
foreign exchange risk arising from various 
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the 
US dollar bank accounts denominated in foreign 
currency.  Foreign exchange risk arises from 
future commercial transactions, recognised 
assets and liabilities. "      

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2020

¢

2021

GH¢

2,534 

GH

Assets 1,616 
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17 Financial risk management - continued      
The following table details the Chamber's sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the cedi against 
the US Dollar. A 10% sensitivity rate is used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key 
management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in 
foreign exchange rates. For each sensitivity, the impact of change in a single factor is shown, with other 
assumptions unchanged.      
    

Assuming no management actions, a series of such rises would decrease surplus for 2021 by GH¢7,998 
while a series of such falls would increase surplus for 2021 by GH¢7,998.  Also a series of such rises would 
decrease the funds and equity  by GH¢7,998 whilst a series of such falls would increase funds and equity 
by GH¢7,998. 

Credit risk      
"The Chamber has exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that member companies are unable to pay 
subscriptions in full when due.Other areas where credit risk arises include cash and cash equivalents, 
deposits with banks and other receivables."      
       
The Chamber has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Chamber raises debit notes for 
subscriptions to member companies at the beginning of each year. This is based on its planned activities 
and programmes for the year. The amount of subscription payable by each member company is based on 
the category of the company namely  Represented Members, Affiliates,  Contract Miners and Associated 
Members. Limits on the level of subscription payable are approved annually by the Council Members.      

Management information reported to the Council includes details of provisions for impairment on loans 
and receivables and subsequent write-offs. No collateral is held for any of the above assets.  All 
receivables that are neither past due or impaired are within their approved credit limits. All receivables 
past due by more than 180 days are considered to be impaired, and are carried at their estimated 
recoverable value.      

Notes to the financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2021

 2021  2021

 GH¢  GH¢

 Selling  Buying

    6.0091   6.0031      5.7631        5.7573 

 2020  2020 

 GH¢  GH¢ 

 Selling  Buying 

US Dollar

31-Dec -21

Amount

GH¢

       
255,522

 

   
12,926,583

 

Scenario 1

10% increase 

GH¢

         
247,524

 

     
12,918,585

 

Scenario 2

10% decrease 

GH¢

          
263,520

 

      
12,934,581

 
Surplus

 

Funds
 

and
 

equity
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17 Financial risk management - continued      
The Chamber manages the credit quality of financial assets using internal credit ratings. The table below 
shows the credit quality by class of asset for all financial assets exposed to credit risk, based on the 
Chamber's internal credit rating system. The amounts presented are gross of impairment allowances.      

       

Individually

impaired

                -    

      1,105,050  

                -    

      1,105,050  

 

 GH¢  

                -    

        449,685  

                -    

        449,685  

Individually  

impaired

 GH¢  

 2021  

 GH¢  

     1,105,050  

 Total  

 GH¢  

        

 Total  

 GH¢  

        1,978,672  

        1,199,455  

        8,406,740  

      11,584,867  

            360,072  

            724,545  

                       -    

1,084,617  

 2020  

 GH¢  

          449,685  

Cash and Bank

Receivables

Investments

2020

Cash and Bank

Receivables

Investments

2021

Totals

Totals

Age of impaired member receivables

365 days

     1,978,672               -                  -   

         94,405               -                  -   

     8,406,740               -                  -   

    10,479,817               -                  -   

Neither past due nor 

impaired

High grade

Standard 

grade

Past due but 

not impaired

 GH¢  GH¢  GH¢ 

        360,072               -                  -   

        274,860               -                  -   

- - -

634,932               -                  -   

Neither past due nor 

impaired

High grade

 Standard 

grade 

Past  due  but  

not impaired

 GH¢  GH¢  GH¢ 
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18  Liquidity risk      
The liquidity risk is the risk of the Chamber to 
remain solvent at any time to fulfil due obligations 
in time to have the possibility of obtaining 
necessary financial means from investors. There 
is an extensive need for liquid funds in managing 
the Chamber.   
                                                                                                                                      
The Chamber is exposed to daily calls on its 
available cash for settlement of the Chamber's 
programs and administration expenses.   Liquidity 
and financial flexibility at any time is granted 
through existent liquid funds and the available 
financing margin. Based on the results of the 
Chamber's strategy and the Chamber planning 
processes, day-to-day liquidity planning is 
effected, thus offering a current status of the 
estimated casted development of the liquidity. 

Medium and long term financing needs are 
determined by means of this forecast of the 
expected cash flows. 
     
"Prudent liquidity risk management includes 
maintaining sufficient cash balances, and the 
availability of funding from an adequate amount 
of committed credit facilities.The table below 
analyses the financial liabilities into the relevant 
maturity grouping base on the remaining  period 
at the reporting date to the contractual maturity 
date." 
     
The amounts disclosed in the table are the 
contractual undiscounted cash flow, whereas the 
Chamber manages the liquidity risk based on a 
different basis (see note above for details), not 
resulting in a significantly different analysis.      

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

             -                  -         

             -                  -         

             -                  -         

             -                  -         

             -         8,406,740       

             -      

1-3 months 3-12 months

 GH¢  GH¢ 

                -                       -          

                 -          

                 -   

            -         

      8,406,740 

8,406,740 

             -                  -         

             -         7,200,000       

- 7,200,000

              -             1,314,087 

      552,742              552,742 

              -                261,015 

              -                  94,405 

              -             8,406,740 

 1-5 years  
Total

 GH¢  GH¢ 

       552,742              2,127,844  

                  -   

              -                360,072 

          8,861,217 

(552,742) 6,733,373 

      480,560           1,627,339 

       

(480,560) 6,449,495

       -             1,598,514 

Trade  and other 

payables      1,314,087  

Other long term 

employee 

benefits

               -    

Accruals          261,015  

Receivables 

(less prepayments         94,405  

Investments                -    

Cash and bank         360,072  

As  31 December  2021

Up to  1 

month

Liabilities  GH¢ 

Total liabilities      1,575,102    

Assets

Total assets  

Cumulative  liquidity

gap  

        454,477 

(1,120,625)

As at 31 December 2020

Total liabilities     1,146,779  

Total assets        876,834  

(269,945)

Cumulative 

liquidity gap
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 2020 

 GH¢ 

  1,986,875 

19 Related  party  transactions

19.1 Amount  due  from related  party

19.2 Key management compensation

During the year,  the following were the related party balances:

There was no amount due to related parties.

Salaries and other short-term employment benefits

 2021  

 GH¢ 

           2,310,386  

20  Capital management      
The Chamber is a company limited by guarantee. 
As a result, the liabilities of its members are 
limited to such amounts as the members may 
respectively undertake to contribute to the assets 
of the Chamber  in the event of its being wound up. 
The Chamber's objectives when managing 
capital, which is a broader concept than the 
‘equity’ on the reporting date is to ensure that its 
stated capital meets the requirement of the 
Companies Code.      
       
21   Contingencies      
There were no contingent liabilities at the end of 
the period under review.      

       
22  Commitments      
There was no commitment for capital expenditure 
entered into but not provided for as at 31 
December 2021 (2020 - nil).      
       
23.  Event after the reporting period      
No  event has occurred since the end of the 
reporting period that would have had a material 
effect on the financial statements or require 
disclosure.      

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021
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THETHETHE

MEMBERSHIP REGISTER



R E P R E S E N T E D   M E M B E R S  -  L E V E L    A

REGISTER OF MEMBERS 

ADAMUS RESOURCES LIMITED

Accra office  
Registered Office : 18 Coleman Street,
  Behind Fidelity Bank
  Dzorwulu, Accra
Digital Address :  GA122-2410
Telephone : 0302 77 68 71
Fax : 0302 77 68 71

Nkroful Site :  P.O. Box 31 
  Esiama
  Western Region 

ANGLOGOLD ASHANTI  LIMITED

Accra Office 
Registered : Gold House, Patrice Lumumba Road
  Roman Ridge, Accra
  P. O. Box 2665, Accra
Tel. :  (0302) 743401, (0302) 743400
Fax : (0302) 778155
E-mail :  easubonteng@anglogoldashanti.com
Website :  www.AngloGoldAshanti.com

ANGLOGOLD ASHANTI IDUAPRIEM MINE

Registered Office : P.O. Box 283, Tarkwa
Tel :  (0302)652000  / 0277 551777/
  0277 551 888, 0244 322 049 /  0244 322 066
Fax :  (0312) 3 20372
E-mail :  sadjei@anglogoldashanti.com

ANGLOGOLD ASHANTI OBUASI MINE
  
 Registered Office : P.O. Box 10, Obuasi
Tel :  0302 652000
Fax :  032 2440352
Email  :  easubonteng@anglogoldashanti.com.gh  

157

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021



158

 GHANA CHAMBER OF MINES ANNUAL REPORT 2021

ASANKO GOLD GHANA LIMITED 

Accra Office 

Registered Office : 4 Sir Arku Korsah Rd, Airport Res. Area 
  P.O. Box CT 6153 Cantonments Accra
Tel :  (0302) 761454 – 0243 690 224
Fax : (0302) 761 454
Email : charles.amoah@asanko.com 
Website :  www.asanko.com

Esaase Project : P.O. Box 50 Nkawie-Toase, 
  Ashanti Reg. 
 

CHIRANO GOLD MINES

Accra office 
Registered Office : Block A, 2nd Floor  
  Office No. 1 (A.S. 1) 
  Marvel House # 148 Giffard Road
  Cantonments, Accra 
Tel : (0302) 786079
Fax : (0302) 786078
Email :  terence.watungwa@kinross.com
Website: www.kinrossgold.com  

Bibiani Site : P.O. Box 57
  Bibiani 
Tel : 0244 332 734 – 8
Fax : 0244 391 447

  
GHANA MANGANESE COMPANY LIMITED

Accra Office 
Registered Office : No. 10 3rd Circular Road
  Cantonments, Accra 
  P.O. Box M. 183, Accra 
Tel : (0302) -  799 983 / 0244 334 017
Fax : 0302) – 799 981
Website :  www.ghamang.com.gh 

Nsuta Site : P.O. Box 2, Nsuta Wassaw
Tel :  (03123) - 03030 
Fax : (03123) - 20443 
Email :  wmensah@ghamang.com.gh 
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GOLD FIELDS GHANA 

Accra Office
Registered Office : # 7, Dr Amilcar Cabral Road
  Airport Residential Area, Accra 
  P.O. Box KA 30742, Airport, Accra
Tel  : (302) 770189, 770190, 770191
Fax :  (302) 770187   
Email  :  nina.klufio@goldfields.com.gh 
Website : www.goldfields.com

 
GOLD FIELDS TARKWA MINE 

Tarkwa 
Registered Office : P.O. Box 26, Tarkwa
Tel : (03123) 22400 / 22409 / 20449 
Fax : (03123) 20254 / 20327
Email :  stephen.osei-bempah@goldfields.com.gh
 
ABOSSO GOLDFIELDS MINE, DAMANG

Registered Office : P.O. Box 208 Tarkwa
Tel : (03123) 22419 / 22417
Fax : 0277 900001 / 0277 900002
Email :  michiel.vandermerwe@goldfields.com.gh
 
 
GOLDEN STAR RESOURCES 

Accra Office 
Registered Office : Plot 16 House A 
  Nortey Ababio Street 
  Roman Ridge Accra 
  PO. Box KIA16075, Airport, Accra
Tel : (0302) 777282, 779040, 779041 
Fax : (0302) 777700
E-mail :  gboakye@gsrgh.com  
 
Golden Star Wasa Ltd
Akyempim, via Tarkwa : Private Mail Bag, Akyempim
Tel : 0277 740 850
Fax : (3123) 20295

 
NEWMONT GHANA LIMITED

Accra office 
Registered Office : 40/41 Senchi Street
  Airport Residential Area, Accra
  Private Mail Bag, Airport Post Office
Tel : 030 7011852 / 030 7011855
Fax : 0302 518 783
Email :  ghanacommunications2@newmont.com
Website :  www.newmont.com 



Kenyase Mine 
Kenyasi, Brong Ahafo

Registered Office : 40/41 Senchi Street
  Airport Residential Area, Accra
  Private Mail Bag, Airport Post Office
  Box 59, Kenyase, Brong Ahafo
Tel : 030 7011852 / 030 7011855
Email :  ghanacommunications2@newmont.com
Website :  www.newmont.com 

Akyem Project     
New Abirem, Eastern Region :  PO Box 251, Nkawkaw
Tel : 030 7011852
Fax : 030 7011855
Email :  ghanacommunications2@newmont.com
Website : www.newmont.com 

PERSEUS MINING (GHANA) LTD.

Accra Office 
Registered Office : 4 Chancery Court, 147A 
  PO Box CT 2576 Cantonments, Accra
Tel : (0302) 760530 / 767924
Fax : (0302) 760528
Email :  stephen.ndede@perseusmining.com 
Website :  www.perseusmining.com  

Site Office : Ayanfuri and Nanankwa
Tel.  :  0244 318 605 / (0322) 085030 

AFRICAN MINING SERVICES GHANA
  
Accra office 
Registered Office : No.13, Patrice Lumumba Road    
  Airport Residential Area
  PMB – K.I.A.
Tel : (0302) 611 733
Fax : (0302) 763274
Email :  enquuiries@amsgh.com 

Tarkwa Site  : P. O. Box 221, Tarkwa
Tel : (03123) -20348/20410/20797/
  03123-20798/20799
Fax : (03123)-20793/20794/20795
Email :  jfynn@amsgh.com 

CONTRACT  MINING MEMBERS
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AFRICAN UNDERGROUND MINING SERVICES
Accra Office
Registered Office : No. 13, Patrice Lumumba Road
  Airport Residential Area
  PMB – K.I.A
Tel. :  (0302) 763875
Fax :  (0302) 763274
Email :  enquiries@aumsgh.com 

                               
ENGINEERS AND PLANNERS

Registered Office : C 211 21 Abelemkpe St. 
  P.O. Box CT 4792 Cantonments
Tel : (0302) - 764649 / 765547
Fax : (0302) - 734030
Email :  aahmed@engplanners.com

PW MINING INTERNATIONAL 

Registered Office : 10 Abidjan Avenue, East Legon 
  P. O. Box CT-2475, Cantonments, Accra
Tel : (0302) 518112/ (0302) 518113/ (0302) 518116
Fax : 0302 518117
Email :  pwg@pwmil.com
Website :  www.pwmil.com 

RAMOTH SERVICES LTD

Registered Office : HME Yard, AGA Obuasi Mine
  PO Box KS 4755 Kumasi 
Tel : 0244 929 045 / 0244 882 174/ 0244 612 665
  03220 26976
Email : info@ramothservices.com 

ROCKSURE INTERNATIONAL LIMITED 

Registered Office : No. 6 Addis Ababa Road
  East Legon, Accra
  P. O. Box 12846 
  Accra North - Ghana
Tel : (0302) 549444
Email :  info@rocksureintl.com 

THONKET PLANT POOL
Adum
Registered Office : Box 1196
  Adum, Kumasi
Tel : 0507307301
Email :  thonket@gmail.com 
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UNDERGROUND MINING ALLIANCE

AMS Office
Registered Office : Airport Residential Area
  PMB- KIA
  Accra 
Tel : (0302) 611 333
Email :  enquiries@aumsgh.com 

 
AZUMAH RESOURCES GHANA LIMITED 

Accra Office
Registered Office : House No. 5 Kinshasha St. 
  East Legon
  PO Box CT 452 
  Cantonments, Accra 
Tel : 0244 314 075/0244 314 700 / 0556 771 236
Emails : paulatta@yahoo.com 
  hector.nyinaku@azumahresources.com.au
  info@azumahresources.com.au 
 
Site Office : Kalsegra Camp
  P.O. Box ND 24
  Nadowli , UWR 

CARDINAL RESOURCES GHANA

Bolgatanga
Registered Office : Durugu Residential Area, 
  Kumbosco, Bolgatanga
  P.O. Box 350
  Bolgatanga, Ghana
Tel :  + 233 382 021 838
Email :  info@cardinalresources.com.au

MENSIN GOLD MINING LTD.

Accra Office 
Registered Office : Plot No. 11A 
  Adjetey Loop, Adentan   
  P.O. Box CT 1909 
  Cantonments Accra  
Tel : (03220) 85000 / 0540112102
Email  :  info@mensingold.com.gh   

Bibiani Site        : P. O. Box 98, Bibiani, 
  Western Region 
  Tel. (03220) 85000

EXPLORATION   MEMBERS
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PELANGIO AHAFO (G) 
 
Registered Office : West Legon, Accra  
  P. O. Box CT 8409 
  Cantonments, Accra   
Tel : (0302) 400 377
Email :  tk@pelangio.com  

AFRICAN ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH & CONSULTING COMPANY GHANA LTD 
Registered Officer : G648/3 Samora Machel Street 
  Asylum Down, Accra 
  P.O. Box OS 303 
  Osu 
  Accra-Ghana 
Tel : 0244 730 395 / 0208 982 430
Email  :  aercghana@yahoo.com  

AEL MINING SERVICES LIMITED
Accra Office 
Registered Officer : No.6 Odoi Kwao Street 
  Near National Banking College. 
  Airport Residential Area, Accra
  P.O. Box KIA 30384 Accra
Tel : (0302)-773849 / 763770/762633
Fax : (0302)-773849
Email :  josephine.tawiah@aelms.com  

Site Office : P.O. Box 58
  Bogoso, Western Region 
Tel : (0362)-20469 ext 490/1

AIA GHANA
Accra
Registered Officer : Suite 214/215, Christman House
  P.O. Box CT 3701
  Cantonment Accra
Email : info@sngpedabo.com 
Tel : 0261874542
 

ANTRAK LOGISTICS 
Tema Office 
Registered Officer : Mensah Utreh, Harbour Area, Tema
  P.O. Box 148
  Tema 
Tel : (0303)-218500 
Fax : (0303)-218501
Email :  info@antrak-logistics-gh.com

AFFILIATE MEMBERS
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Airport Office : Aviance Cargo Village
  P.O. Box CT 3001 
  Cantonments, Accra 
Tel : 0302 774225
Fax : 0302 776893
Email :  sales.ghana@bollore.com

BARBEX TECHNICAL SERVICES
Accra Office 
Registered Officer : No. 3 St. John Methodist Church Rd.
  Tantra Hill, Accra 
  P.O. Box  GP 208
  Accra
Tel : (0302) 420050/ 0302 - 410176
Fax : (0302) 420051
E-mails  :  henrytabi@barbexonline.com
  piller@barbexonline.com

Site Office (Tarkwa) : GAG Teberebie Site
Tel : 0544-350616

B5 PLUS
Head Office : Kpone Police Barrier Tema
  Box 853 Kpone
Tel : 0243 549 523
Email :  auditor@b5plus.com 

CARMEUSE LIME PRODUCTS LIMITED
Carmeuse Lime Products (Gh) Ltd.
Sofokrom House 
Registered Officer : P.O. Box 1163
  Takoradi
Tel : (03120) - 92199/ 91145
Fax : (03120) - 46072
Email  :  carmeuse@carmeuseghana.com 

CHAMPION OIL
Adabraka
Registered Officer : Dakwa House, Adabraka
  Box AD 218 
  Adabraka
Tel : 024-4958357
Email :  championoil06@yahoo.com 

CUMMINS GHANA LIMITED
Registered Officer : Former KTS Yard, South Odorkor, Accra 
  Winneba Road
  P. O. Box WJ 773 
  Weija Accra
Tel : (0302) 301 451
Fax : (0302) 301 201
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Emails : frederick.aryeetey@cummins.com 
  ghana.distributor@cummins.com
  Isaac.budu@cummins.com 

DHL GLOBAL FORWARDING  
Registered Officer : 53 Patrice Lumumba Road, 
  Airport Residential Area 
  P.O. Box DTD 36 
  Cantonments, Accra 
Tel :  (0302)–742 444 / 020 222 4047
Fax : (0302)-774798
Email  :  salesdgfghana@dhl.com 

DRA GHANA LTD
Accra
Registered Officer : Box MD 1027
  Madina
  25 Bathur St, 
  East Legon
Tel : (0302) 554223
Email :  augustine.okyere@draglobal.com 

ELECTROFAX ENGINEERING SERVICES
Registered Officer : Comm.25, Block # 55B & 55A Link Str. Tema 
  PO Box 46 
  Tarkwa   
Tel : (03123) 20074  /  20178
Fax : (03120) 28704
Email :  thomasasarebaffour@ymail.com

FLUICONNECTO GHANA
Registered Officer : Community 9 Tema
  Accra
Tel : +233 544 341 789
Email : sales.gh@hyspec.com

GASO PETROLEUM LTD 
Registered Officer : F22/5 Danquah Circle Accra 
  PO Box CT 7697 Cantonments, Accra 
Tel : 0244 343 126
Email : Isaac.asante@gasopetroleumgh.com

GHANA OIL COMPANY LTD
Head Office
Registered Officer : Junction of Kojo Thompson and Adjabeng Roads,
  House No. D659/4
  Accra
  P.O. Box GP 3183
  Accra
Tel : (+233) 30-2688-215 / 0540-127100 / 
  050 162 3383
Email :  info@goil.com.gh 
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GOLDER ASSOCIATES (GH) LIMITED
Registered Officer : 33A Senchi Street
  Airport Res. Area
  P.O. Box Ka16092
  K.I.A. Accra.
Tel : (0302) - 779124
Email :  reginald_hammah@golder.com 
  rhammah@golder.com  

INTERPLAST  LIMITED
Registered Officer : Plot No. 109, Spintex Road
  P.O. Box AD 330
  Adabraka, Accra.
Tel : (0302) - 812799/ (0302) - 819000
Fax : (0302) - 813490
Email :  kumar@interplast.com 
  pipes@interplast.com

INTERTEK MINERALS LTD
Registered Officer : P.O. Box 311 Tarkwa  
Tel : (0312) 320386 / (0312) 320246
Email :  minerals.ghana@intertek.com 

KAL TIRE MINING TIRE GROUP 
Registered Officer : P. O. Box 1152, Takoradi 
Telephone :   (03120) - 24439/ (03120) - 24296
Fax :  (03120)-24313 / (03120)-22007
Email :  john.menya@kaltire.com 

KEK INSURANCE BROKERS
Registered Officer : KEK House, Airport Res. Area, Senchi St.
  P.O. Box AN 6681
  Accra-North
Tel : (0302) - 764023/764390/764210 
Fax : (0302) - 760614
Email :  kek_insurance@ighmail.com
Website :  http/www.ghanaclassifieds.com/kek 

          
KNIGHT PIESOLD CONSULTING
Registered Officer : 20, Second Close, Airport Res. Area, 
  P.O. Box CT4122, Cantonments-Accra
Tel : 0302 783060 / 0302 784288
  0302 783066
Email : accra@knightpiesold.com

KPMG
Registered Officer : 13 Yiyiwa Drive Abelenkpe
  GA 123 6302
  PO Box GP 242 Accra 
Tel : 0302 770454 / 0302 771500
Email : info@kpmg.com.gh
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LIEBHERR MINING GHANA LIMITED
Registered Officer : No. 1A Dr. Amilcar Cabral Close 
  Airport Residential Area, Accra 
  Private Mail Bag
  KIA - Accra
Tel. : (0302) 743 777
Email :  info.1mg@liebherr.com 

LOGISTICS DIRECT LIMITED
Registered Officer : Office 4 16, AFGO Cargo Village KIA
  Private Mail Bag, K. I. A., Accra
Tel : (0302) 770418/770419
Fax : (0302) 762257
Email :  info@logisticsdirect.com.gh 

MANTRAC CO.
Registered Officer : Ring Road West, Accra
  P.O. Box 5207, Accra-North
Tel : (0302)-221980, 225822, 232385
Fax : (0302)-221950
   
MAXAM GHANA LIMITED
Head Office
Registered Officer : House No. 29,  2nd Circular Road
  Cantonments 
  P.O. Box CT 9053 Cantonments, Accra 
Tel : (0302) 797 257

Site Office Location : Former SGMC Tech Office  
  Coronation Hill 
  P.O. Box 88
  Tarkwa
Tel : (03123) - 20536
Fax : (03123) – 20400
Email :  sfrimpong@maxam.net 
 

MESTO OUTOTEC GH. LTD.  
Registered Officer : No. 5 Akosombo Street
  Airport Residential Area  
  P.O. Box CT 5857 Cantonments Accra
Tel : (0302) 77 00 24  / 765 939
Fax : (0302) 77 00 25   
 Email :  mikedjan-sampson@metso.com

MIWATEK GHANA
Abelemkpe 
Registered Officer : Ashikakle st. Abelemkpe
  Box LG395 Legon
Tel :  027790138665
Email :  hermang@miwatek.co.za 



NEXANS KABELMETAL (GH.) Ltd. 
Registered Officer : Heavy Industrial Area, Tema 
  P.O. CO 157 
  Tema, Ghana
Tel : (0303) 304102 / 3  
Fax : 0303) 302 184
Email :  Selasi.kpodo@nexans.com 
 
ORICA GHANA LIMITED 
Registered Officer : No. 83 Osu Badu Street 
  Airport West
  PMB CT 472 
  Cantonments, Accra 
Tel : 0302)-767 728/ 0556 778 134
Email :  Jeffrey.akurang@orica.com 

PANAFRICAN MINING SERVICES  GH. LTD 
Tarkwa Site Office     
Registered Officer : Akyempim Tarkwa Takoradi Road
  P.O. Boxc N61 
  Nsuta Wassaw Tarkwa
Tel :  0302 - 215 840
Email :  m.kudjoe@panafricangroup.com 

PRICEWATERHOUSE COOPERS
Registered Officer : UNA HOUSE, Airport City
  PMB CT42 Cantonments
  Accra Ghana
Tel : (0302) - 761500 / (0302) - 761544
Email :  Kingsley.owusi-ewli@gh.pwc.com
  pwc.ghana@gh.pwc.com 
 

RANA MOTORS & METAL WORKS ENGINEERING CO. LTD. 
Registered Officer : Graphic Road 
  P.O. Box AN 7617 
  Accra North 
Tel : (0302) - 226 839 
Fax : (0302) - 226 793
Email :  vibi_chandra@ranamotors.com 

REROY CABLES LTD. 
Registered Officer : Tema Heavy Industrial Area
  PO Box 8503 Accra North 
Tel : 0201283350 / 0302257587 / 0302 631 338
Email : Corporate.secretary@reroycable.com
  info@reroycable.com
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RIEPCO GHANA LIMITED
Registered Officer : Opposite Cocoa processing, Tema, 
  P.O. Box 985, Tema
Tel : (0303) - 206365 / 206945
Telex :  2355 RIEPCO GH
Fax : (0303)- 207700
Email :  ctdarko@riepco.com 
  ctdarko@yahoo.co.uk 

RIKAIR LIMITED 
Registered Officer : House No. C638/3 
  C5th Crescent Asylum Down
  P.O. Box 58 Trade Fair Centre, Accra 
Tel : (0302) - 231 444 / 0542 770 207
Email :  tina.buahin@rikair.com
  info@rikair.com;  

SAHARA NATURAL RESOURCES LTD. 
Registered Officer : 27 Julius Nyerere Road, North North 
  PO Box AB 64, Abeka Accra 
Tel : 0244 380 007
Email : munks@saharanr.com

SANDVIK MINING & CONSTRUCTION GHANA LIMITED
Registered Officer : Opposite Mary Mother of Good Council school
  Hse No. C556/14 RMS Street, Airport, Accra 
Digital Address : GA-154-6433
Tel : (0302) - 761042/765802 
Fax : (0302) - 765804
Email :  nuhu.salifu@sandvik.com
  Samuel.brewu@sandvik.com  
 
SECOROC GHANA LIMITED
Obuasi Office
Registered Officer : Block 13
  Plot No.s 10A/11A/12A/13A
  Gausu, Obuasi
  P. O. Box 10071 
Tel : (0322) 540369 

Site Office (Obuasi) : P. O. Box 119
  Obuasi
Tel : (03220)- 40297/  0208712330
Fax :  (03220) 40385

SERVACO PPS  
Registered Officer : PO Box CO 1384, Community 4 Tema
Tel : (303) 207 709 / (303) 207 710 
Email : sattram@servaco.com.gh  
  sales@servaco.com.gh    
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SGS LABORATORY
Registered Officer : Cocoshe Building Block B, 4th Floor, 
  Street No. B24A
  Agostinho Neto Close, Airport Residential Area 
  P. O. Box 732
  Accra - Ghana
Tel :  (0302) - 773994, 774535
Fax : (0302) - 764714
Email :  david.wilson@sgs.com   

SMT GHANA
Accra
Registered Officer : Volvo House 90/91, Fadama Street
  South Industrial Area PO Box KIA 9228 Accra
Telephone :  +233 30 268 33 51
Email :  info.ghana@smt.network

Tarkwa : Tamso Sector 7 Teberebie Junction
  PO Box 417 Tarkwa
Tel :  +233 31 232 1604
Email :  info.tarkwa@smt.network

SOLAR NITRO GHANA LIMITED
Accra
Registered Officer : Airport Residential Area
  Accra, Ghana
Telephone :  +233 249 657 402

STELLAR LOGISTICS GHANA LIMITED
Head Office
Registered Officer : Behind Weatherford, 
  1 Cape Coast  Rd, Takoradi 
  P.O. Box TD 200 Takoradi
Tel : (03120) 22239 / (03120) 222 37
Email  :  ajara.sanule@stellar-africa.com 

Accra Office : Grand Oyeeman Building, 
  Airport Residential Area, Accra 
  PMB CT 201
  Cantonments
Tel : 0540 120013
Email  :  millicent.tutu@stellar-africa.com

Tema Office : Hull Blyth Buidling Gateway House, Community 1 
Tel : 0544 315 302
Email  :  Peter.Taylor@stellar-africa.com 
 
SUPERMARITIME GHANA LIMITED
Registered Officer : Industrial Area, Community 1, Tema
  P.O. Box 151
  New Town, Tema.
Tel : (0303) - 202874/ 202036
Fax : (0303) - 206777
Email :  krale@supermaritime.net 
    170
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TOTAL PETROLEUM GHANA LTD. 
Registered Officer : Total House, 25 Liberia House, Accra 
  P.O. Box GP 553 
  Accra 
Tel : (0302) 664921 - 4 / (0302) 664925
Email  :  paawesi.ackon@total-ghana.com 
  Sunil.gandhi@total-ghana.com 
  totalgh.inquiry@totalmkt-gh.com 

VEHRAD TRANSPORT & HAULAGE
Registered Officer : Plot 6A 16/17 Heavy Ind. Area, Tema 
  P.O. Box GP 2683 Accra 
Tel : (0302) - 202369, 205521/ (0302) - 205524
Email :  vehrad@africaonline.com.gh 

VEOLIA GHANA LIMITED 
Registered Officer : Capital Place, 11 Patrice Lumumba Rd
  Airport Residential Area, Accra 
  P.O. Box KN 1367 
  Kaneshie Accra 
Tel : 054 0121 674 / 024 4511492 
Email :  fred.anane@veolia.com 

VIVO ENERGY 
Registered Officer : Shell House, High Street, Accra
  P.O. Box 1097
  Accra
Tel : (0302)- 428282 / (0302) - 662087
Email  :  kobina.budu@vivoengery.com 

WAYOE ENGINEERING & CONSTRUCTION LTD. 
Registered Officer : Plot B.997/11/1 Takoradi Apona Ahanta Highway
  PO Box MC 2861
Tel : 0544 355 774
Email : info@wayoeltd.com
  stephen@wayoeltd.com  

WEIR MINERALS WEST AFRICA
Tema
Registered Officer : Plot # Industrial 9/1A
  Akasanoma Road, Industrial Area Tema
  PO Box CT 3170 Cantonments
Tel : 030-964501/0303965652
Email :  andrew.ayirebi@mail.weir 

WEST AFRICAN FORGINGS LTD. 
Registered Officer : Heavy Industrial Area A/44/1, 
  Steel Work Road (next to Tema Steel.)
  P.O. Box 320, Tema
Tel : (0303) -302011/302386/ 0243 486 570
  (0303)-304908
Email :  himesh.wafor@gmail.com 
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ZEN PETROLEUM 
Registered Officer : 13 Patrice Lumumba Rd, 
  Airport Residential Area, Accra 
  P.O. Box CT 3692 Cantonments  Accra
Tel : (0302) 216 660 
Email  :  info@zenpetroleum.com  

ENERGY FOUNDATION 
Registered Office : No.5, East Legon, Accra 
  P.O. Box CT 1671 
  Cantonments Accra
Tel : (0303) - 938 222, 937 247
Fax : 0302- 515 613
Email :  info@ghanaef.org 

GHANA ATOMIC ENERGY COMMISSION
Kwabenya, Accra
Registered Office : P.O. Box LG 80, Legon, Accra
Tel : (0302)-400310/400549
Fax : (0302)-400807
Email :  akahoed@yahoo.com

GHANA GEOLOGICAL SURVEY AUTHORITY
Registered Office : No.12, 7th Ave, adj. to Ecobank (GH)  
  P.O. Box M.80, Accra. 
Tel : (0302) - 679239, 679237
Fax : (0302)- 679238
Email :  ghgeosur@ghana.com 

GHANA INTEGRATED ALUMINIUM DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION
Accra
Registered Office : G 077 06981
  3rd Floor, Africa Trade House.
  Liberia Road, West Ridge
Tel : (0302) 943448

METAL DESIGN PROGRAMME (KNUST)
Registered Office : KNUST, Kumasi
  Department of Industrial Ark
  College of Art and Built Environment
  KNUST, Kumasi

ASSOCIATE MEMBER INSTITUTIONS
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MINERALS COMMISSION
Registered Office : No.9 Switchback Rd. Cantonments
  P.O. Box M.248
  Accra.
Tel : (0302) - 772783, 772786,773053  
Fax : (0302) - 773324
Email :  mincom@mc.ghanamining.org

PRECIOUS MINERALS MARKETING COMPANY

Registered Office : Diamond House
  Accra Central,
  Diamond House,
  Kinbu Road.
Tel : +233 20 981 4844
  enquiries@pmmc.gov.gh
  Digital Address: GA-143-2548

UNIVERSITY OF MINES & TECHNOLOGY, TARKWA  
Tarkwa
Registered Office : P.O. Box 237, Tarkwa
Tel : (03123) 20492, 20324, 20280
Tel (Residence) :  (03123) 20309, 20324, 20280
Fax : (03123) 20306                                                   

THE WEST AFRICAN INSTITUTE OF MINING, METALLURGY & PETROLEUM (WAIMM)
Registered Office : GS-0135-8077, Sampa Valley, Weija Accra 
  PO Box WJ899, Weija Accra 
Tel : 0302 919575/ 0507242841
  lawrenceomensah@waimm.org

WOMEN IN MINING
Registered Office : #9 Sir Arku Korsah Road, 
  Airport Residential Area
  P.O. Box AN 6398
  Accra North
Tel : (0302) -939-551
Email :  georgette@georgettebarnes.com 
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